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Combining our strengths.  
ACCelerAting our growth.

$16 Billion in SaleS* $5.4 Billion in SaleS*                         

74,000 employeeS WorldWide 29,000 employeeS WorldWide          

150+ CountrieS 100+ CountrieS         

1911 year Founded 1833 year Founded           

8,794 patentS 2,075 patentS          
*2011 net sales

Eaton is a diversified power management company providing 
energy-efficient solutions that help our customers effectively  
manage electrical, hydraulic and mechanical power. With 2012 
sales of $16.3 billion, Eaton is a global technology leader in electrical 
products, systems and services for power quality, distribution and 
control, power transmission, lighting and wiring products; hydraulics 
components, systems and services for industrial and mobile  
equipment; aerospace fuel, hydraulics and pneumatic systems for  
commercial and military use; and truck and automotive drivetrain 
and powertrain systems for performance, fuel economy and safety. 
Eaton acquired Cooper Industries plc in 2012. Eaton has approxi-
mately 103,000 employees and sells products to customers in more 
than 175 countries. For more information, visit www.eaton.com. 



Eaton coopEr
Eaton’s electrical business has long been a pioneer in power 
management with a focus on power distribution for utilities, 
residential and non-residential construction; power quality for 
data centers and IT markets; and electrical control for machine 
builders and the factory floor. Our service business delivers  
energy-efficient solutions to a wide range of energy users.

With the acquisition of Cooper, the largest 
in our 101 year history, we are beginning  
a new era of accelerated growth and 
change at Eaton. This is a transformative 
step. By bringing together two exceptional 
companies, both with extraordinary talent, 
we are creating a power management 
powerhouse and are positioning ourselves 
for even greater success today and well 
into the future.

TogeTher,  
More Powerful

For 180 years, Cooper has been a leader in providing world-
class electrical and safety products for industrial, utility,  
commercial and residential markets. Its systems engineering 
division helped pioneer major breakthroughs in electrical  
distribution and safety.

+
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  2012  2011 2012 2011

(In millions except for per share data)

Net sales $ 16,311 $ 16,049 $ 16,311 $ 16,049
Income before income taxes  1,251  1,553  1,473   1,567
 Net income $ 1,220   $ 1,352       $ 1,387 $ 1,362 
Less net income for noncontrolling interests  (3)   (2)  (3)   (2)

 Net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders $ 1,217 $ 1,350   $ 1,384 $ 1,360

 
Net income per ordinary share – diluted $ 3.46  $ 3.93  $ 3.94  $ 3.96 

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding – diluted  350.9   342.8
Cash dividends declared per ordinary share $ 1.52 $ 1.36

Total assets $ 35,848 $ 17,873
Total debt  10,833   3,773
Eaton shareholders’ equity  15,086   7,469

*Results on an “operating basis” exclude pretax charges for acquisition integration charges and transaction costs of $222 in 2012 ($167 after-tax, or $0.48 per ordinary share) and $14 in 2011  
($10 after-tax, or $0.03 per ordinary share).

 AS ADJUSTED  
 ON AN OPERATING BASIS*
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The above graph compares the cumulative total return to shareholders for Eaton and the S&P 500 Index on an initial $100 investment over the time period 2000 through 2012. The shareholder 
returns reflected on the graph assume dividends were reinvested as of the ex-dividend date.
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To Our Shareholders:

Just two years ago, we celebrated our 100th anniversary, paying 
tribute to generations of employees whose relentless ingenuity 
and passionate spirit have made Eaton one of the world’s 
leading power management companies. Over that proud history, 
we demonstrated time and again that the only way to succeed 
is to maintain a bold course regardless of economic conditions, 
and to continuously transform our business to adapt to changing 
markets and customer needs. 

During 2012, we sustained that strategy by acquiring Cooper 
Industries plc, a company with a heritage that is as rich as our 
own—and a history of accomplishments that dates back even 
further. The $13 billion acquisition—the largest we’ve ever 
accomplished—is a transformational milestone that expands 
the electrical solutions we can offer to customers, strengthens 
our capabilities in growing market segments (including oil and 
gas, mining, data centers and utilities) and increases our 
presence in key geographic regions. 

I’m pleased to welcome Cooper’s shareholders and employees 
with this letter, and we’ve dedicated this year’s annual report  
to exploring the myriad opportunities that our combined 
businesses have already begun to pursue. Together, we truly  
do make a “powerful combination”—a combination that I’m 
confident will continue to transform our business in many ways 
for years to come. 

Delivering strong returns in a soft economy 
While 2012 began with great promise, global economies 
sputtered during the second half of the year, deflating many of 
our end markets. In fact, our end markets shrank by 5 percent 
during the fourth quarter—more than twice the decline we 
expected. Despite this weakness, we continued to post solid 
financial results and deliver strong returns to Eaton’s shareholders. 
Among the year’s financial and operating highlights (including 
one month of results from the Cooper acquisition, which we 
closed on November 30):

• We posted record sales of $16.3 billion, up 2 percent  
from 2011.

• Net income per share fell 12 percent to $3.46, due in large  
part to acquisition, integration and restructuring costs 
incurred during the year. 

•  We generated $1.7 billion in cash from operations and 
increased our dividend by 12 percent. 

• We contributed $413 million to our pension plans, strengthen-
ing our balance sheet.

•  We completed five acquisitions: three new electrical busi-
nesses (Cooper, Rolec Comercial e Industrial S.A. and 
Gycom’s low-voltage power distribution business) and two 
new hydraulics businesses (Polimer Kauçuk Sanayi ve Pazar-
lama A.Ş., which manufactures hoses under the SEL brand, 
and Jeil Hydraulics Co. Ltd.). 

a TransforMaTional
Year

In times of economic uncertainty 
around the world, many people 
and organizations begin to hesitate 
and make themselves victims of 
forces they consider beyond  
their control. At Eaton, we have 
chosen instead to move forward 
with confidence and purpose— 
and to create our own growth.
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•  We strengthened our commitment to sustainability leadership 
by reducing our greenhouse gas emissions, waste to landfill 
and water consumption, while expanding our efforts to build 
better, safer and stronger workplaces and communities. 

•  We launched a global “Zero Incident Safety Culture” to further 
engage our employees and to strengthen our safety process, 
reducing our number of severe injuries by 17 percent from the 
previous year.

•  Ninety-six percent of our workforce participated in our global 
employee survey, demonstrating continued strong employee 
engagement.

Our stock attained new record highs during 2012. For the  
year, the value of Eaton shares (including quarterly dividends) 
increased by 29 percent compared to gains of 10 percent for the 
Dow Jones industrial average, 16 percent for the S&P 500 and  
17 percent for the Nasdaq composite index. Since 2000, Eaton 
stock has delivered a strong 14 percent compounded annual 
total shareholder return.

As part of our acquisition of Cooper, we reincorporated our 
company in Ireland. Eaton continues to trade on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “ETN.”

Maintaining a balanced business strategy
Eaton is a significantly larger—and far different—company 
today than we were only 12 years ago, driven by the strong 
growth of our electrical, hydraulics and aerospace businesses 
(see pie charts on page 4). Since 2000, revenues from these 
businesses have nearly tripled, while revenues from our vehicle 
businesses are up just under 10 percent.

Our acquisition of Cooper accelerates that evolution, establish-
ing Eaton as one of the world’s largest electrical companies. 
Renowned Cooper franchises such as Crouse-Hinds and  

Bussmann fortify our expertise and expand our powerhouse  
portfolio of electrical product lines that now includes  
Cutler-Hammer, Holec, Powerware, Moeller, Phoenixtec, 
McGraw-Edison, Kyle, Halo and many more.

As a result, we believe we’ve never been better positioned to 
focus our efforts on attractive growth opportunities while 
maintaining a strategically diversified mix of businesses. Going 
forward, we estimate: 

•  Our electrical business will generate approximately 60 percent 
of our annual sales, compared to only 29 percent in 2000.

•  More than 80 percent of our annual sales will be generated  
by our combined electrical, hydraulics and aerospace 
businesses with the balance of our sales generated by  
our vehicle business. 

•  Half of our revenues will be generated outside of the U.S.—
compared to only 20 percent in 2000. (This projection is 
slightly lower than our 2011 and 2012 results because more  
of Cooper’s sales are currently U.S.-based.) 

This diversification of our businesses—both across geographies 
and business cycles—continues to help us balance the 
variability and volatility that is inherent in managing a global 
industrial company. During 2012, for example, strong 
commercial and residential sales in the Americas enabled our 
electrical business to achieve record revenues and profits, 
despite weakness in European and Asia Pacific markets. 
Modest growth in our hydraulics and aerospace businesses 
helped offset declines in automotive and truck. (Read more in 
our operating highlights on page 6.) 

To reflect the evolution of our company, we will begin reporting 
our financial results in 2013 using the following five business 
segments: electrical products, electrical systems and services, 
hydraulics, aerospace and vehicle.

Eaton is a significantly larger— 
and far different—company today 
than we were only 12 years ago, 
driven by the strong growth of our 
electrical, hydraulics and aerospace 
businesses and our rapid expansion 
around the world.

Together, these 
businesses will 
now generate 
more than 80  
percent of our 
revenues.
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oPeraTing highlighTs
2012

ELECTRICAL
Including one month of revenues 
from our acquisition of Cooper 
Industries, sales of our global 
electrical business grew by 8 
percent in 2012 to $7.7 billion, a 
new record. Profits topped $1.1 
billion, also a record. Sales and 
profits in the Americas achieved 
all-time highs with both the power 
distribution and power quality 
businesses showing equal 
strength at year-end. Electrical 
sales declined in the rest of the 
world but improved significantly 
during the second half of the year, 
in spite of continued weakness  
in European and Asia Pacific 
markets. Our new line of highly 

efficient mid-range uninterruptible 
power systems and our Power 
Xpert UX family of medium-
voltage switchgear are just two 
examples of how we continued to 
expand our industry leadership. 
Our acquisition of Rolec Comercial 
e Industrial S.A. strengthens our 
capabilities in the mining sector 
and adds to our local presence in 
Chile and Peru. Our acquisition of 
Cooper was the capstone to an 
outstanding year.

Integrated solutions for large-
scale projects—such as a $27 
million contract to provide 
turnkey equipment design, 
electrical assemblies and 
engineering services for the 
Panama Canal expansion 

program—helped drive our 
growth during 2012. We also 
experienced strong demand for 
sustainable building solutions, 
including a $10 million contract to 
increase the energy efficiency of 
15 Veterans Health Administration 
medical centers. Innovations  
in lean automation technology, 
combined with expanded 
distribution, boosted sales to 
global machine manufacturers. 
We expect that our acquisition  
of Cooper—with its exceptional 
strength in commercial, 
residential, industrial and utility 
end markets—will expand these 
and other growth opportunities in 
2013 and beyond. (Read more on 
pages 8 through 15.)

HYDRAULICS
Our hydraulics business grew 
again in 2012, although slower 
than in recent years due to 
reduced infrastructure and 
construction spending. For the 
year, sales totaled $3.0 billion,  
up 4 percent compared to 2011. 
These results include two key 
acquisitions—Polimer Kauçuk (SEL), 
strengthening our industrial  

and specialty hose portfolio, and 
Korea’s Jeil Hydraulics, creating 
new opportunities in the 
construction equipment market. 
Sales to Africa, Eastern Europe 
and Russia were strong and we 
continued to expand our 
business in agriculture, mining 
and energy markets, including 
Brazil’s oil and gas industry.  
New contracts in China included 
Guizhou Aviation Industry  

Group (cotton harvesting 
equipment), XCMG Group 
(construction machinery) and 
Wanda Group (entertainment). 
Sales of filtration products  
to the food and beverage  
market grew by double digits 
during the year; we also made 
gains in marine, pharmaceutical,  
blood fractionation and  
refinery markets.

AEROSPACE
We continued to expand our 
sales of safe, reliable and 
efficient power management 
solutions to global aerospace 
customers in 2012, with 
revenues growing by 4 percent 
during the year. New wins will 
secure future growth fueled  

by contracts with Boeing (major 
components and subsystems  
for the KC-46 tanker), COMAC 
(cargo-door actuation system for 
the C919 passenger aircraft),  
GE Aviation (debris monitoring 
components for the LEAP-X 
engine) and Embraer (hydraulic 
components and fuel-tank 
inerting for the KC-390 military 
transport aircraft). During 2012, 
we celebrated our 50th year of 

supporting NASA missions, 
including supplying high-
pressure seals for the Curiosity 
rover, which landed on Mars  
in August.

VEHICLE
Sales for our truck business 
declined 13 percent during 2012  
to $2.3 billion. However, we 
maintained strong margins— 
18.2 percent—as a result of 
reduced warranty claims, 
aggressive spending controls  
and lower commodity costs. 
Commercial vehicle buyers 
continue to drive demand for  

our fuel-efficient UltraShift PLUS 
automated transmissions, 
including new contracts in South 
America, South Africa, China and 
Brazil. Our automotive business 
posted sales of $1.6 billion, an 8 
percent decline compared to the 
previous year. Net of foreign 
exchange and divestitures, results 
were flat. European markets, 
which slumped to levels close  
to the lows of the last decade,  

erased gains in other parts of the 
world. Demand remains strong  
for Eaton technologies that boost  
fuel economy, including our 
superchargers (currently available 
or in development on about 75 
vehicles), variable-valve lifts, 
hollow valves and cylinder-
deactivation technology. We also 
won our first ELocker locking 
differential contract in Russia.
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delivering faster than expected efficiencies in our supply chain 
and selling, general and administrative expenses. We’re also 
ahead of plan in terms of our cash flow generation and ability to 
repay debt. As a result, we believe the Cooper acquisition will 
be accretive to earnings in 2013, a full year ahead of our original 
projections. During our fourth quarter conference call, we 
issued guidance of $4.05 to $4.45 operating earnings per share 
for 2013, which would establish a new record for our company 
even in this challenging environment.

I want to salute our associates’ commitment to never standing 
still, even in the face of uncertainty. Their courage to continue to 
innovate, to adopt and explore new concepts, and to serve our 
customers in new ways is truly admirable. Not hesitating, 
always moving forward—their accomplishments each and 
every day are truly impressive. I have seen the same coura-
geous commitment from the talented leaders and associates of 
Cooper Industries, creating a dynamic environment for growth.

While strong, our team’s collective pride in our enterprise is  
tempered by our recognition that we have so much more to 
improve and accomplish. Eaton’s transformation will continue, 
fueled by our values-based culture and our customers’ growing 
demand for safe, reliable, efficient and sustainable power  
management solutions. We live our values every day and are 
prepared to once again make this annual pledge to our  
shareholders: We are committed to Doing Business Right!

On behalf of our entire Eaton team, thank you for your  
continued support.

Creating our own growth in an uncertain environment 
Global economies decelerated as we progressed through 2012, 
leading to another year of sub-par growth. We don’t expect that 
environment to change dramatically in 2013 as the Eurozone 
struggles with challenging fiscal and monetary decisions, the 
U.S. remains captive to the pressures of fiscal imbalance, and 
emerging nations—once the source of strong growth—
continue their slow rebound.

As a result, our economic outlook for 2013 feels much like it did a 
year ago when I wrote in this same letter: “Faced with sub-
trend global economic growth, companies must create their 
own growth.” I’m confident that the actions our team took in 
2012 have already put us solidly on that course:

•  We believe our acquisition of Cooper will add approximately 
$5.8  billion to our 2013 revenues. By 2016, we believe  
the Cooper acquisition will create $405 million in annual  
pre-tax operational synergies and an additional $160 million  
in annual after-tax synergies from cash management and 
resultant tax benefits.

•  Our acquisitions of Rolec, Gycom, Polimer Kauçuk (SEL) and 
Jeil will add another $200 million to our 2013 revenues and 
create new opportunities for us in attractive markets.

•  We have continued our aggressive investments in new 
products and technologies, and the steady stream of new 
products and services emanating from these investments 
continues to drive premium growth opportunities.

•  To respond to continuing soft market conditions, particularly 
in Europe, we restructured, consolidated or closed several of 
our manufacturing facilities, reducing future costs.

While the Cooper acquisition will demand significant manage-
ment and financial resources for the next several years, I’m 
pleased to report that our integration plan is ahead of schedule, 

Alexander M. Cutler 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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2012 global cycle
(pro forma)
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In late October 2012, Hurricane Sandy pounded the east coast  
of the United States, knocking out power to more than 8 million 
homes and businesses—many for days, some much longer. 
The massive disruption supported what experts have 
contended for years: Aging electrical infrastructure in the U.S. 
and other developed nations is sagging under the demands of 
modern society.  

Halfway across the globe—in developing economies like China, 
India and Africa—growing middle-class populations are buying 
computers, household appliances and more, further pressuring 
global energy supplies. The International Energy Agency has 
estimated that global demand for electricity could rise by 70 
percent between 2010 and 2035, driven largely by these fast-
growing regions. The world needs to invest to advance.

solutions for an energy-strained world
At Eaton, we view these events as part of a much larger power 
management challenge: controlling the rising costs and 
addressing the environmental impact of the world’s growing 
energy use. As we address this multibillion-dollar megatrend 
across our company, we expect to capitalize on opportunities for 
the combined Eaton and Cooper electrical business to help our 
customers achieve: 

Improved efficiency. Eaton’s electrical solutions help 
businesses and consumers reduce their electrical use, cut their 
utility bills and ease the strain on overstressed power systems 
and energy resources. 

Increased reliability. In the face of growing electrical outages 
and disruptions, Eaton power systems and services help 
maintain vital operations with steady, high-quality power every 
minute of every day. 

Enhanced safety. As power needs have increased, so have the 
demands for power safety. Eaton reduces electrical hazards 
with products and alert systems that help customers recognize 
and avoid danger. 

Greater sustainability. We help to make solar, wind and 
hydroelectric power more affordable, accessible and efficient. 
We’re also at the forefront of developing safe and reliable 
infrastructure for charging electric vehicles.

a long-term challenge—an even greater opportunity
Through our acquisition of Cooper, we have expanded our 
capabilities across all of these fronts, enabling us to become an 
even more vital resource for our customers. 

The complementary nature of the two businesses coming 
together fit well with Eaton’s short-term and long-term plans for 
profitable growth, while delivering the greatest value to our 
customers and the world.

We are better positioned to address global needs for managing 
energy consumption, modernizing grid infrastructure and 
protecting people, equipment and data. We believe this demand 
will continue to grow as the world copes with the rising cost of 
and demand for energy.

TaPPing
oPPorTuniTies aCross 
MarkeT segMenTs 
Eaton’s global electrical business 
is broad and balanced across 
diverse market segments: 

 Residential: We provide 
product and service solutions for 
new residential construction for 
single-family and multi-family 
homes as well as upgrades and 
replacements for existing homes.

 Commercial: Our compre-
hensive solutions for the 
commercial market help power 
buildings more safely, efficiently 
and reliably. We also provide 
engineering services that support 
every stage of a project—from 
design to post-installation support.  

 Industrial: We deliver turnkey 
power system solutions for large 
industrial customers, helping them 
improve facility productivity and 
safety and reduce operating costs. 

 Utility: We’re an industry  
leader in providing generation 
and distribution solutions for the 
utility segment.

 Machinery: We enable machine 
builders to increase their machine 
throughput and functionality  
with our control, logic, sensing 
and interfacing technologies,  
as well as our electro-hydraulic 
solutions.  

  Data Centers: Our solutions 
reduce the energy consumption of 
power-hungry data centers and 
deliver clean, safe and reliable 
power to critical applications, 
enabling customers to operate 
without interruption. 

a MegaTrenD
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Through our acquisition of Cooper, we’ve significantly expanded 
our capabilities with little overlap or duplication; the solutions 
we provide are complementary and adjacent to one another. 
Historically, Eaton’s core business focused primarily on 
facilities’ power distribution and power quality—moving power 
into and throughout the places where we live and work. Cooper’s 
product portfolio allows us to move upstream into utility 
distribution, grid automation and smart grid systems and 
downstream into lighting, lighting controls and wiring devices.

enormous integration potential  
This “perfect fit” between our two companies means that we 
can now offer customers far more comprehensive and 
integrated solutions to their power management challenges—
from the point of generation to the point of consumption. It also 
substantially increases the size of our electrical business—total 
sales in 2012 of Eaton’s electrical business and Cooper topped 
$13 billion— giving us the scale to deliver those solutions to 
more markets and geographies. 

Our businesses complement each other strategically and 
organizationally, too:

• We’re focused on many of the same key markets, including 
the oil and gas industry, mining, data centers, energy effi-
ciency and alternative energy.  

• We have leading solutions in the markets we serve, and 
we’re both growing strongly—organically and through 
acquisition.

• We have complementary histories, cultures and principles, 
including an unwavering commitment to ethics, business 
integrity and solving our customers’ problems.

Merging our talents to fuel innovation 
Both of our companies have strong research and development 
teams and histories of innovation, creating a portfolio of 
patented technologies that give us an edge in competitive 
markets. Among the many recognitions we’ve earned: 
Thomson Reuters named Eaton to its Top 100 Innovators List for 
the second consecutive year in 2012; The Patent Board named 
Cooper the No. 1 innovator in the industrial components and 
fixtures category just one year prior. 

By combining our talents, we plan to develop new solutions  
for our customers, including expanding our portfolio of smart 
grid products and technologies—a market that the Electric 
Power Research Institute estimates will average $17 billion to 
$24 billion annually in the U.S. alone for the next 20 years.

exPanDing
Through our acquisition of Cooper, 
we can now offer comprehensive 
solutions to customers across the 
power distribution chain: 

uPsTreaM 
  Utility Power Distribution: 

Comprehensive solutions that 
bring efficiencies and reliability to 
the electrical distribution system; 
automate the electrical grid and 
drive smart grid development; 
help utilities plan, construct, 
protect and automate substation 
projects; and automate, protect 
and optimize electrical trans-
mission systems.

MiDsTreaM
  Facilities Power Distribution 

and Power Quality: Industry-
leading products and services  
for distributing power to homes, 
businesses and industries. 
Includes integrated power 
assemblies, low- and medium-
voltage switchgear, motor control 
centers, transformers, grid-tie 
inverters, automatic transfer 
switches, rectifiers, battery 
chargers, protective relays and 
more. Plus, power quality and 
monitoring solutions, uninter-
ruptible power systems, surge 
protection, circuit protection and 
arc-flash reduction systems.

DownsTreaM 

 Lighting Control and Load 
Management: Wiring devices  
and lighting, LED and controls 
solutions that help customers 
improve energy efficiency, reduce 
costs and enrich the quality of the 
environment. Leading customer-
managed load management 
solutions, including demand 
response systems that help 
decrease both electricity con-
sumption and greenhouse  
gas emissions.

uP anD DownsTreaM
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Increasingly, customers seek integrated solutions to their power 
management challenges rather than individual products or 
services. That’s particularly true of large, multinational companies 
and massive, complex projects. Through our acquisition of 
Cooper, we’ll be able to participate in greater numbers of these 
projects—multiplying our opportunities for growth.   

end-to-end solutions for global customers
The illustration at right provides a vivid example of the end-
market synergies generated by combining our companies. 
While both Eaton and Cooper have had strong sales in the oil 
and gas industry, we provide different products and expertise. 
Cooper provides many infrastructure and safety products to 
leading energy companies, whereas Eaton’s historical strength 
has been in power distribution, control, power quality and 
engineering services.

Customers can now turn to one supplier for these solutions, 
accelerating the design, engineering and construction process. 
In the Middle East, for example, we’re combining our capabilities 
to help build one of the largest integrated chemical complexes 
in the world for a global joint venture.

We see similar opportunities in other high-growth markets.  
For example, Cooper’s historical strength in delivering power 
distribution solutions to electrical utilities opens new doors for 
marketing Eaton switchgear and other products. Eaton’s 
leadership in providing uninterruptible power systems and 
energy-saving solutions for data centers creates new 
opportunities to market Cooper B-Line enclosures, cable 
management and support systems.

expanding engineering services and distribution
Eaton’s engineering and consulting group is one of the world’s 
largest and most experienced teams of power systems 
engineers, dedicated to helping customers at every phase of a 
power system’s life cycle—system design, construction and 
support. We will now be able to offer these services to a 
broader array of customers, helping to build stronger 
relationships and deliver more of the end-to-end solutions that 
companies seek. 

Eaton and Cooper distribution channels—wholesalers, 
distributors and retailers—also are largely complementary and 
provide opportunities to selectively expand distribution, driving 
growth for our partners and us.

Cross-business synergies add to growth potential
Acquiring Cooper will create new opportunities for cross-
business synergies within Eaton, further strengthening our 
capabilities for customers. In the oil and gas industry, for 
example, our hydraulics business provides a broad variety of 
solutions, including drilling, hoisting and material handling 
systems, subsea equipment and filtration products and services. 
Our electrical and hydraulics teams also collaborate on solutions 
for wind, solar and hydropower customers, among others.  

MulTiPlYing
Both Eaton and Cooper have been 
focused on the growing needs of  
the energy industry, including oil 
and gas, mining and alternative 
energy companies. Together, we’re 
able to deliver a broader platform  
of electrical solutions to customers,  
as illustrated by the examples on 
this offshore drill ship. 

eaTon soluTions inCluDe: 

 Low- and medium-voltage 
switchgear that provides cen-
tralized control and protection of 
power equipment and circuits. 
Integrated power assemblies that 
reduce the weight and footprint of 
power systems, speeding system 
installation and startup.

 Arc-resistant motor control 
centers to help prevent injury from 
electric shock, arc flash burn and 
arc blast impact.   

 Uninterruptible power systems 
that keep GPS, lighting and other 
vital systems up and running on  
idle vessels. 

 Drilling and material handling 
systems that enhance equipment 
performance, reliability and safety.

 Comprehensive engineering 
services, including systems 
analysis and design, equipment 
installation and post-installation 
maintenance and support.

CooPer soluTions inCluDe: 
 Explosion-proof enclosures 

designed to protect personnel and 
equipment. Structural supports 
designed to withstand the harshest 
conditions. Cable management 
systems and other critical 
mechanical systems that protect 
valuable equipment and data.

 Hazardous lighting designed to 
meet both National Electrical Code 
and International Electrotechnical 
Commission standards and 
improve safety in both hazardous 
and non-hazardous areas. 

 Life safety and integrated 
communications systems that 
help save lives, mitigate casualties 
and minimize chaos in the event  
of an emergency.

our oPPorTuniTies
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For more than a decade, we have focused on building the 
breadth and depth of our electrical business. We’ve achieved 
this through a combination of organic growth and strategic 
acquisitions and divestitures, each expanding our portfolio of 
solutions and geographic reach. The long-term plan has included 
the purchase of 32 electrical businesses since 2000, including 
several pivotal acquisitions (see examples at left). 

By acquiring Cooper, we build on both companies’ successes by 
substantially growing our global scale, reach and the range of 
electrical products and services we can offer to customers. This 
includes combining our strengths to expand our opportunities in 
the Middle East, China, South Korea and Australia. 

getting the best from both businesses 
Eaton’s track record for successful acquisitions starts by 
selecting the right companies that can help us expand our 
portfolio, employ new technologies, enter new markets and 
leverage valuable business models. But our success is based 
equally on our disciplined integration process, which has been 
continuously refined with each acquisition we’ve made. 

Our integration of Cooper will follow the same blueprint. Using 
the Eaton Business System as its foundation, a team from Cooper 
and Eaton is developing and executing our integration plan, 
bringing together best practices from both organizations. While 
our acquisition of Cooper delivers many immediate benefits, we 
anticipate that fully integrating our two companies will require 
two to three years, depending on business conditions.

rolec expands our potential in south america
During 2012, we also acquired Rolec Comercial e Industrial S.A., 
headquartered in Santiago, Chile. Rolec provides engineering 
services and manufactures integrated power assemblies and 
low- and medium-voltage switchgear used in mining, pulp and 
paper, energy infrastructure and other heavy industry appli-
cations in Chile and Peru. The acquisition, while significantly 
smaller than Cooper in size, offers many of the same strategic 
benefits, including expansion into target markets and 
geographies. Rolec also creates new opportunities to market 
Eaton and Cooper products in the region.    

keY eleCTriCal aCquisiTions 
over The PasT DeCaDe 

 (2003) Electrical division of 
Delta plc: London, England. 
Included acquisition of leading 
brand names such as Holec, Elek 
and MEM, and expanded our 
distribution of low- and medium-
voltage power distribution 
products into key European and 
Asia Pacific markets.  

 (2004) Powerware: Raleigh, 
North Carolina. Added  
uninterruptible power systems 
(UPSs) to our product portfolio  
and increased power quality  
and reliability solutions for 
customers. Established platform 
for our successful data center 
business; expanded distribution 
channels globally. 

 (2007) MGE Office Protection 
Systems: Saint-Ismier, France. 
Added to our portfolio of UPSs, 
expanding our power quality 
solutions. Distribution to more 
than 40 countries; strengthened 
manufacturing presence in China.  

  (2008) Moeller: Bonn, Germany. 
Leading supplier of components 
for commercial and residential 
building applications and 
industrial controls. Provided 
significant sales expansion  
in Western Europe and Asia 
Pacific. Fifteen global production 
facilities, including China.  
Created a product portfolio for 
International Electrotechnical 
Commission markets. 

  (2008) Phoenixtec: Taipei, 
Taiwan. Added to our leadership 
in UPSs. Leading market positions 
in China, Southeast Asia and 
Eastern Europe. Extensive 
engineering expertise and manu-
facturing facilities in Taiwan  
and China.

  (2012) Cooper Industries plc: 
Dublin, Ireland. Largest electrical 
business acquisition, signif-
icantly expanding our portfolio  
of solutions both upstream  
and downstream (see page 11). 
Marketed in more than  
100 countries.  

exTenDing
our reaCh
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sTrengThening
our CoMMiTMenT

“Can companies both do well and  
do good?” We’ve been answering  
that question “yes” for years; even 
publishing our financial and 
sustainability reports side by side. 
We’re pleased that a recent Harvard 
Business Review (HBR) article agreed, 
naming Eaton a “trendsetter” in 
creating shared value. 
Only five percent of the 1,100 companies that HBR analyzed  
for its cover story (“The Best-Performing CEOs in the World,”  
January-February 2013) earned the same top ranking from the 
publication for having “delivered great financial performance 
year over year and performed strongly on social and environ-
mental dimensions.” The authors of the article added: “It’s a 
rare achievement, indeed, but it is possible.”

While it feels great to be recognized, we also acknowledge that 
achieving sustainable growth is a continuous and demanding 
journey, not a destination. During 2012, we continued to make 
progress on that trek, improving our performance across five 
key measures (at right), which we evaluate when grading our 
own report card. Our dedication to delivering results across this 
spectrum of sustainability measures helped us to earn several 
other important distinctions during the year:

• Eaton is ranked among the world’s top sustainability perform-
ers in the Nasdaq OMX CRD Global Sustainability 100 Index. 

• We were one of only 11 companies in the S&P 500 to be  
recognized as a top performer on both the Carbon Disclosure 
Project’s Carbon Disclosure Leadership Index and Carbon 
Performance Leadership Index.

• We were named one of Corporate Responsibility magazine’s 
100 Best Corporate Citizens for the fifth consecutive year, 
moving from No. 33 to No. 17 overall.

• The Ethisphere Institute named us one of the World’s Most 
Ethical Companies for the sixth straight year. Eaton is one of 
only 24 companies that has earned the honor every year 
since the list was established in 2007.

• In China, we were recognized as one of the best corporate 
brands at the 2012 China Finance Summit for our dedicated 
efforts in sustainability and innovation. 

• We were named among India’s Best Companies to Work  
For and one of the Best Employers in Puerto Rico by leading 
organizations.

• GI Jobs named Eaton one of the Top 100 Military Friendly 
Employers in the U.S. and the U.S. National Minority Supplier 
Development Council honored us for our long-term support 
of diverse supplier relationships.

aChieving susTainaBle 
growTh

Through the responsible use of 
resources, we aim to:  

 Increase shareholder value 
through proactive governance 
and by providing safe, reliable, 
efficient and sustainable power 
management for our global 
customers. 

  Improve the natural environ-
ment by reducing the environ-
mental impact of our products 
and operations and the products 
of our customers.   

 Expand transparency  
through reports like this one  
and by sharing our data and  
best practices through 
cooperative efforts such as the 
Carbon Disclosure Project.  

 Foster a thriving workplace  
by protecting the health and 
safety of our employees, building 
teams of diverse talent, and 
inspiring and promoting top 
performers.  

 Build stronger communities  
by investing our time and 
resources in local efforts that 
make everywhere we do business 
a better place to live and work.
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sustainability drives customer and shareholder value  
Sustainability is integral to Eaton’s mission of providing safe, reli-
able and efficient power management solutions for our global 
customers. These technologies improve the energy efficiency 
of buildings, vehicles and machinery; help to conserve natural 
resources; shrink the carbon footprints of our customers; and 
reduce the environmental impact of 
everyday life. Our acquisition of Cooper 
Industries expands our portfolio of 
sustainable solutions with products 
such as LED lighting and smart tech-
nologies behind the smart grid.

Global megatrends—including rising 
energy costs, increased demand for 
natural resources and climate change—
continue to drive demand for our power 
management solutions, contributing to 
our sales growth from $8.3 billion in 
2000 to more than $16 billion in 2012. 
Over the same period, Eaton share-
holders gained more than 400 percent 
on their investments, including stock 
appreciation and dividends.

During 2012, Eaton invested $439 mil-
lion on research and development to 
continue to launch innovative products 
and solutions that help our customers meet their most demand-
ing energy and emission requirements. We estimate that new 
technologies being developed by Eaton have the potential to 
reduce the CO2 emissions of our applications by more than 60 
percent by 2050, helping to combat climate change.

We’ve integrated Design for Environment (DfE) into our design 
process to reduce the environmental impact of our products at 
every stage of their life. During 2012, R&D magazine awarded 
our LifeSense hose, an intelligent hydraulic hose condition 
monitoring system that reduces hose failures and eliminates 
wasteful time-based hose replacements, its prestigious R&D 
100 Award. Eaton’s Hayflow filters, which reduce process 
wastes sent to landfills and incinerators and reduce energy 
used in industrial processes, earned Eaton’s “Green Leaf”  
designation for delivering exceptional, industry-leading envi-
ronmental benefits.

improving environment, health and safety (ehs) performance  
Eaton is committed to being a global leader in protecting the envi-
ronment and safeguarding the health and safety of our employ-
ees. Since publishing our first sustainability report in 2006, we 
have reduced our total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 
259,000 million metric tons per year (nearly 26 percent on an 

absolute basis and 28 percent indexed 
to sales) and reduced our rate of safety 
incidents (Total Recordable Case Rate) 
by nearly 70 percent. Since 2010, we’ve 
reduced our waste generated and water 
consumed, indexed to sales, by 19.0 
percent and 11.6 percent, respectively, 
and are well on our way to achieving our 
2015 landfill reduction goal of 30 percent 
and water consumption goal of 20 per-
cent (both indexed to sales). 

During 2012, we continued to expand 
our efforts to reduce GHG emissions, 
prevent pollution, conserve natural 
resources and protect our workforce 
both through our own operations and 
those of our suppliers. For the year:

• We reduced GHG emissions 2.6  
percent on an absolute basis, exceeding 
our 2 percent goal. Indexed to sales, we 

reduced GHG emissions by 0.5 percent (compared to a 6 per-
cent goal), reflecting flat or lower sales among our higher 
energy-consuming businesses, including truck and automotive.

• Indexed to sales, we reduced our landfilled waste by 7.5  
percent (compared to a 6 percent goal) and reduced water 
consumption by 2.6 percent (compared to a 5 percent goal). 

• We reduced our use of virgin polystyrene product packaging 
material by 24 percent, or nearly 484,000 pounds.

• Our Total Recordable Case Rate remained flat at 0.88. Our 
Days Away Case Rate rose by 3 percent to 0.36. Both mea-
sures fell short of our goals of 0.85 and 0.30, respectively, and 
we’ll continue to expand our safety efforts in the year ahead.

Our goals for 2013 (all indexed to sales): reduce GHG emissions 
by 6 percent, which is equivalent to 3 percent on an absolute 
basis; reduce waste to landfill by 6 percent, which is equivalent 

Cooper significantly  
expands our portfolio of 
sustainable products and 
services, including leD 
lighting for streets and 
other outdoor applications 
that are 30 percent to  
60 percent more energy  
efficient than metal  
halide lighting.
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Co2 generaTion
Indexed to sales, our greenhouse gas (GHG) 
generation decreased by 0.5 percent in 2012 
compared to 2011. On an absolute basis, we 
decreased our GHG generation by 19,000 
metric tons, or 2.6 percent, compared to the 
prior year.

Since 2006, we have reduced the total 
amount of carbon dioxide generated by our 
operations from 1,002,000 metric tons to 
743,000 metric tons, which equals a 25.8 
percent reduction. Indexed to sales, we 
lowered our GHG emissions by 28.0 percent 
over the period, allowing us to achieve our 
Business Roundtable pledge of reducing 
indexed GHG by 18 percent through 2012.

Emission rates are generated using World Resources Institute-recommended CO2 conversion factors, which account for 
variations by region. These conversion factors are based on typical energy generation methods, such as those using fossil 
fuels or other energy sources. When we compare 2012 to 2011, sales from the manufacturing plants that make up Eaton’s 
carbon dioxide profile decreased by 2.1 percent.

CARBON DIOxIDE GENERATED 
Thousand metric tons of CO2 per year

INDExED CARBON DIOxIDE GENERATED 
Metric tons of CO2 per million dollars of sales

   CO2 Indexed Indirect
   CO2 Indexed Direct
   CO2 Indexed Indirect Goal
   CO2 Indexed Direct Goal

   CO2 Indirect
   CO2  Direct
   CO2 Indirect Goal
   CO2 Direct Goal

Energy Consumption Data was compiled from a majority of Eaton’s manufacturing plants worldwide. Of the sites 
reporting, 13 percent were located in Asia Pacific; 32 percent in Europe, the Middle East and Africa; 4 percent in South 
America; and 51 percent in North America. When we compare 2012 to 2011, sales from the manufacturing plants that 
make up Eaton’s energy profile decreased by 2.1 percent.

ENERGY USED 
Million kilowatt-hours

INDExED ENERGY USED 
Kilowatt-hours per $1,000 of sales

   Energy Indirect
   Energy Direct
   Energy Indirect Projection
   Energy Direct Projection

   Energy Indexed Indirect
   Energy Indexed Direct
   Energy Indexed Indirect Projection
   Energy Indexed Direct Projection

1568

2379

811

1525

2255

730

1473

2326

853

1151

1741

590

1265

1862

597

1304

1936

632

1266

1847

581

1218

1777

559

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

118

179

61

112

166

54

106

167

61

108

164

56

104

153

49

93

138

45

93

135

42

87

127

40

82

120

38

77

112

35

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

energY ConsuMPTion
Indexed to sales, our energy use decreased 
by 2.5 percent in 2012 when compared to 
2011. On an absolute basis, our energy 
consumption decreased by 88 million 
kilowatt-hours, or 4.6 percent, compared to 
the prior year. 

Since 2006, we have reduced the total 
energy used by our operations from 2,379 
million kilowatt-hours to 1,847 million 
kilowatt-hours, which equals a 22.4 percent 
reduction. Indexed to sales, we reduced 
usage by 24.6 percent over the period.
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Water Consumption Data was compiled from a majority of Eaton’s manufacturing plants worldwide. Of the sites 
reporting, 16 percent were in Asia Pacific; 30 percent in Europe, the Middle East and Africa; 4 percent in South America; 
and 50 percent in North America. When we compare 2012 to 2011, sales from the manufacturing plants used to create 
Eaton’s waste profile decreased by 2.1 percent.

WATER CONSUMED 
Thousand cubic meters of water

INDExED WATER CONSUMED 
Cubic meters of water per $1,000 of sales

2010

2979

3989

1010

2011

3091

4135

1044

2012

2849

3946

1097

2013  

2792

3867

1075

   Water Purchased
   Water Pumped
   Water Purchased Goal
   Water Pumped Goal

2010

0.23

0.31

0.08

2011

0.21

0.28

0.07

2012

0.20

0.27

0.07

2013

0.18

0.25

0.07

2014

0.17

0.24

0.07

2015

0.17

0.23

0.06

   Water Purchased Indexed to Sales
   Water Withdrawn Indexed to Sales
   Water Purchased Indexed to Sales Goal
   Water Withdrawn Indexed to Sales Goal

waTer ConsuMPTion
Indexed to sales, our water consumption 
decreased by 2.6 percent in 2012 compared to 
2011. On an absolute basis, we decreased our 
water consumption by 4.6 percent compared 
to the prior year. 

Since 2010, we have reduced our water 
consumption from 3,989,000 cubic meters 
to 3,946,000 cubic meters, which equals a 
1.1 percent reduction. Indexed to sales, we 
reduced water usage by 11.6 percent over 
the period, putting us on track to achieve 
our 2015 target of 20 percent reduction 
versus the 2010 baseline.   

susTainaBiliTY sCoreCarD
eaTon

0.26
Goal



2010

2.2

2011

1.9

2012

1.8

2013

1.7

2014

1.6

2015

1.5

1.8
Goal

0.88

ToTal wasTe generaTion
Indexed to sales, our total waste generated 
decreased by 0.1 percent in 2012 compared 
to 2011. On an absolute basis, we decreased 
our generation by 2.2 percent from 175,600 
metric tons in 2011 to 171,700 metric tons in 
2012, a total decrease of 3,900 metric tons.

Since 2010, total waste generated by our 
plants has increased from 159,200 metric 
tons in 2010 to 171,700 metric tons in 2012 
for a total increase of 7.9 percent.  However, 
indexed to sales, we reduced our generation 
by 3.6 percent over the period.

Waste Generation Data was compiled from a majority of Eaton’s manufacturing plants worldwide. Of the sites reporting,  
16 percent were in Asia Pacific; 30 percent in Europe, the Middle East and Africa; 4 percent in South America; and 50 percent 
in North America. When we compare 2012 to 2011, sales from the manufacturing plants used to create Eaton’s waste profile 
decreased by 2.1 percent.

healTh anD safeTY
We continue to focus on our safety 
performance. Our performance showed a 
Total Recordable Case Rate of 0.88 versus  
a goal of 0.85 and a Days Away Case Rate  
of 0.36 versus a goal of 0.30.

During 2012, Eaton launched a global  
“Zero Incident Safety Culture” to help 
eliminate safety incidents at our facilities.

Health and Safety Recordable Cases are work-related injuries or illnesses as defined by the U.S. Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration (OSHA). Days Away Cases are injuries or illnesses involving one or more days away from work as 
defined by OSHA.

Energy, waste, water and safety data are collected and reported using company processes that are designed to produce reliable information. These processes include manual steps that may 
introduce some variations in reported data. Our data were third-party verified by EarthCon Consultants Inc. Verification statements are available on our website at www.eaton.com/sustainability. 

Scorecard percent changes are based on actual values; rounded values are shown in the charts.   

TOTAL WASTE GENERATED 
Thousand metric tons of waste

INDExED TOTAL WASTE GENERATED 
Metric tons of waste per million dollars of sales

   Total Waste

DAYS AWAY CASE  RATE 
Rate per 100 employees

TOTAL RECORDABLE CASE RATE 
Rate per 100 employees

20112010

159

176

2012

172

2010

12.1

2011

11.7

2012

11.7

   Total Waste

2.66

2.00

1.72

1.17
0.96 0.88 0.80

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

   TRCR Actual Rate
   TRCR Goal

1.00

0.84
0.79

0.48
0.44

0.35 0.36

0.28

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

   DACR Actual Rate
   DACR Goal
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lanDfilleD wasTe 
Indexed to sales, our waste to landfill, which 
includes waste incinerated without heat 
recovery, decreased by 7.5 percent in 2012 
compared to 2011. On an absolute basis, we 
decreased our generation by 9.4 percent 
from 28,920 metric tons in 2011 to 26,198 
metric tons in 2012, a total decrease of 2,722 
metric tons.

Since 2010, we have reduced the waste sent 
to landfill by our operations from 28,893 
metric tons to 26,198 metric tons, which 
equals a 9.3 percent reduction. Indexed to 
sales, we lowered landfilled waste by 19.0 
percent over the period, putting us on track 
to achieve our 2015 target of 30 percent 
reduction versus the 2010 baseline. Waste Generation Data reported was compiled from a majority of Eaton’s manufacturing plants worldwide. Of the sites 

reporting, 16 percent were in Asia Pacific; 30 percent in Europe, the Middle East and Africa; 4 percent in South America; and 
50 percent in North America. When we compare 2012 to 2011, sales from the manufacturing plants used to create Eaton’s 
waste profile decreased by 2.1 percent.

WASTE TO LANDFILL 
Thousand metric tons of waste

INDExED WASTE TO LANDFILL 
Metric tons of waste per million dollars of sales

   Waste to Landfill
   Waste to Landfill Goal

2010

29

2011

29

2012

26

2013  

25

   Indexed Waste to Landfill
   Indexed Waste to Landfill Goal



to 3 percent on an absolute basis; and reduce water consumption 
by 5 percent, which is equivalent to 2 percent on an absolute 
basis. We also aim to reduce our Total Recordable Case Rate to 
0.80 and Days Away Case Rate to 0.28. 

Our goals for 2015 (all indexed to sales): reduce GHG emissions 
by 25 percent, reduce waste to  
landfill by 30 percent and reduce 
water consumption by 20 percent. 
(Eaton defines waste to landfill to 
include waste incinerated without 
energy recovery.)  

More than 200 regulatory inspections 
were conducted at our facilities during 
2012. Collectively, our global opera-
tions had two reportable spills of regu-
lated industrial materials above the 
reportable quantity limits and 23 
events that exceeded wastewater per-
mit limits. Through further tightening 
of our controls, we aim to eliminate 
future exceedances. 

During the year, we revised the waste 
generated data we report from total 
waste generated to total waste to land-
fill, which we believe is a truer measure 
of Eaton’s environmental impact. We also have simplified our 
Sustainability Scorecard (pages 19 and 20) to make it easier for 
readers to evaluate our long-term performance and future goals.

EarthCon Consultants Inc., an independent environmental ser-
vices company, examined our data collection and management 
processes and verified these data are both materially correct 
and fairly represented. The approximately 180 global facilities 
that compose our inventory meet the following criteria:

1. Add value to products or hardware including manufacturing, 
assembling, integration and testing.

2. Have more than 50 employees or a high-risk profile (deter-
mined by group or regional EHS teams).

3. Have been affiliated with Eaton for more than three years. 

Our EHS data do not include the operations of Cooper, which we 
acquired in late 2012. We aim to integrate Cooper’s operations 

into our MESH (Management System of Environment, Secu-
rity, Safety and Health) program in 2013 and in our 2014 Sus-
tainability Report, published in 2015. Cooper has a long history 
of environmental, workplace and social responsibility and has 
been recognized by numerous independent organizations  

for its outstanding performance. 
Cooper’s most recent Corporate 
Responsibility Report was published 
in 2010 for the year 2009.

notable 2012 ehs programs and 
success stories  
We strengthened our commitment 
to renewable energy during 2012, 
purchasing 15,000 metric tons of 
Green-e carbon offset credits in  
Germany and North America, which 
we will expand to approximately 
25,000 metric tons in 2013. We also 
commissioned a 288-kW solar power 
system at the new Eaton Center in 
Beachwood, Ohio, and working with 
an energy solutions company com-
missioned new 1.3-megawatt and 
172-kW solar systems at our facilities 

in Moon Township and Beaver, Pennsylvania, respectively.  

Eaton Center, which opened in February 2013, is designed  
to LEED certification standards. The innovative facility  
features many Eaton and Cooper products, as well as a 
novel HVAC system, which will reduce the building’s energy 
use by 40 percent compared to a baseline building that 
meets minimum code. 

We had two additional facilities achieve “zero waste to landfill” 
in 2012, for a total of 20 Eaton facilities around the globe.  
We will apply the lessons learned from these operations to 
continue to reduce our total waste to landfill and increase our 
number of “zero waste” facilities in future years.

During 2012, we launched a global “Zero Incident Safety  
Culture” to help eliminate safety incidents at our facilities 
and create an even safer and more productive workplace.  
It included new programs to better identify and mitigate 

it’s not enough just to  
reduce safety incidents at 
our facilities; our goal is  
to eliminate them. During 
2012, we launched a global 
“Zero incident safety  
Culture” to achieve that goal 
and to create an even safer 
and more productive 
workplace.
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manufacturing risks, helping us decrease severe injuries at our 
global manufacturing facilities by 17 percent to 84 in 2012, com-
pared to 101 the prior year. We also expanded our global well-
ness programs, including our Eat Healthy initiative and “Know 
Your Numbers” health awareness campaign. For the second 
year in a row, we earned the American Heart Association’s top-
level platinum award as a “Start! Fit-Friendly” company for pro-
moting worksite wellness.

Beyond our own walls, we strengthened our supplier evaluation 
and selection processes and increased environmental reporting 
among our suppliers. Seventy-eight percent of the key suppli-
ers we asked agreed to participate in the Carbon Disclosure 
Project’s Supply Chain Program. Average CDP scores among 
participating Eaton suppliers rose from 40 in 2011 to 48 in 2012, 
in line with global averages.

fostering an inclusive and diverse workforce and supply chain
We are committed to respecting, and developing, a culturally  
diverse workforce that leverages the rich range of differences 
that make each employee unique. We foster an inclusive environ-
ment by reinforcing behaviors that recognize, value and leverage 
the different perspectives and backgrounds of our employees. 
These unique perspectives help us generate more innovative 
ideas and make better decisions for our company and customers.

During 2012, we created five Inclusion and Diversity Councils—
one global council, chaired by Eaton Chairman and CEO Alexander 
Cutler, and four regional councils (North America, South Amer-
ica, Asia Pacific and Europe, Middle East and Africa). These 
councils will lead our inclusion and diversity efforts going for-
ward and accelerate our ability to attract diverse talent, particu-
larly in leadership roles. We improved in virtually all areas of 
diverse leadership, including the expansion of female and 
minority representation on Eaton’s Board of Directors. 

A diverse supplier base is equally vital to the continued growth 
and success of our company and communities. Through our 
supplier diversity program we encourage small companies and 
companies owned by minorities, women and veterans to com-
pete for our business. This includes offering executive 

mentoring to suppliers to help expand and improve the manage-
ment of their businesses.  

Collectively, we purchased more than $1.4 billion of goods  
and services from diversity suppliers in 2012, a 10.6 percent 
increase over the previous year (see Table 2 above). Spending 
increased across segments compared to 2011: minority (up 8.8 
percent), women (up 17.7 percent), veterans (up 2.8 percent) 
and small business (up 11.0 percent). 

Eaton’s combined spending with minority- and women-owned 
businesses was 11.0 percent in 2011 and 11.7 percent in 2012, 
compared to the July 2012 average of 9.7 percent for industrial 
companies, as reported by CAPS Research, a leading nonprofit 
research organization.

Promoting an open and ethical workplace   
Eaton is recognized as a global leader in ethical business prac-
tices. For six straight years, the Ethisphere Institute has named 
us among the “World’s Most Ethical Companies”—a promi-
nent list of firms that “go beyond making statements about 
doing business ethically and translate those words into action.”

We require that all directors, officers and employees abide by 
the Eaton Code of Ethics. In addition, we publish an Ethics 
Guide in 35 languages to help Eaton employees make ethical 
decisions and guide them to resources—including our 24-hour 
Ethics and Financial Integrity Help Line—when they need help. 
In our global survey of employees, 95 percent agreed that our 
Code of Ethics had been clearly communicated to them (same 
as in 2011); 94 percent reported that if they discovered a viola-
tion of our code, they would know where to report it (up from 93 
percent the previous year).

During 2012, we expanded the reach of our legal compliance 
training program. Eaton employees achieved nearly 26,000 
course completions (up from 19,000 in 2011) in anti-corruption, 
conflicts of interest, export controls, global competition, govern-
ment contracts, insider trading and intellectual property. We also  
incorporated our anticorruption due diligence efforts into our for-
mal merger and acquisition process, enabling us to evaluate the 
agents and distributors of potential acquisitions. To ensure our 
compliance with growing regulations worldwide, we conduct an 
annual risk assessment to identify and mitigate potential business, 
compliance, legislative and other risks across our company.  

Diverse supplier spending
Table 2

eaton global employment
Table 1

       Number of Percentage of 
   Total Number of Percentage of Total Minorities Minorities 
   Global Women Women  U.S. (U.S. only) (U.S. only)

(As of December 31, 2012) 

Board of directors      11  2  18.2%  11  3 27.3%

Global leadership team      30  5  16.7%  30  8 26.7%
Executives      699  112  16.0%  530  66 12.5%
Managers      7,714  1,308  17.0%  4,403  655 14.9%
All other employees      95,050  29,734  31.3% 28,834  7,932 27.5%

 All employees      103,504  31,161  30.1% 33,808  8,664 25.6%

         
    Percentage of  Percentage of  Percentage of 
   2012 2012 U.S. Spend 2011 2011 U.S. Spend 2010 2010 U.S. Spend

(In millions) 

Minority-owned business     $ 235 5.6% $ 216 5.3% $ 136 3.8%

Women-owned business      146 3.5%  124 3.1%  84 2.4%

Veteran-owned business      109 2.6%  106 2.6%  83 2.3%

Small business (other than classified above)   915 21.7%  824 20.3%  615 17.3%
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Also in 2012, we formalized a third-party due diligence program to 
conduct compliance background screenings on all our third-
party commissioned sales agents. The program will expand to 
cover all third-party distributors in 2013 and beyond. 

Eaton’s Office of the Ombuds provides employees with an inde-
pendent, neutral and confidential resource for identifying and  
resolving work-related issues and problems. During 2012, we 
expanded these Ombuds services to employees in Australia, 
New Zealand, Switzerland, Thailand and the United Arab Emir-
ates. The Office of the Ombuds managed 1,611 cases from 25 
countries during 2012, compared to 1,630 inquiries the previous 
year. We plan to expand these services to South Korea and 
Japan in 2013, as well as to new employees from Cooper in 
countries where Eaton provides Ombuds assistance.

strengthening employee engagement and education   
Eaton’s global employee survey provides us with a structured 
way to evaluate employee engagement and to solicit ideas for 
how we can keep improving our workplaces. In 2012, 96 percent 
of our employees participated in the survey worldwide, a slight 
decline compared to 97 percent the year before. Employee 
engagement—a measure compiled from employee reactions 
to four statements, including “I feel proud to work for Eaton”—
remained stable, globally, at 75 percent. Results for employees 
in both Asia Pacific and Latin America showed strong gains in 
employee engagement, manager effectiveness and under-
standing of Eaton’s Code of Ethics.    

During the year, we created several new development opportu-
nities for people in functional and leadership roles. A new global 
program, Eaton Plant Manager Excellence, provides an enhanced 
series of learning experiences that meet the needs of plant 
managers. Similarly, a new global program was developed to 
address the technical requirements of our manufacturing front-
line leaders. To increase flexibility in the deployment of our pop-
ular M Power Leadership Development courses for middle 
managers, in-person classroom training is now offered in addi-
tion to the online web conference format. Employees in func-
tional roles have new learning opportunities with the expansion 
of 15 new courses designed for environment, health and safety, 
human resources and sales.

supporting strong and sustainable communities   
Eaton takes a different approach to corporate giving than 
many companies—we let the people at our local facilities 
determine where we donate a large share of our contribu-
tions, based on the needs in their communities and the inter-
ests of local employees. These donations go to hundreds of 
local organizations every year. Eaton people also donate 
countless hours of their own time to local causes. Notable 
examples in 2012 include: 

• In Farcasa, Romania, we donated $10,000 to the Farcasa 
Hope Association to purchase medical supplies; Eaton 
employees also have supported the organization with 
blood drives and personal fundraising events. 

• In Shanghai, China, we donated $25,000 and electrical 
products to Habitat for Humanity China to support its reno-
vation of housing for the elderly. 

• Our facility in Galesburg, Michigan, contributed $832,311 
to the Greater Kalamazoo United Way over the past three 
years and won the “Spirit of Michigan” award in 2012 for 
medium-sized businesses from the Michigan Association 
of United Ways.

We base our yearly contributions on a rolling average of  
our annual profits, so as we grow, so do our contributions  
to the communities in which we live and work. In 2012, that 
exceeded $8.7 million, including $789,016 in corporate 
matches through our retiree and employee matching gift 
program. Eaton employees donated $3.3 million to 95 local 
United Way campaigns during the year. We added $1.8  
million in corporate matches for a total United Way contribu-
tion of $5.1 million. During the year, we also contributed 
more than $100,000 plus employee-matching donations  
to Hurricane Sandy relief.

learn more about our sustainability efforts at eaton.com   
For more information about Eaton’s sustainability efforts, 
please visit our website: www.eaton.com/sustainability. 
There you’ll find additional metrics about our performance, 
including a table that conforms to and cross-references 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) reporting guidelines and our 
expanded performance indicators.

  United Way       Gift Matching       Domestic       International       Disaster Relief

eaton Charitable Contributions

2008

$6,784,000

$7,310,000

$7,948,000

2010

2011

2009

$8,051,000

2012
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Eaton Corporation plc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eaton 
Corporation plc ("the Company"), the successor registrant to Eaton Corporation, 
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in  
all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated results of its operations 
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company's internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report 
dated February 28, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio 
February 28, 2013 

Report of Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm

We have prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements and 
related information of Eaton Corporation plc, the successor registrant to Eaton 
Corporation, included herein for the three years ended December 31, 2012. The 
primary responsibility for the integrity of the financial information included in this 
annual report rests with management. The financial information included in this 
annual report has been prepared in accordance with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States based on our best estimates and judgments 
and giving due consideration to materiality. The opinion of Ernst & Young LLP, 
Eaton's independent registered public accounting firm, on those financial state-
ments is included herein.

Eaton has high standards of ethical business practices supported by the Eaton 
Code of Ethics and corporate policies. Careful attention is given to selecting, 
training and developing personnel, to ensure that management's objectives of 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls and unbiased, uniform 
reporting standards are attained. Our policies and procedures provide reasonable 
assurance that operations are conducted in conformity with applicable laws and 
with the Company's commitment to a high standard of business conduct.

The Board of Directors pursues its responsibility for the quality of Eaton's finan-
cial reporting primarily through its Audit Committee, which is composed of six 
independent directors. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, 
the internal auditors and the independent registered public accounting firm to 
ensure that they are meeting their responsibilities and to discuss matters con-
cerning accounting, control, audits and financial reporting. The internal auditors 
and independent registered public accounting firm have full and free access to 
senior management and the Audit Committee.

Management’s Report on  
Financial Statements

Alexander M. Cutler

Principal Executive Officer

Richard H. Fearon

Principal Financial Officer

Billie K. Rawot

Principal Accounting Officer

February 28, 2013 
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Alexander M. Cutler

Principal Executive Officer

Richard H. Fearon

Principal Financial Officer

Billie K. Rawot

Principal Accounting Officer

February 28, 2013 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Eaton Corporation plc

We have audited Eaton Corporation plc's ("the Company"), successor registrant 
to Eaton Corporation, internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion (the COSO criteria). The Company's management is responsible for main-
taining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the 
accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Report-
ing. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our 
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial report-
ing, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide rea-
sonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit prepa-
ration of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the com-
pany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may 
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effec-
tiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inade-
quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting, management's assessment of and conclusion on the effec-
tiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal 
controls of entities that were acquired during 2012, which are included in the 
2012 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted 50% of 
total assets as of December 31, 2012 and 4% of net sales for the year then ended. 
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not 
include an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting of entities that 
were acquired during 2012.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of 
the Company as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012 and our 
report dated February 28, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio 
February 28, 2013 

Report of Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm

The management of Eaton Corporation plc is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act rules 13a-15(f)).

Under the supervision and with the participation of Eaton's management, 
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we con-
ducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. Our evaluation of internal con-
trol over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of entities that 
were acquired during 2012, which are included in the 2012 consolidated finan-
cial statements and constituted approximately 50% of total assets (inclusive of 
acquired intangible assets) as of December 31, 2012 and 4% of net sales for the 
year then ended. In conducting this evaluation, we used the framework set 
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion in Internal Control - Integrated Framework. Based on this evaluation under 
the framework referred to above, management concluded that the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012.

The independent registered public accounting firm Ernst & Young LLP has issued 
an audit report on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of December 31, 2012. This report is included herein.

Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting
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YEAR EnDED DECEMBER 31   2012 2011 2010

(In millions except for per share data)

net sales   $ 16,311 $ 16,049 $ 13,715

Cost of products sold   11,448  11,261  9,633
Selling and administrative expense   2,894  2,738  2,486
Research and development expense   439  417  425
Interest expense-net   208  118  136
Other expense (income)-net   71  (38)  (1)

 Income before income taxes   1,251  1,553  1,036
Income tax expense   31  201  99

 net income   1,220  1,352  937
Less net income for noncontrolling interests   (3)  (2)  (8)

 net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders  $ 1,217 $ 1,350 $ 929

net income per ordinary share
Diluted    $ 3.46 $ 3.93 $ 2.73
Basic     3.54  3.98  2.76

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Diluted     350.9  342.8  339.5
Basic     347.8  338.3  335.5

Cash dividends declared per ordinary share  $ 1.52 $ 1.36 $ 1.08

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

YEAR EnDED DECEMBER 31   2012 2011 2010

(In millions)

net income    $ 1,220  $ 1,352  $ 937
 Less net income for noncontrolling interests      (3)     (2)    (8)

net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders      1,217     1,350    929

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Currency translation and related hedging instruments      109     (241)    (78)
Pensions and other postretirement benefits      (152)     (353)    (62)
Cash flow hedges      17     (22)    -

 Other comprehensive loss attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders      (26)     (616)    (140)

Total comprehensive income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders     $ 1,191  $ 734  $ 789

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DECEMBER 31    2012 2011 

(In millions)

Assets
Current assets
 Cash       $ 577 $ 385
 Short-term investments        527   699
 Accounts receivable-net        3,510   2,444
 Inventory        2,349   1,701
 Deferred income taxes        449   398
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets        432   199

  Total current assets        7,844   5,826

Property, plant and equipment
 Land and buildings        1,894   1,525
 Machinery and equipment        5,814   4,669

  Gross property, plant and equipment        7,708   6,194
 Accumulated depreciation        (3,831)   (3,592)

  net property, plant and equipment        3,877   2,602

Other noncurrent assets
 Goodwill        14,396   5,537
 Other intangible assets        6,779   2,192
 Deferred income taxes        1,254   1,134
 Other assets        1,698   582

  Total assets      $ 35,848 $ 17,873

Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities
 Short-term debt     $ 757 $ 86
 Current portion of long-term debt        314   321
 Accounts payable        1,879   1,491
 Accrued compensation        463   420
 Other current liabilities        2,018   1,319

  Total current liabilities        5,431   3,637

noncurrent liabilities
 Long-term debt        9,762   3,366
 Pension liabilities        1,997   1,793
 Other postretirement benefits liabilities        732   642
 Deferred income taxes        2,024   442
 Other noncurrent liabilities        774   501

  Total noncurrent liabilities        15,289   6,744

Shareholders' equity
 Ordinary shares (470.7 million outstanding in 2012 and 334.4 million in 2011)        5   167
 Capital in excess of par value        11,271   4,169
 Retained earnings        5,805   5,103
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss        (1,990)   (1,964)
 Shares held in trust        (5)   (6)

  Total Eaton shareholders’ equity        15,086   7,469
 noncontrolling interests        42   23

  Total equity        15,128   7,492

   Total liabilities and equity      $ 35,848 $ 17,873

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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YEAR EnDED DECEMBER 31  2012 2011 2010 

(In millions)

Operating activities
net income     $ 1,220   $ 1,352   $ 937
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities
 Depreciation and amortization      598     556    551
 Deferred income taxes      (155)     (113)    26
 Pension expense      273     227    179
 Contributions to pension plans      (413)     (372)    (403)
 Contributions to other postretirement benefits plans      (43)     (223)    (82)
 Excess tax benefit from equity-based compensation       (21)     (57)    -
 Changes in working capital
  Accounts receivable-net      108     (219)    (305)
  Inventory      166     (113)    (219)
  Accounts payable      (220)     92    322
  Accrued compensation      (52)     (38)    203
  Accrued income and other taxes      (86)     123    (11)
  Other current assets      117     11    (46)
  Other current liabilities      30     (30)    22
 Other-net      142     52    108

  net cash provided by operating activities      1,664     1,248    1,282

Investing activities
Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment      (593)     (568)    (394)
Cash paid for acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired      (6,936)     (325)    (222)
Sales (purchases) of short-term investments-net      603     103    (392)
Other-net      (46)     (10)    (4)

  net cash used in investing activities      (6,972)     (800)    (1,012)

Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings      7,156     381    55 
Payments on borrowings      (1,324)     (78)    (102)
Payments of financing costs      (117)     (3)    -
Cash dividends paid      (512)     (462)    (363)
Exercise of employee stock options      95     71    157
Issuance (repurchase) of shares      159     (343)    -
Excess tax benefit from equity-based compensation      21     57    -
Other-net      2     (4)    (8)

  net cash provided by (used in) financing activities      5,480     (381)    (261)

Effect of currency on cash      20     (15)    (16)

Total increase (decrease) in cash      192     52    (7)
Cash at the beginning of the period      385     333    340

Cash at the end of the period     $ 577   $ 385   $ 333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

      Accumulated  
    Capital  other  Total Eaton
  Ordinary shares in excess of Retained comprehensive  Shares held shareholders’ noncontrolling Total
 Shares  Dollars par value earnings loss in trust equity interests equity

(In millions)

Balance at January 1, 2010 332.3 $ 166 $ 3,947 $ 3,893 $ (1,208) $ (21) $ 6,777 $ 41 $ 6,818
net income -  -  -  929  -  -  929  8  937

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax         (140)    (140)  -  (140)
Cash dividends paid -  -  -  (363)  -  -  (363)  (8)  (371)
Issuance of shares under equity-based compensation  
 plans-net (net of income tax expense of $3) 7.6  4  146  (4)  -  13  159  -  159

Balance at December 31, 2010 339.9  170  4,093  4,455  (1,348)  (8)  7,362  41  7,403
net income -  -  -  1,350  -  -  1,350  2  1,352

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax         (616)    (616)  -  (616)
Cash dividends paid -  -  -  (462)  -  -  (462)  (4)  (466)
Issuance of shares under equity-based compensation  
 plans-net (net of income tax benefit of $72) 2.8  1  177  (2)  -  2  178  -  178
Business divestiture -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (16)  (16)
Repurchase of shares (8.3)  (4)  (101)  (238)  -  -  (343)  -  (343)

Balance at December 31, 2011 334.4  167  4,169  5,103  (1,964)  (6)  7,469  23  7,492
net income -  -  -  1,217  -  -  1,217  3  1,220

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax         (26)    (26)  -  (26)
Cash dividends paid -  -  -  (512)  -  -  (512)  (3)  (515)
Exchange of Eaton Corporation shares (par value $0.50  
 per share) for Eaton shares (par value $0.01 per share) -  (166)  166  -  -  -  -  -  -
Issuance of shares under equity-based compensation  
 plans-net (net of income tax benefit of $23) 5.0  2  129  (2)  -  1  130  -  130
Issuance of shares under employee benefit plans 3.2  -  166  -  -  -  166  -  166
Issuance of shares from acquisition of business 128.1  2  6,648  (1)  -  -  6,649  19  6,668
Registration of ordinary shares -    -  (7)  -  -  -  (7)  -  (7)

Balance at December 31, 2012 470.7 $ 5 $ 11,271 $ 5,805 $ (1,990) $ (5) $ 15,086 $ 42 $ 15,128

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Amounts are in millions unless indicated otherwise (per share data assume dilution).

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
General Information
Eaton Corporation plc (Eaton or the Company) was incorporated under the laws of Ire-
land on May 10, 2012, and became the successor registrant to Eaton Corporation on 
november 30, 2012 in connection with the consummation of the acquisition of Cooper 
Industries plc (Cooper), which is further described below. Eaton is a diversified power 
management company providing energy-efficient solutions that help its customers 
effectively manage electrical, hydraulic and mechanical power, with 2012 net sales of 
$16.3 billion. The Company is a global technology leader in electrical products, sys-
tems and services for power quality, distribution and control, power transmission, 
lighting and wiring products; hydraulics components, systems and services for indus-
trial and mobile equipment; aerospace fuel, hydraulics and pneumatic systems for 
commercial and military use; and truck and automotive drivetrain and powertrain sys-
tems for performance, fuel economy and safety. Eaton has approximately 103,000 
employees in over 50 countries, and sells products to customers in 175 countries.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. 
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through the date the consolidated 
financial statements were filed with the Securities Exchange Commission.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Eaton and all subsid-
iaries and other controlled entities. Intercompany transactions and balances have 
been eliminated. The equity method of accounting is used for investments in asso-
ciate companies where the Company has a 20% to 50% ownership interest. Equity 
investments are evaluated for impairment whenever events or circumstances indi-
cate the book value of the investment exceeds fair value. An impairment would 
exist if there is an other-than-temporary decline in value. These associate compa-
nies are not material either individually, or in the aggregate, to Eaton's consolidated 
financial statements. Eaton does not have off-balance sheet arrangements or 
financings with unconsolidated entities. In the ordinary course of business, the 
Company leases certain real properties and equipment, as described in note 7.

Eaton's functional currency is United States Dollars (USD). The functional currency 
for most subsidiaries is their local currency. Financial statements for these subsid-
iaries are translated at year-end exchange rates as to assets and liabilities and 
weighted-average exchange rates as to revenues and expenses. The resulting 
translation adjustments are recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss. 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year 
presentation.

Revenue Recognition
Sales of products are recognized when a sales agreement is in place, products have 
been shipped to unaffiliated customers and title has transferred in accordance with 
shipping terms, the selling price is fixed and determinable and collectability is reason-
ably assured, all significant related acts of performance have been completed, and no 
other significant uncertainties exist. Shipping and handling costs billed to customers 
are included in net sales and the related costs in Cost of products sold. Although the 
majority of the sales agreements contain standard terms and conditions, there are 
agreements that contain multiple elements or non-standard terms and conditions. As 
a result, judgment is required to determine the appropriate accounting, including 
whether the deliverables specified in these agreements should be treated as separate 
units of accounting for recognition purposes, and, if so, how the sales price should be 
allocated among the elements and when to recognize sales for each element. For 
delivered elements, sales are recognized only when the delivered elements have 
standalone value, fair values of undelivered elements are known, there are no uncer-
tainties regarding customer acceptance, and there are no customer-negotiated refund 
or return rights affecting the sales recognized for delivered elements. Sales for ser-
vice contracts generally are recognized as the services are provided.

Eaton records reductions to revenue for customer and distributor incentives, primarily 
comprised of rebates, at the time of the initial sale. Rebates are estimated based on 
sales terms, historical experience, trend analysis and projected market conditions in 
the various markets served. The rebate programs offered vary across businesses due 
to the numerous markets Eaton serves, but the most common incentives relate to 
amounts paid or credited to customers for achieving defined volume levels.

Long-Lived Assets 
Depreciation and amortization for property, plant and equipment, and intangible 
assets subject to amortization, are generally computed by the straight-line method 
and included in Cost of products sold, Selling and administrative expense, and 
Research and development expense, as appropriate. Cost of buildings are depreci-
ated generally over 40 years and machinery and equipment over 3 to 10 years. At 
December 31, 2012, the weighted-average amortization period for intangible 
assets subject to amortization was 17 years for patents and technology, primarily 
as a result of the long life of aircraft platforms, and 15 years for customer relation-
ships. Software is amortized up to a maximum life of 10 years.

Long-lived assets, except goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets, are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. Upon indications of impairment, assets and liabili-
ties are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely inde-
pendent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. The asset group would be 
considered impaired when the estimated future net undiscounted cash flows gener-
ated by the asset group are less than its carrying value. Determining asset groups 
and underlying cash flows requires the use of significant judgment.

Goodwill and Indefinite Life Intangible Assets
Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are evaluated annually for impairment 
as of July 1 using either a quantitative or qualitative analysis. The Company performs 
a quantitative analysis using a discounted cash flow model and other valuation 
techniques, but may elect to perform a qualitative analysis. A qualitative analysis is 
performed by assessing certain trends and factors, including projected market out-
look and growth rates, forecasted and actual sales and operating profit margins, 
discount rates, industry data and other relevant qualitative factors. These trends 
and factors are compared to, and based on, the assumptions used in the most 
recent quantitative assessment. Additionally, goodwill and indefinite life intangible 
assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate 
there may be a possible permanent loss of value. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is equivalent to 
Eaton's operating segments, and based on the net assets for each segment, includ-
ing goodwill and intangible assets. Goodwill is assigned to each operating segment, 
as this represents the lowest level that constitutes a business and for which discrete 
financial information is available and is the level which management regularly 
reviews the operating results. 

Goodwill impairment testing for 2012 and 2011 was performed by assessing certain 
qualitative trends and factors, as described above. These trends and factors were 
compared to, and based on, the assumptions used in the quantitative assessment 
performed in 2010. For 2012 and 2011, it is more likely than not that the fair value of 
Eaton's reporting units substantially exceeded the respective carrying amount.

Indefinite life intangible assets primarily consist of trademarks. The fair value of 
these assets are determined using a royalty relief methodology similar to that 
employed when the associated assets were acquired, but using updated estimates of 
future sales, cash flows and profitability. For 2012 and 2011, the fair value of indefinite 
lived intangible assets substantially exceeded the respective carrying value.

For additional information about goodwill and other intangible assets, see note 4.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
Eaton uses derivative financial instruments to manage the exposure to the volatility 
in raw material costs, currency and interest rates on certain debt. These instruments 
are marked to fair value in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Changes 
in the fair value of derivative assets or liabilities (i.e., gains or losses) are recognized 
depending upon the type of hedging relationship and whether an instrument has 
been designated as a hedge. For those instruments that qualify for hedge accounting, 
Eaton designates the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, 
as a cash flow hedge, a fair value hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign 
operation. Changes in fair value of these instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are recognized immediately in net income. See note 12 for additional 
information about hedges and derivative financial instruments.

Warranty Accruals
Product warranty accruals are established at the time the related sale is recognized 
through a charge to Cost of products sold. Warranty accrual estimates are based  
primarily on historical warranty claim experience and specific customer contracts. 
Provisions for warranty accruals are comprised of basic warranties for products sold, 
as well as accruals for product recalls and other events when they are known and 
estimable. See note 7 for additional information about warranty accruals.
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Fair Value of Consideration Transferred

The total purchase price for the acquisition of Cooper was $13,192, comprised of 
Eaton share consideration valued at $6,649 and cash consideration for Cooper 
shares of $6,474 and to settle certain Cooper equity-based compensation plans of 
$69, as follows:
       

Cooper shares outstanding as of november 30, 2012       163.6
Cooper shares issued pursuant to conversion of stock options and share  
 units outstanding under Cooper equity-based compensation plans    1.8

 Total Cooper shares and share equivalents prior to transaction     165.4

Exchange ratio per share        0.77479

 Total Eaton shares issued        128.1
Weighted-average Eaton Corporation per share price on november 30, 2012  $ 51.91

 Total value of Eaton shares issued       $ 6,649
 Total cash consideration paid at $39.15 per Cooper share  
  and share equivalent        6,474
 Total cash consideration paid for equity-based compensation plans    69

  Total consideration       $ 13,192

Preliminary Estimated Fair Values
The acquisition of Cooper has been accounted for using the acquisition method of 
accounting which requires, among other things, the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed be recognized at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date. For 
accounting purposes, Eaton has been treated as the acquirer in the transaction. 
Acquisition accounting is dependent upon certain valuations and other studies that 
have yet to commence or progress to a stage where there is sufficient information 
for a definitive measurement. The process for estimating the fair values of identifi-
able intangible assets and certain tangible assets and assumed liabilities requires 
the use of judgment in determining the appropriate assumptions and estimates. 

The entire purchase price allocation for Cooper is preliminary. As the Company final-
izes the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, additional purchase 
price adjustments will be recorded during the measurement period in 2013. Fair 
value estimates are based on a complex series of judgments about future events and 
uncertainties and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions. The judgments used to 
determine the estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and  
liabilities assumed, as well as asset lives, can materially impact the Company’s 
results of operations. The finalization of the purchase accounting assessment will 
result in changes in the valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and may 
have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial position. 

The table below presents the preliminary estimated fair values of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. These preliminary estimates will be 
revised during the measurement period as third-party valuations are finalized, addi-
tional information becomes available and as additional analyses are performed, and 
these differences could have a material impact on Eaton's results of operations and 
financial position. 

   november 30, 
   2012

Working capital accounts (1)       $ 2,314
Prepaid expenses and other current assets        339
Property, plant and equipment        940
Investment in Apex Tool Group, LLC        800
Intangible assets        4,577
Other assets        35
Debt          (1,221)
Accounts payable        (519)
Other current liabilities        (634)
Other noncurrent liabilities        (1,943)

 Total identifiable net assets        4,688
Goodwill        8,504

 Total consideration       $ 13,192

(1) Working capital accounts include Cash, Short-term investments, Accounts receivable and Inventory.

Asset Retirement Obligations
A conditional asset retirement obligation is recognized at fair value when incurred if 
the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Uncertainty about the timing 
or method of settlement of a conditional asset retirement obligation would be consid-
ered in the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists. Eaton 
believes that for substantially all of its asset retirement obligations, there is an indeter-
minate settlement date because the range of time over which the Company may settle 
the obligation is unknown or cannot be estimated. A liability for these obligations will 
be recognized when sufficient information is available to estimate fair value.

Income Taxes 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference 
between the financial statement and tax basis of the respective assets and liabilities, 
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year when the differences are expected to 
reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for income tax loss carryforwards 
and income tax credit carryforwards. Judgment is required in determining and evalu-
ating income tax provisions and valuation allowances for deferred income tax assets. 
Eaton recognizes the income tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is 
more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by taxing 
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. Eaton evaluates and 
adjusts these accruals based on changing facts and circumstances. Eaton recognizes 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits in the provision 
for income tax expense. The Company has accrued penalties in jurisdictions where 
they are automatically applied to any deficiency, regardless of the merit of the position. 
For additional information about income taxes, see note 8.

Equity-Based Compensation
Eaton recognizes equity-based compensation expense based on the grant date fair 
value of the award over the period during which an employee is required to provide 
service in exchange for the award. Restricted stock units and awards (RSUs) are 
issued at fair market value at the date of grant. These awards entitle the holder to 
receive one ordinary share for each RSU upon vesting, generally over three or four 
years. Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market 
price of Eaton ordinary shares on the date of grant. The fair value of stock options is 
determined using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which incorporates assump-
tions regarding the expected volatility, the expected option life, the risk-free interest 
rate, and the expected dividend yield. See note 10 for additional information about 
equity-based compensation.

Note 2. Acquisitions and Sale of Businesses
Eaton acquired businesses and entered into a joint venture in separate transactions 
for combined purchase prices totaling $13,796 in 2012, $325 in 2011 and $222 in 2010. 
The Consolidated Statements of Income include the results of these businesses from 
the dates of the transactions or formation.

Cooper Industries plc
On november 30, 2012, Eaton Corporation acquired Cooper for a purchase price of 
$13,192. At the completion of the transaction, the holder of each Cooper common 
share received from Eaton $39.15 in cash and 0.77479 of an Eaton ordinary share.  
As a result of the transaction, based on the number of outstanding shares of Eaton  
Corporation and Cooper as of november 30, 2012, former Eaton Corporation and 
Cooper shareholders hold approximately 73% and 27%, respectively, of Eaton's  
ordinary shares after giving effect to the acquisition. 

Cooper was incorporated in Ireland and is a diversified global manufacturer of  
electrical products and systems, with brands including Bussmann electrical and 
electronic fuses; Crouse-Hinds and CEAG explosion-proof electrical equipment; 
Halo and Metalux lighting fixtures; and Kyle and McGraw-Edison power systems 
products. Cooper had annual sales of $5,409 for 2011. For segment reporting pur-
poses, Cooper has been identified as a segment at December 31, 2012. See note 14 
for additional information about business segments.

Eaton's management believes the acquisition of Cooper will provide substantial 
synergies including, but not limited to, enhanced operational cost efficiencies, 
incremental revenue opportunities, the acceleration of Eaton’s long-term growth 
potential through greater exposure to faster growing end markets, increased earnings 
and cash flow and better access to capital markets as a result of enhanced size and 
an expanded business line.
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Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the consideration transferred over the net 
assets recognized and represents the expected revenue and cost synergies of the 
combined company and assembled workforce, which are further described above. 
Goodwill recognized as a result of the acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes. 
See note 4 for additional information about goodwill and other intangible assets. 

The preliminary estimated fair value of Accounts receivable is based on the histori-
cal gross contractual amount receivable as of the acquisition date and totals $963. 

Contingent liabilities assumed as part of the transaction total $149 and are included 
in Other current liabilities and Other noncurrent liabilities. These contingent liabilities 
are related to environmental, legal (including product liability claims) and tax matters. 
Contingent liabilities are recorded at fair value in purchase accounting, aside from 
those pertaining to uncertainty in income taxes which are an exception to the fair 
value basis of accounting. Legal matters, and certain environmental matters that are 
legal in nature, are recorded at the respective probable and estimable amount. The 
estimated fair values noted above are preliminary and based on historical recorded 
amounts, and are subject to change upon completion of the final valuation. Changes 
in the respective fair value of these assumed contingent liabilities may be material.

Actual and Pro Forma Impact
Eaton's Consolidated Financial Statements include Cooper's results of operations 
from the date of acquisition on november 30, 2012 through December 31, 2012.  
net sales and segment operating profit attributable to Cooper during this period  
and included in Eaton's Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 total $470 and $66, respectively.

The following unaudited pro forma information gives effect to Eaton's acquisition  
of Cooper as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2011 and Cooper had  
been included in Eaton's consolidated results of operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

       2012 2011

net sales     $ 21,792 $ 21,600
net income from continuing operations attributable  
 to Eaton ordinary shareholders      1,751  1,699
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations    $ 3.66 $ 3.61

The historical consolidated financial information of Eaton and Cooper has been 
adjusted in the pro forma information to give effect to pro forma events that are (1) 
directly attributable to the transaction, (2) factually supportable and (3) expected 
to have a continuing impact on the combined results. For pro forma purposes, the 
equity in income of Apex Tool Group, LLC has been excluded as this joint venture 
was sold on February 1, 2013.

Acquisitions and Sale of Other Businesses
Eaton acquired other businesses and entered into a joint venture in separate trans-
actions in 2012, 2011, and 2010. The Consolidated Statements of Income include 
the results of these businesses from the dates of the transactions or formation. 
These transactions and the related annual sales prior to acquisition are summa-
rized on page 35.

Sale of Apex Tool Group, LLC
In July 2010, Cooper formed a joint venture, named Apex Tool Group, LLC (Apex), with 
Danaher Corporation (Danaher). Apex was formed by combining Cooper’s tools busi-
ness with certain tools businesses from Danaher’s Tools and Components segment. 
Cooper and Danaher each owned a 50% interest in the joint venture, had equal repre-
sentation on its board of directors and had a 50% voting interest in the joint venture. 

On October 10, 2012, Cooper and Danaher announced they had entered into a defini-
tive agreement to sell Apex to Bain Capital for approximately $1.6 billion subject to 
post-closing adjustments. On February 1, 2013, the sale of Apex was completed.

Note 3. Acquisition Integration and Restructuring Charges
Acquisition Integration Charges and Transaction Costs
Eaton incurs integration charges and transaction costs related to acquired busi-
nesses. A summary of these charges follows:

      2012 2011 2010

Acquisition integration charges
 Electrical Americas   $ 7 $ 8 $ 2
 Electrical Rest of World    8  2  33
 Cooper    2  -  -
 Hydraulics    16  4  1
 Aerospace    -  -  4

  Total business segments    33  14  40
 Corporate    11  -  -

  Total acquisition integration charges   $ 44 $ 14 $ 40

Transaction costs        
 Corporate   $ 106 $ - $ -
 Financing fees    72  -  -

  Total transaction costs   $ 178 $ - $ -

Total acquisition integration charges and 
 transaction costs before income taxes   $ 222 $ 14 $ 40

Total after income taxes   $ 167 $ 10 $ 27
Per ordinary share - diluted   $ 0.48 $ 0.03 $ 0.08

Integration charges in 2012 were related primarily to Polimer Kauçuk Sanayi ve Pazar-
lama A.Ş. (SEL), Jeil Hydraulics, Cooper and Internormen Technology Group. Integration 
charges in 2011 were related primarily to CopperLogic, Tuthill Coupling Group, Wright 
Line Holding, EMC Engineers and Internormen Technology Group. Integration charges 
in 2010 were related primarily to Moeller and Phoenixtec. These charges were included 
in Cost of products sold or Selling and administrative expense, as appropriate. 

Corporate integration charges in 2012 were related primarily to the acquisition of 
Cooper. These charges were included in Selling and administrative expense. In Busi-
ness Segment Information the charges were included in Other corporate expense-net.

Acquisition-related transaction costs, such as investment banking, legal and other 
professional fees are not included as a component of consideration transferred in an 
acquisition, but are expensed as incurred. Acquisition-related transaction costs in 
2012 were related primarily to the acquisition of Cooper. These charges were 
included in Selling and administrative expense, Interest expense-net and Other 
expense (income)-net. In Business Segment Information the charges were included 
in Interest expense-net and Other corporate expense-net.

See note 2 for additional information about Cooper and other business acquisitions.

Restructuring Charges
During the fourth quarter of 2012, Eaton undertook restructuring activities to improve 
the efficiency of certain businesses. These actions resulted in a charge of $50, com-
prised of severance costs totaling $34 and other non-cash expenses totaling $16.  These 
charges were included in Cost of products sold or Selling and administrative expense, as 
appropriate. In Business Segment Information, the charges reduced Operating profit of 
the related business segment. See note 14 for additional information about business 
segments. As of December 31, 2012, the liability related to these restructuring actions 
totaled $34 and is expected to be paid out during the first half of 2013.
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Summary of Acquisitions of Businesses and Joint Ventures

     Business   
Acquired businesses and joint venture Date of transaction segment Annual sales  

Rolec Comercial e Industrial S.A. September 28, 2012 Electrical $85 for the 12
 A Chilean manufacturer of integrated power assemblies and low- and medium-voltage switchgear,    Americas months ended 
 and a provider of engineering services serving mining and other heavy industrial applications    September 30, 2012 
 in Chile and Peru.

Jeil Hydraulics Co., Ltd. July 6, 2012 Hydraulics $189 for 2011
 A Korean manufacturer of track drive motors, swing drive motors, main control valves and remote      
 control valves for the construction equipment market.

Polimer Kauçuk Sanayi ve Pazarlama A.Ş. June 1, 2012 Hydraulics $335 for 2011
 A Turkish manufacturer of hydraulic and industrial hose for construction, mining, agriculture,     
 oil and gas, manufacturing, food and beverage, and chemicals markets. This business sells     
 its products under the SEL brand name.   

Gycom Electrical Low-Voltage Power Distribution, Control and Automation June 1, 2012 Electrical $24 for 2011
 A Swedish electrical low-voltage power distribution, control and automation components business.  Rest of World

E.A. Pedersen Company December 29, 2011 Electrical $37 for 2011
 A United States manufacturer of medium voltage switchgear, metal-clad switchgear, power control   Americas  
 buildings and relay control panels primarily for the electrical utilities industry.   

IE Power, Inc. August 31, 2011 Electrical $5 for 2010
 A Canadian provider of high power inverters for a variety of mission-critical applications including   Americas  
 solar, wind and battery energy storage.   

E. Begerow GmbH & Co. KG August 15, 2011 Hydraulics $84 for 2010
 A German system provider of advanced liquid filtration solutions. This business develops and     
 produces technologically innovative filter media and filtration systems for food and beverage,     
 chemical, pharmaceutical and industrial applications.

ACTOM Low Voltage June 30, 2011 Electrical $65 for the
 A South African manufacturer and supplier of motor control components, engineered electrical    Rest of World year ended 
 distribution systems and uninterruptible power systems.   May 31, 2011

C.I. ESI de Colombia S.A. June 2, 2011 Electrical $8 for 2010
 A Colombian distributor of industrial electrical equipment and engineering services in the   Americas 
 Colombian market, focused on oil and gas, mining, and industrial and commercial construction.

Internormen Technology Group May 12, 2011 Hydraulics $55 for 2010
 A Germany-based manufacturer of hydraulic filtration and instrumentation with sales and   
 distribution subsidiaries in China, the United States, India and Brazil.

Eaton-SAMC (Shanghai) Aircraft Conveyance System Manufacturing Co., Ltd. March 8, 2011 Aerospace Joint venture
 A 49%-owned joint venture in China focusing on the design, development, manufacturing and 
 support of fuel and hydraulic conveyance systems for the global civil aviation market.

Tuthill Coupling Group January 1, 2011 Hydraulics $35 for the
 A United States based manufacturer of pneumatic and hydraulic quick coupling solutions and   year ended 
 leak-free connectors used in industrial, construction, mining, defense, energy and power applications.   november 30, 2010

Chloride Phoenixtec Electronics October 12, 2010 Electrical $25 for the
 A China manufacturer of uninterruptible power systems. Eaton acquired the remaining   Rest of World year ended  
 shares to increase its ownership from 50% to 100%.   September 30, 2010

CopperLogic, Inc. October 1, 2010 Electrical $35 for the
 A Canadian manufacturer of electrical and electromechanical systems.    Americas year ended 
      September 30, 2010

Wright Line Holding, Inc. August 25, 2010 Electrical $101 for the
 A United States provider of customized enclosures, rack systems, and air-flow management systems   Americas year ended 
 to store, power, and secure mission-critical IT data center electronics.   June 30, 2010

EMC Engineers, Inc. July 15, 2010 Electrical $24 for 2009
 A United States energy engineering and energy services company that delivers energy efficiency  Americas    
 solutions for a wide range of governmental, educational, commercial and industrial facilities.
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Note 4. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
A summary of goodwill follows:

      2012 2011

Electrical Americas     $ 2,677 $ 2,043
Electrical Rest of World      1,188  981
Cooper         7,725  -
Hydraulics       1,404  1,116
Aerospace       1,045  1,040
Truck          149  150
Automotive        208  207

 Total goodwill     $ 14,396 $ 5,537

The increase in goodwill in 2012 was primarily due to the acquisition of Cooper, which 
totaled $8,504. As a result of benefiting from the anticipated synergies of acquiring 
Cooper, $601 and $191 of the total goodwill from the acquisition of Cooper was allo-
cated to the Electrical Americas and Electrical Rest of World reporting units, respec-
tively. Excluding the impact of the acquisition of Cooper, the increase in goodwill in 
2012 was primarily due to other business acquisitions and currency translation. For 
additional information regarding Cooper and other business acquisitions, see note 2.

A summary of other intangible assets follows:

  2012 2011
 Historical Accumulated  Historical Accumulated 
 cost amortization  cost amortization

Intangible assets not subject to amortization
 (primarily trademarks) $ 1,296   $ 451  

Intangible assets subject to amortization
 Customer relationships $ 4,100 $ 428 $ 1,173 $ 322
 Patents and technology  1,500  325  849  308
 Other   792  156  481  132

  Total other intangible assets $ 6,392 $ 909 $ 2,503 $ 762

Amortization expense related to intangible assets subject to amortization in 2012, 
and estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years, follows:
       

2012   $ 186
2013    420
2014    413
2015    409
2016    405
2017    402

Other Intangible Assets Related to the Acquisition of Cooper
The preliminary estimated fair values of other intangible assets acquired in the Coo-
per transaction included in the table above were determined using an income valua-
tion approach, which requires a forecast of expected future cash flows either 
through the use of the relief-from-royalty method or the multi-period excess earn-
ings method. The estimated useful lives are based on Eaton's historical experience. 
These estimated fair values and useful lives are subject to change upon completion 
of the final valuation. Changes in fair value of the acquired intangible assets may be 
material. The estimated fair value of these identifiable intangible assets, their esti-
mated useful lives and valuation methodology are as follows:

      Fair value Useful life Valuation method

Trade names (indefinite-lived) $ 845 n/A  Relief-from-royalty
Trade names  307 3-15 Relief-from-royalty
Customer relationships  2,780 14-20 Multi-period excess earnings
Technology  645 8-15 Relief-from-royalty

    $ 4,577 

   

Note 5. Debt
A summary of long-term debt, including the current portion, follows:

        2012 2011

5.75% notes due 2012      $ -  $ 300
4.90% notes due 2013  
 ($200 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)     300   300
5.95% notes due 2014 
 ($100 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)     250   250
Floating rate notes due 2014  
 ($300 converted to fixed rate by interest rate swap)      300   300
5.45% debentures due 2015       300   -
4.65% notes due 2015       100   100
0.95% senior notes due 2015       600   - 
2.375% debentures due 2016       250   -
5.30% notes due 2017  
 ($150 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)     250   250
6.10% debentures due 2017       300   -
1.50% senior notes due 2017       1,000   -
5.60% notes due 2018  
 ($415 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)     450   450
4.215% Japanese Yen notes due 2018       116   129
6.95% notes due 2019  
 ($300 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)      300   300
3.875% debentures due 2020       250   -
3.47% notes due 2021       300   -
8.10% debentures due 2022       100   100
2.75% senior notes due 2022       1,600   -
3.68% notes due 2023       300   -
6.50% debentures due 2025       145   145
7.65% debentures due 2029  
 ($50 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)      200   200
4.00% senior notes due 2032       700   -
5.45% debentures due 2034 
 ($25 converted to floating rate by interest rate swap)      140   140
5.80% notes due 2037       240   240
4.15% senior notes due 2042       1,000   -
5.25% to 12.5% notes (maturities ranging from 2012 to 2035)     255   266
Other         330   217

 Total long-term debt        10,076   3,687
Less current portion of long-term debt       (314)   (321)

 Long-term debt less current portion     $ 9,762 $ 3,366

Short-term debt of $757 at December 31, 2012 included an outstanding borrowing 
of $669 on a $6.75 billion, 364-day bridge facility, as described below, $75 of short-
term commercial paper in the United States which had a weighted-average inter-
est rate of 0.50%, $9 of other short-term debt in the United States, and $4 of 
short-term debt outside the United States. Short-term debt of $86 at December 31, 
2011 included $75 of short-term commercial paper in the United States which had a 
weighted-average interest rate of 0.45%, $10 of other short-term debt in the 
United States, and $1 of short-term debt outside the United States. Borrowings 
outside the United States are generally denominated in local currencies. Opera-
tions outside the United States had available short-term lines of credit of $2,099 
from various banks worldwide at December 31, 2012.

On november 30, 2012, the closing date of the acquisition of Cooper, Eaton borrowed 
$1,669 on a $6.75 billion, 364-day bridge facility (the Facility) which was obtained on 
May 21, 2012. The Facility was obtained to finance a portion of the cash paid to acquire 
Cooper and was available in a single draw on the closing date of the acquisition. At 
December 31, 2012, $669 remained outstanding. Related deferred financing fees 
totaled $69, of which $68 have been amortized in Interest expense-net as of Decem-
ber 31, 2012. On February 1, 2013, Eaton repaid the outstanding balance on the Facility.

On november 14, 2012, Eaton issued senior notes (the Senior notes) totaling $4,900 
related to financing the cash portion of the acquisition of Cooper. The Senior notes 
are comprised of five tranches which mature in 2015, 2017, 2022, 2032 and 2042, 
with interest payable semi-annually at a respective rate of 0.95%, 1.50%, 2.75%, 
4.00% and 4.15%. Eaton received proceeds totaling $4,853 from the issuance, net of 
financing costs and nominal discounts. The Senior notes are fully and unconditionally 
guaranteed on an unsubordinated, unsecured basis by Eaton and certain of its direct 
and indirect subsidiaries. The Senior notes contain an optional redemption provision 
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by which the Company may make an offer to purchase all or any part of the Senior 
notes at a purchase price of the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of the 
respective Senior notes being redeemed, or (b) the sum of the present values of the 
respective remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest, discounted to 
the redemption date on a semi-annual basis, plus basis points ranging from 10 to 25 
based on the respective Senior note tranche. The Senior notes also contain a 
change of control provision which requires the Company to make an offer to pur-
chase all or any part of the Senior notes at a purchase price of 101% of the principal 
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Senior notes are required to be regis-
tered within 360 days of issuance and are subject to penalties for failure to comply 
with this provision. At December 31, 2012, capitalized deferred financing fees total 
$40. The capitalized deferred financing fees and nominal discounts are amortized in 
Interest expense-net over the respective terms of the Senior notes. The Senior 
notes are subject to customary non-financial covenants.

On June 28, 2012, Eaton received proceeds totaling $600 from the private issuance 
of $300, 3.47% notes due June 28, 2021 and $300,  3.68% notes due June 28, 2023 
(collectively, the notes). Interest is payable semi-annually. The notes contain a 
change of control provision which requires the Company to make an offer to pur-
chase all or any part of the notes at a purchase price of 100% of the principal amount 
plus accrued and unpaid interest. The notes are subject to certain customary cove-
nants and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Eaton and certain of its direct 
and indirect subsidiaries.

On June 14, 2012, Eaton refinanced a $500, three-year revolving credit facility and a 
$500, five-year revolving credit facility with a $750, three-year revolving credit facil-
ity that will expire June 14, 2015 and a $750, five-year revolving credit facility that 
will expire June 14, 2017, respectively. On June 16, 2011, Eaton refinanced a $500, 
five-year revolving credit facility that had been set to expire on September 1, 2011. 
The new $500, five-year revolving credit facility will expire June 16, 2016. The 2012 
refinancings increased long-term revolving credit facilities from $1,500 to $2,000. 
The revolving credit facilities are used to support commercial paper borrowings and 
are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Eaton and certain of its direct and indi-
rect subsidiaries, including Cooper. There were no borrowings outstanding under 
Eaton's revolving credit facilities at December 31, 2012 or 2011.

On June 16, 2011, Eaton issued $300 floating rate senior unsecured notes due June 
16, 2014 (the Floating Rate notes). The Floating Rate notes bear interest annually at 
a floating rate, reset quarterly, equal to the three-month LIBOR rate for U.S. dollars 
plus 0.33%. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears. The Floating Rate notes contain 
a provision which requires the Company to make an offer to purchase all or any part 
of the Floating Rate notes at a purchase price of 101% of the principal amount plus 
accrued and unpaid interest if certain change of control events occur. The Floating 
Rate notes are subject to customary non-financial covenants.

Eaton is in compliance with each of its debt covenants for all periods presented. 
Eaton Corporation and Cooper each issued guarantees on november 30, 2012 and 
January 8, 2013, respectively, on all material outstanding debt of the other.

Mandatory maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years follow:
      

2013   $ 314
2014    568
2015    1,008
2016    261
2017    1,551

Interest paid on debt follows:
       

2012   $ 276
2011    174
2010    170

Note 6. Retirement Benefits Plans 
Eaton has defined benefits pension plans and other postretirement benefits plans. 

Obligations and Funded Status
 United States non-United States Other postretirement 
 pension liabilities pension liabilities liabilities

     2012 2011  2012 2011  2012 2011

Funded status
 Fair value of plan assets $ 2,607 $ 1,664 $ 1,248 $ 989 $ 146 $ 156
 Benefit obligations  (3,817)  (2,899)  (2,006)  (1,505)  (940)  (853)

  Funded status $ (1,210) $ (1,235) $ (758) $ (516) $ (794) $ (697)

Amounts recognized in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 non-current assets $ - $ - $ 71 $ 78 $ - $ -
 Current liabilities  (15)  (12)  (27)  (24)  (62)  (55)
 non-current liabilities  (1,195)  (1,223)  (802)  (570)  (732)  (642)

  Total $ (1,210) $ (1,235) $ (758) $ (516) $ (794) $ (697)

Amounts recognized in  
Accumulated other  
comprehensive loss (pretax)
 net actuarial loss $ 1,618 $ 1,601 $ 550 $ 348 $ 269 $ 257
 Prior service cost (credit)  1  1  9  10  (7)  (9)
 Other   2  -  -  -  -  -

  Total $ 1,621 $ 1,602 $ 559 $ 358 $ 262 $ 248

Change in Benefit Obligations
 United States non-United States Other postretirement 
 pension liabilities pension liabilities liabilities

     2012 2011  2012 2011  2012 2011

Balance at January 1 $ 2,899 $ 2,458 $ 1,505 $ 1,460 $ 853 $ 826
 Service cost  115  93  50  48  17  15
 Interest cost  134  132  77  78  38  41
 Actuarial loss  264  346  196  26  34  41
 Gross benefits paid  (132)  (131)  (78)  (82)  (94)  (101)
 Currency translation  -  -  54  (23)  -  (1)
 Acquisitions  536  -  201  -  64  -
 Other   1  1  1  (2)  28  32

Balance at December 31 $ 3,817 $ 2,899 $ 2,006 $ 1,505 $ 940 $ 853

Accumulated benefit  
 obligation $ 3,639 $ 2,762 $ 1,878 $ 1,364    

Change in Plan Assets
 United States non-United States Other postretirement 
 pension liabilities pension liabilities liabilities

     2012 2011  2012 2011  2012 2011

Balance at January 1 $ 1,664 $ 1,572 $ 989 $ 937 $ 156 $ -
 Actual return on plan  
  assets  293  (41)  86  39  13  2
 Employer contributions  311  264  102  108  43  223
 Gross benefits paid  (132)  (131)  (78)  (82)  (94)  (101)
 Currency translation  -  -  39  (6)  -  -
 Acquisitions  471  -  128  -  -  -
 Other   -  -  (18)  (7)  28  32 

Balance at December 31 $ 2,607 $ 1,664 $ 1,248 $ 989 $ 146 $ 156

The components of pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess 
of plan assets at December 31 follow:
 United States non-United States 
 pension liabilities pension liabilities

    2012 2011 2012 2011

Projected benefit obligation $ 3,817 $ 2,899 $ 1,405 $ 990
Accumulated benefit obligation  3,639  2,762  1,300  925
Fair value of plan assets  2,607  1,664  657  446
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Changes in pension and other postretirement benefit liabilities recognized in  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss follow:

 United States non-United States Other postretirement 
 pension liabilities pension liabilities liabilities

     2012 2011  2012 2011  2012 2011

Balance at January 1 $ 1,602 $ 1,142 $ 358 $ 319 $ 248 $ 221
 Prior service cost arising 
  during the year  1  1  -  4  -  -
 net loss arising  
  during the year  154  551  205  58  27  39
 Currency translation  -  -  15  (5)  -  -
 Less amounts included in 
  expense during the year  (138)  (92)  (19)  (18)  (13)  (12)
 Other   2  -  -  -  -  -

  net change for the year  19  460  201  39  14  27

Balance at December 31 $ 1,621 $ 1,602 $ 559 $ 358 $ 262 $ 248

Retirement Benefits Plans Assumptions
Pension Plans

 United States non-United States 
 pension plans pension plans

    2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

Assumptions used to  
determine benefit 
obligation at year-end           
 Discount rate  3.97%  4.70%  5.50%  4.17%  5.12%  5.40%
 Rate of compensation
  increase  3.16%  3.15%  3.61%  3.09%  3.62%  3.63%

Assumptions used to  
determine expense            
 Discount rate  4.70%  5.50%  6.00%  5.12%  5.40%  5.59%
 Expected long-term return 
  on plan assets  8.50%  8.50%  8.95%  7.10%  7.17%  7.20%
 Rate of compensation  
  increase  3.15%  3.61%  3.62%  3.62%  3.63%  3.58%

The expected long-term rate of return on pension assets was determined for each 
country and reflects long-term historical data taking into account each plan's tar-
get asset allocation. The discount rate was determined using appropriate bond 
data for each country.

Other Postretirement Benefits Plans
Substantially all of the obligation for other postretirement benefits plans relates to 
United States plans. Assumptions used to determine other postretirement benefits 
obligations and expense follow:
 Other postretirement benefits plans

     2012 2011 2010

Assumptions used to determine benefit 
obligation at year-end
 Discount rate   3.79% 4.60% 5.20%
 Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year  6.96% 7.60% 8.10%
 Ultimate health care cost trend rate   4.53% 4.50% 4.50%
 Year ultimate health care cost trend rate is achieved 2022 2020 2020 

 Other postretirement benefits plans

     2012 2011 2010

Assumptions used to determine expense
 Discount rate   4.60% 5.20% 5.70%
 Initial health care cost trend rate   7.60% 8.10% 8.30%
 Ultimate health care cost trend rate   4.50% 4.50% 4.75%
 Year ultimate health care cost trend rate is achieved 2020 2020 2017 

Assumed health care cost trend rates may have a significant effect on the amounts 
reported for the health care plans. A 1-percentage point change in the assumed 
health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:
 1% increase 1% decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost $ 1 $ (1)
Effect on other postretirement liabilities  22  (20)

Employer Contributions to Retirement Benefits Plans
Contributions to pension plans that Eaton expects to make in 2013, and made in 2012, 
2011 and 2010, follow:
     2013 2012 2011 2010

United States plans $ 191 $ 311 $ 264 $ 313
non-United States plans  112  102  108  90

 Total contributions $ 303 $ 413 $ 372 $ 403

During 2011, Eaton contributed $154 into a Voluntary Employee Benefit Association 
(VEBA) trust for the pre-funding of postretirement Medicare Part D prescription drug 
benefits for the Company's eligible United States employees and retirees.

The following table provides the estimated pension and other postretirement benefit 
payments for each of the next five years, and the five years thereafter in the aggre-
gate. For other postretirement benefits liabilities, the expected subsidy receipts 
relate to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 
2003, which would reduce the gross payments listed below.

  Estimated other postretirement 
  benefit payments

 Estimated Estimated  Medicare
 United States non-United States  prescription
 pension payments pension payments Gross drug subsidy

2013     $ 228 $ 89 $ 93 $ (7)
2014      405  90  91  (6)
2015      255  92  84  (6)
2016      272  95  81  (5)
2017      279  98  77  (5)
2018-2022     1,473  535  328  (13)

Pension lump-sum payments in 2013 are restricted to 50% due to limitations 
imposed by the Pension Protection Act.

Benefits Expense
The estimated pretax net amounts that will be recognized from Accumulated other 
comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit cost in 2013 follow:
 United States non-United States Other postretirement 
 pension liabilities pension liabilities liabilities

Actuarial loss $ 176 $ 27 $ 15
Prior service cost (credit)   -  1  (2)

 Total  $ 176 $ 28 $ 13

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

   United States   non-United States   Other postretirement
   pension benefit expense   pension benefit expense   benefits expense

  2012  2011 2010  2012 2011 2010  2012 2011 2010

Service cost $ 115 $ 93 $ 80 $ 50 $ 48 $ 39 $ 17 $ 15 $ 16
Interest cost  134  132  131  77  78  69  38  41  46
Expected return on plan assets  (183)  (164)  (156)  (77)  (70)  (62)  (6)  -  -
Amortization  118  75  53  15  13  8  13  12  10

     184  136  108  65  69  54  62  68  72
Curtailment loss  -  -  1  1  1  -  -  -  -
Settlement loss  20  17  16  3  4  -  -  -  -

 Total expense $ 204 $ 153 $ 125 $ 69 $ 74 $ 54 $ 62 $ 68 $ 72
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Pension Plan Assets
Investment policies and strategies are developed on a country specific basis. The 
United States plans, representing 68% of worldwide pension assets, and the United 
Kingdom plans representing 26% of worldwide pension assets, are invested primar-
ily for growth, as the majority of the assets are in open plans with active participants 
and ongoing accruals. In general, the plans have their primary allocation to diversi-
fied, global equities, primarily through index funds in the form of common collective 
trusts. The United States plans' target allocation is 39% United States equities, 30% 
non-United States equities, 4% real estate (primarily equity of real estate invest-
ment trusts) and 27% debt securities and other, including cash equivalents. The 
United Kingdom plans' target asset allocations are 62% equities and the remainder 
in debt securities. The equity risk for the plans is managed through broad geographic 
diversification and diversification across industries and levels of market capitaliza-
tion. The majority of debt allocations for these plans are longer duration government 
(including inflation protected securities) and corporate debt. The United States pen-
sion plans are authorized to use derivatives to achieve more economically desired 
market exposures and to use futures, swaps and options to gain or hedge exposures. 

Other Postretirement Benefits Plan Assets
The VEBA trust which holds U.S. other postretirement benefits plan assets has 
investment guidelines that include allocations to global equities and fixed income 
investments. The trust's target investment allocation is 50% diversified global 
equities and 50% fixed income securities. The fixed income securities are primarily 
comprised of intermediate term, high quality, dollar denominated, fixed income 
instruments. The equity allocation is invested in a diversified global equity index 
fund in the form of a collective trust.

Fair Value Measurements
Financial instruments included in pension and other postretirement benefits plan 
assets are categorized into a fair value hierarchy of three levels, based on the 
degree of subjectivity inherent in the valuation methodology as follows:

Level 1 –  Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets in active markets. 
Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, and inputs that are   
 observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly, for substantially   
 the full term of the financial instrument. 
Level 3 –  Unobservable prices or inputs.

Pension Plans
A summary of the fair value of pension plan assets at December 31, 2012 and 2011, follows:

  Quoted prices 
  in active markets Other
  for identical observable Unobservable
  assets inputs inputs
 Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

2012
Common collective trusts          
 non-United States equity and 
  global equities   $ 1,313 $ - $ 1,313 $ -
 United States equity    978  -   978  -
 Fixed income    538  -   538  -
 Long duration funds    61  -   61  -
 Exchange traded funds    43  -   43  -
Fixed income securities    331  -   331  -
United States treasuries    143  143   -  -
Real estate    124  119   -  5
Equity securities    104  104   -  -
Cash equivalents    140  7   133  -
Registered investment companies   40  40   -  -
Other      40  3   1  36

 Total pension plan assets   $ 3,855 $ 416 $3,398  $ 41

2011
Common collective trusts          
 non-United States equity and 
  global equities   $ 925 $ - $ 925 $ -
 United States equity    642  -  642  -
 Fixed income    263  -  263  -
 Long duration funds    107  -  107  -
Fixed income securities    296  -  296  -
United States treasuries    120  120  -  -
Real estate    82  82   -  -
Equity securities    79  79   -  -
Cash equivalents    67  9  58  -
Registered investment companies   35  35   -  -
Other      37  2  -  35

 Total pension plan assets   $ 2,653 $ 327 $ 2,291 $ 35

Other Postretirement Benefits Plans 
A summary of the fair value of other postretirement benefits plan assets at Decem-
ber 31, 2012 and 2011, follows:
  Quoted prices 
  in active markets Other
  for identical observable Unobservable
  assets inputs inputs
 Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

2012
Common collective trusts          
 Global equities   $ 75 $ - $ 75 $ -
Fixed income securities    67  -   67  -
Cash equivalents    5  5   -  -

 Total other postretirement benefits  
  plan assets   $ 147 $ 5 $ 142 $ -

2011
Common collective trusts          
 Global equities   $ 52 $ - $ 52 $ -
Fixed income securities    50  -   50  -
Cash equivalents    54  54   -  -

 Total other postretirement benefits  
  plan assets   $ 156 $ 54 $ 102 $ -

Valuation Methodologies
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for pension and other 
postretirement benefits plan assets measured at fair value. There have been no 
changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

• Common collective trusts – Valued at the net unit value of units held by the trust at 
year end. The unit value is determined by the total value of fund assets divided by 
the total number of units of the fund owned. The equity investments in collective 
trusts are predominantly in index funds for which the underlying securities are 
actively traded in public markets based upon readily measurable prices.  

• Fixed income securities – These securities consist of publicly traded United 
States and non-United States fixed interest obligations (principally corporate and 
government bonds and debentures). The fair value of corporate and government 
debt securities is determined through third-party pricing models that consider 
various assumptions, including time value, yield curves, credit ratings and current 
market prices. The Company verifies the results of trustees or custodians and 
evaluates the pricing classification of these securities by performing analyses 
using other third-party sources. 

• United States treasuries – Valued at the closing price of each security.

• Real estate and equity securities – These securities consist of direct invest-
ments in the stock of publicly traded companies. Such investments are valued 
based on the closing price reported in an active market on which the individual 
securities are traded. As such, the direct investments are classified as Level 1. 

• Cash equivalents – Primarily certificates of deposit, commercial paper and 
repurchase agreements. 

• Registered investment companies – Valued at the closing price of the exchange 
traded fund's shares.

• Other – Primarily insurance contracts for international plans and also futures 
contracts and over-the-counter options. These investments are valued based 
on the closing prices of future contracts or indices as available on the Bloom-
berg or similar service, and private equity investments. 

For additional information regarding fair value measurements, see note 11.

Defined Contribution Plans
The Company has various defined contribution benefit plans, primarily consisting of 
the Eaton Savings Plan in the United States. The total contributions related to these 
plans are charged to expense and were as follows:
       

2012   $ 74
2011    65
2010    33
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Following the acquisition of Cooper, the Cooper Retirement Savings and Stock Own-
ership Plan Trust, which had been a Cooper shareholder, purchased 3.2 million newly 
issued ordinary shares of Eaton for an aggregate purchase price of $166 on Decem-
ber 5, 2012, using the cash portion of the acquisition proceeds it received for its Coo-
per shares. The purchase price was $51.26 per share, which was the approximate 
closing per share price of Eaton shares on the new York Stock Exchange on Decem-
ber 4, 2012. There were no underwriting discounts or commissions in connection 
with the purchase. The transaction was completed pursuant to an exemption found 
under Section 4(2) of The Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies 
Legal Contingencies
Eaton is subject to a broad range of claims, administrative and legal proceedings 
such as lawsuits that relate to contractual allegations, tax audits, patent infringe-
ment, personal injuries (including asbestos claims), antitrust matters and employ-
ment-related matters. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the 
outcome or cost of these matters, the Company believes they will not have a mate-
rial effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, a Brazilian court held that a judgment obtained by a Brazilian 
company, Raysul, against another Brazilian company, Saturnia, which was sold by 
Eaton in 2006, could be enforced against Eaton Ltda. This judgment is based on an 
alleged violation of an agency agreement between Raysul and Saturnia. At Decem-
ber 31, 2012, the Company has a total accrual of 79 Brazilian Reais related to this 
matter ($39 based on current exchange rates), comprised of 60 Brazilian Reais rec-
ognized in the fourth quarter of 2010 ($30 based on current exchange rates) with an 
additional 19 Brazilian Reais recognized through December 31, 2012 ($9 based on 
current exchange rates) due to subsequent accruals for interest and inflation. The 
Company expects that any sum it may be required to pay in connection with this mat-
ter will not exceed the amount of the recorded liability. In 2010, Eaton filed motions 
for clarification with the Brazilian court of appeals which were denied on April 6, 
2011. Eaton Holding and Eaton Ltda. filed appeals on various issues to the Superior 
Court of Justice in Brasilia. All appeals have been accepted by the Superior Court of 
Justice and will be heard in due course.

On October 5, 2006, ZF Meritor LLC and Meritor Transmission Corporation (collec-
tively, Meritor) filed an action against Eaton in the United States District Court for 
Delaware. The action sought damages, which would be trebled under United States 
antitrust laws, as well as injunctive relief and costs. The suit alleged that Eaton 
engaged in anti-competitive conduct against Meritor in the sale of heavy-duty truck 
transmissions in north America. Following a four week trial on liability only, on Octo-
ber 8, 2009, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Meritor. Eaton firmly believes that 
it competes fairly and honestly for business in the marketplace, and that at no time 
did it act in an anti-competitive manner. During an earlier stage in the case, the judge 
concluded that damage estimates contained in a report filed by Meritor were not 
based on reliable data and the report was specifically excluded from the case. On 
november 3, 2009, Eaton filed a motion for judgment as a matter of law and to set 
aside the verdict. That motion was denied on March 10, 2011. On March 14, 2011, 
Eaton filed a motion for entry of final judgment of liability, zero damages and no 
injunctive relief. That motion was denied on June 9, 2011. On August 19, 2011, the 
Court entered final judgment of liability but awarded zero damages to plaintiffs. The 
Court also entered an injunction prohibiting Eaton from offering rebates or other 
incentives based on purchasing targets but stayed the injunction pending appeal. 
Eaton appealed the liability finding and the injunction to the Third Circuit Court of 
Appeals. Meritor cross-appealed the finding of zero damages. On September 28, 
2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's denial of Eaton's motion for 
judgment as a matter of law, and let stand the jury verdict in favor of Meritor. The 
Third Circuit also ruled that the plaintiffs' damages report was properly excluded, but 
reversed the judgment of zero damages and ordered that the District Court must 
allow plaintiffs a limited opportunity to amend the damages report, which may be 
re-considered for reliability and admissibility. Injunctive relief also was vacated. An 
estimate of any potential loss related to this action cannot be made at this time.

Environmental Contingencies
Eaton has established policies to ensure that its operations are conducted in keeping 
with good corporate citizenship and with a positive commitment to the protection of 
the natural and workplace environments. The Company's manufacturing facilities 
are required to be certified to ISO 14001, an international standard for environmental 
management systems. The Company routinely reviews EHS performance at each of 
its facilities and continuously strives to improve pollution prevention.

Eaton is involved in remedial response and voluntary environmental remediation at a 
number of sites, including certain of its currently-owned or formerly-owned plants. The 
Company has also been named a potentially responsible party under the United States 
federal Superfund law at a number of disposal sites. The Company became involved in 
these sites through the Company's voluntary decision, in connection with business 
acquisitions, or as a result of government action. At the end of 2012, the Company was 
involved with a total of 142 sites worldwide, including the Superfund sites mentioned 
above, with none of these sites being individually significant to the Company.

Remediation activities, generally involving soil and/or groundwater contamination, 
include pre-cleanup activities such as fact finding and investigation, risk assessment, 
feasibility study, design and action planning, performance (where actions may range 
from monitoring, to removal of contaminants, to installation of longer-term remedia-
tion systems), and operation and maintenance of a remediation system. The extent of 
expected remediation activities and costs varies by site. A number of factors affect 
the cost of environmental remediation, including the number of parties involved at a 
particular site, the determination of the extent of contamination, the length of time 
the remediation may require, the complexity of environmental regulations, and the 
continuing advancement of remediation technology. Taking these factors into 
account, Eaton has estimated the costs of remediation, which will be paid over a 
period of years. The Company accrues an amount on an undiscounted basis, consis-
tent with the estimates of these costs when it is probable that a liability has been 
incurred. Actual results may differ from these estimates. At December 31, 2012 and 
2011, the Company had an accrual totaling $125 and $62, respectively, for these costs.

Based upon Eaton's analysis and subject to the difficulty in estimating these future 
costs, the Company expects that any sum it may be required to pay in connection 
with environmental matters is not reasonably possible to exceed the recorded liabil-
ity by an amount that would have a material effect on its financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows.

Warranty Accruals
A summary of the current and long-term warranty accruals follows: 

      2012 2011 2010

Balance at January 1   $ 158 $ 153 $ 147
 Provision    85  98  99
 Settled     (84)  (94)  (91)
 Acquisitions and other    21  1  (2)

Balance at December 31   $ 180 $ 158 $ 153

Lease Commitments
Eaton leases certain real properties and equipment. A summary of minimum rental 
commitments at December 31, 2012 under noncancelable operating leases, which 
expire at various dates and in most cases contain renewal options, for each of the 
next five years and thereafter in the aggregate, follow:
       

2013   $ 174
2014    137
2015    101
2016    73
2017    59
Thereafter  85

 Total noncancelable lease commitments $ 629

A summary of rental expense follows:
    

2012   $ 199
2011    194
2010    172

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note 8. Income Taxes
Income before income taxes and income tax expense are summarized below based 
on the geographic location of the operation to which such earnings and income 
taxes are attributable. Certain Eaton operations outside the United States are sub-
ject to both United States as well as non-United States income tax regulations. As 
a result, income before tax by location and the components of income tax expense 
by taxing jurisdiction are not directly related. For purposes of this note, non-United 
States operations include Puerto Rico.

 Income before income taxes

      2012 2011 2010

United States   $ 138 $ 375 $ 114
non-United States    1,113  1,178  922

 Total income before income taxes   $ 1,251 $ 1,553 $ 1,036

 Income tax expense (benefit)

      2012 2011 2010

Current
 United States
  Federal   $ 1 $ 85 $ (2)
  State and local    5  2  1
 non-United States    130  186  107

  Total current income tax expense    136  273  106

Deferred
 United States
  Federal    39  (2)  95
  State and local    2  8  (15)
 non-United States    (146)  (78)  (87)

  Total deferred income tax benefit    (105)  (72)  (7)

   Total income tax expense    $ 31 $ 201 $ 99

Reconciliations of income taxes from the United States federal statutory rate of 
35% to the consolidated effective income tax rate follow:    

      2012 2011 2010

Income taxes at the United States federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

United States operations
 State and local income taxes 0.6% 0.2% (0.1)%
 Deductible dividends (0.7)% (0.5)% (0.6)%
 Deductible interest (0.8)% (0.5)% (0.8)% 
 Credit for research activities - (1.0)% (1.4)%
 Impact of Health Care Reform and Education  
  Reconciliation Act and pre-funding on taxation 
  associated with Medicare Part D - (0.9)% 2.2%
 Other-net 2.7% 0.5% 1.4%

non-United States operations
 United States foreign tax credit (12.4)% (2.3)% (6.4)%
 non-United States operations (earnings taxed at other
  than the United States tax rate) (14.9)% (15.5)% (13.9)%

Worldwide operations
 Adjustments to tax liabilities (5.7)% (0.8)% (1.2)%
 Adjustments to valuation allowances (1.3)% (1.3)% (4.7)%

  Effective income tax expense rate 2.5% 12.9% 9.5%

During 2012, income tax expense of $31 was recognized (an effective tax rate of 
2.5%) compared to $201 for 2011 (an effective tax rate of 12.9%) and $99 for 2010 (an 
effective tax rate of 9.5%). The lower effective tax rate for 2012, compared to 2011, 
was primarily attributable to realization of a significant international tax benefit 
from actions taken after the acquisition of Cooper, enhanced foreign tax credit utili-
zation, lower tax provisions in several international locations associated with 
restructuring actions, and greater levels of income in lower tax jurisdictions. 

On January 2, 2013, the President of the United States signed the American Taxpayer 
Relief Act of 2012 (the Act) into law. The Act extended certain tax benefits retroactively 
to January 1, 2012. The extension of the credit for research activities and the non-U.S. 
source income look-through rules will provide tax benefits of approximately $20 related 
to 2012 which are required to be recognized in the first quarter of 2013. 

With limited exceptions, no provision has been made for income taxes on undistributed 
earnings of non-United States subsidiaries of approximately $8 billion at December 31, 
2012, since it is the Company's intention to indefinitely reinvest undistributed earnings 
of its non-United States subsidiaries. It is not practicable to estimate the additional 
income taxes and applicable withholding taxes that would be payable on the remit-
tance of such undistributed earnings.

The Company's largest growth areas that require capital are in developing markets. 
The cash that is permanently reinvested is typically used to expand operations either 
organically or through acquisitions in such developing markets as well as other 
mature markets where the Company targets increased market share. The Company's 
United States operations normally generate cash flow sufficient to satisfy United 
States operating requirements. Dividends paid during 2012 from non-United States 
affiliates to the United States parent were not significant.

Worldwide income tax payments follow:
     

2012   $ 254
2011    191
2010    141

Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities
Components of current and long-term deferred income taxes follow:  

      2012  2011 
  Current Long-term Current Long-term 
  assets and assets and assets and assets and 
  liabilities liabilities liabilities liabilities

Accruals and other adjustments
 Employee benefits     $ 92 $ 852 $ 114 $ 778
 Depreciation and amortization     (100)  (2,356)  (2)  (498)
 Other accruals and adjustments     476  290  293  77
Other items      -  145  -  (4)
United States federal income tax
 loss carryforwards      -  6  -  7
United States federal income tax
 credit carryforwards      -  156  -  251
United States state and local tax loss
 carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards   -  71  -  65
non-United States tax loss carryforwards   -  1,591  -  417
non-United States income tax
 credit carryforwards      -  67  -  95
Valuation allowance for income tax loss 
 and income tax credit carryforwards   (61)  (1,521)  - (441)
Other valuation allowances      (7)  (71)  (7)  (55)

  Total deferred income taxes    $ 400 $ (770) $ 398 $ 692

At December 31, 2012, deferred tax liabilities of $49 are included within Other  
current liabilities. 

At the end of 2012, United States federal income tax loss carryforwards and income 
tax credit carryforwards were available to reduce future United States federal income 
tax liabilities. These carryforwards and their expiration dates are summarized below:

    2013 2018 2023 2028 not  
    through through through through subject to Valuation 
    2017 2022 2027 2032 expiration allowance

United States federal income 
 tax loss carryforwards $ - $ - $ 15 $ 2 $ - $ -
United States federal deferred  
 income tax assets for income 
 tax loss carryforwards   -  -  5  1  -  (5)
United States federal income 
 tax credit carryforwards  -  51  -  68  37  (17)
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United States state and local tax loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards 
with a future tax benefit are also available at the end of 2012. These carryforwards 
and their expiration dates are summarized below:

    2013 2018 2023 2028 not  
    through through through through subject to Valuation 
    2017 2022 2027 2032 expiration allowance

United States state and local 
 deferred income tax assets 
 for income tax carryforwards 
 - net of federal tax effect $ 6 $ 12 $ 15 $ 7 $ - $ (16) 
United States state and local 
 income tax credit  
 carryforwards - net of 
 federal tax effect  7  10  6  4  4  (15)

At December 31, 2012, certain non-United States subsidiaries had tax loss carryfor-
wards and income tax credit carryforwards that are available to offset future taxable 
income. These carryforwards and their expiration dates are summarized below:

    2013 2018 2023 2028 not  
    through through through through subject to Valuation 
    2017 2022 2027 2032 expiration allowance

non-United States income tax  
 loss carryforwards $ 348 $ 148 $ 32 $ 27 $6,982 $ -
non-United States deferred 
 income tax assets for income 
 tax loss carryforwards  92  38  9  8  1,444  (1,509)
non-United States income tax  
 credit carryforwards  47  14  1  -  5  (7)

Recoverability of Deferred Income Tax Assets
Eaton is subject to the income tax laws in the jurisdictions in which it operates. In 
order to determine its income tax provision for financial statement purposes, Eaton 
must make significant estimates and judgments about its business operations in 
these jurisdictions. These estimates and judgments are also used in determining the 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities that have been recognized for differences 
between the financial statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities, and 
income tax loss carryforwards and income tax credit carryforwards.

Management evaluates the realizability of deferred income tax assets for each of the 
jurisdictions in which it operates. If the Company experiences cumulative pretax 
income in a particular jurisdiction in the three-year period including the current and 
prior two years, management normally concludes that the deferred income tax assets 
will more likely than not be realizable and no valuation allowance is recognized, 
unless known or planned operating developments would lead management to con-
clude otherwise. However, if the Company experiences cumulative pretax losses in a 
particular jurisdiction in the three-year period including the current and prior two 
years, management then considers a series of factors in the determination of 
whether the deferred income tax assets can be realized. These factors include histor-
ical operating results, known or planned operating developments, the period of time 
over which certain temporary differences will reverse, consideration of the utilization 
of certain deferred income tax liabilities, tax law carryback capability in the particular 
country, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, and estimates of future earn-
ings and taxable income using the same assumptions as the Company's goodwill and 
other impairment testing. After evaluation of these factors, if the deferred income 
tax assets are expected to be realized within the tax carryforward period allowed for 
that specific country, management would conclude that no valuation allowance 
would be required. To the extent that the deferred income tax assets exceed the 
amount that is expected to be realized within the tax carryforward period for a partic-
ular jurisdiction, management would establish a valuation allowance.

Applying the above methodology, valuation allowances have been established for 
certain United States federal, state and local income, as well as certain non-United 
States, deferred income tax assets to the extent they are not expected to be realized 
within the particular tax carryforward period.

Unrecognized Income Tax Benefits
Eaton's historical policy has been to enter into tax planning strategies only if it is 
more likely than not that the benefit would be sustained upon audit. For example, the 
Company does not enter into any of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Listed Trans-
actions as set forth in Treasury Regulation 1.6011-4.

A summary of gross unrecognized income tax benefits follows: 

      2012 2011 2010

Balance at January 1   $ 236 $ 224 $ 197
 Increases and decreases as a result of positions 
 taken during prior years
  Transfers to valuation allowances     -   -   (2)
  Other increases     1   3   7
  Other decreases, including currency translation    -   (14)   (31)
 Balances related to acquired businesses     13   2   34
 Increases as a result of positions taken during the 
  current year     36   31   23
 Decreases relating to settlements with tax authorities   -   (2)   -
 Decreases as a result of a lapse of the applicable  
  statute of limitations     (6)   (8)   (4)

Balance at December 31   $ 280 $ 236 $ 224

If all unrecognized tax benefits were recognized, the net impact on the provision for 
income tax expense would be $224.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, Eaton had accrued approximately $34 and $29, 
respectively, for the payment of worldwide interest and penalties. Eaton recognizes 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits in the provision for 
income tax expense. The Company has accrued penalties in jurisdictions where they 
are automatically applied to any deficiency, regardless of the merit of the position.

The resolution of the majority of Eaton's unrecognized income tax benefits is depen-
dent upon uncontrollable factors such as law changes; the prospect of retroactive 
regulations; new case law; the willingness of the income tax authority to settle the 
issue, including the timing thereof; and other factors. Therefore, for the majority of 
unrecognized income tax benefits, it is not reasonably possible to estimate the 
increase or decrease in the next 12 months. For each of the unrecognized income tax 
benefits where it is possible to estimate the increase or decrease in the balance 
within the next 12 months, the Company does not anticipate any significant change.

Eaton or its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the United States and jurisdictions 
outside the United States. The IRS has completed their examination of Eaton Corpo-
ration and Includible Subsidiaries United States income tax returns for 2005 and 2006 
and has issued a Statutory notice of Deficiency (notice) as discussed below. The 
statute of limitations on these tax years remains open to the extent of the tax assess-
ment until the matter is resolved. During 2012, the IRS began their formal examina-
tion of the Eaton Corporation and Includible Subsidiaries United States income tax 
returns for 2007, 2008, and 2009. Eaton Corporation had previously agreed to extend 
the statute of limitations for the IRS to examine its United States income tax returns 
for 2007, 2008 and 2009 until December 31, 2013. The statute of limitations for tax 
year 2010 is open until September 15, 2014. The IRS examination of the Cooper Indus-
tries and Includible Subsidiaries United States income tax returns for 2009 and 2010 
was completed and settled during 2012 without significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements. The statute of limitations remains open for tax year 2009 and 
2010 until September 15, 2013 and September 15, 2014, respectively. During 2012, the 
IRS began their formal examination of the Cooper Industries and Includible Subsidiar-
ies United States income tax return for 2011. The statute of limitations for tax year 
2011 is open for examination until September 15, 2015.

Eaton is also under examination for the income tax filings in various state and non-
United States jurisdictions. With only a few exceptions, Eaton Corporation and 
Includible Subsidiaries are no longer subject to state and local income tax examina-
tions for years before 2008. State and local income tax returns will be reopened to 
the extent of United States federal income tax adjustments, if any, going back to 
2005 when those audit years are finalized. Some states will not limit their assess-
ment to the United States federal adjustments, and will require the opening of the 
entire tax year. In addition, with only a few exceptions, Cooper Industries and Includ-
ible Subsidiaries are no longer subject to United States state and local income tax 
examinations for years before 2008. With only a few exceptions, the non-United 
States subsidiaries of both Eaton and Cooper are no longer subject to examinations 
for years before 2007.

At the end of the fourth quarter of 2011, the IRS issued a notice for Eaton Corpora-
tion and Includible Subsidiaries 2005 and 2006 tax years. The notice proposes 
assessments of $75 in additional taxes plus $52 in penalties related primarily to 
transfer pricing adjustments for products manufactured in the Company's facilities 
in Puerto Rico and the Dominican Republic and sold to affiliated companies located 
in the U.S., net of agreed credits and deductions. The Company has set its transfer 
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prices for products sold between these affiliates at the same prices that the Com-
pany sells such products to third parties. The notice was issued despite the IRS hav-
ing previously recognized the validity of the Company's transfer pricing methodology 
by entering into two successive binding Advance Pricing Agreements (APAs) that 
approved and, in fact, required the application of the Company's transfer pricing 
methodology for the ten year period of 2001 through 2010. For the years 2001 
through 2004, the IRS had previously accepted the transfer pricing methodology 
related to these APAs after a comprehensive review conducted in two separate 
audit cycles. On December 16, 2011, immediately prior to the notice being issued, 
the IRS sent a letter to Eaton Corporation stating that it was canceling the APAs.

The Company firmly believes that the proposed assessments are without merit. The 
Company also believes that it was in full compliance with the terms of the two APAs 
and that the IRS's unilateral attempt to retroactively cancel these two binding con-
tracts is also without merit and represents a breach of the two contracts. On Febru-
ary 29, 2012, the Company filed a Petition with the U.S. Tax Court in which it 
asserted that the transfer pricing established in the two APA contracts meets the 
arms-length standard set by the U.S. income tax law, that the transfer pricing the 
Company has used is in full compliance with U.S. income tax laws, and accordingly, 
that the two APA contracts should be enforced in accordance with their terms. On 
June 11, 2012, the Company filed a motion for partial summary judgment with the 
U.S. Tax Court, asking the U.S. Tax Court to find that the APAs are binding contracts 
and that the IRS has the burden of proving that it is entitled to cancel the APAs. On 
October 22, 2012, a hearing on the partial summary judgment motion was held at 
the U.S. Tax Court. A decision on the motion is pending. The Company believes that 
the ultimate resolution of this matter will not have a material adverse impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.

During 2010, Eaton Corporation received a significant tax assessment in Brazil for the 
tax years 2005 through 2008 that relates to the amortization of certain goodwill gen-
erated from the acquisition of third party businesses and corporate reorganizations. 
In this jurisdiction, the Company had previously filed and received a favorable tax rul-
ing on the key aspects of the transaction not specifically covered by the plain meaning 
of the local tax statutes. The ruling request fully disclosed all steps of the transaction. 
The tax assessment is under review at the second of three administrative appeals 
levels. The first administrative appeal level made a 50% reduction in assessed penal-
ties. The Company disagrees with the assessment and intends to litigate the matter if 
it is not resolved at the administrative appeals levels. Multiple outside advisors have 
stated that Brazilian tax authorities are raising the issue for most clients with similar 
facts and that the matter is expected to require at least 10 years to resolve. At this 
time, management believes that final resolution of the assessment will not have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Note 9. Eaton Shareholders’ Equity
Eaton was incorporated under the laws of Ireland on May 10, 2012, and became the 
successor registrant to Eaton Corporation on november 30, 2012 in connection with 
the consummation of the acquisition of Cooper. Eaton Corporation shares were can-
celled and exchanged for Eaton Corporation plc shares on a one-for-one basis. All the 
remaining unsold shares of Eaton Corporation were deregistered. On December 3, 
2012, Eaton Corporation plc began trading on the new York stock exchange under 
the same symbol used by Eaton Corporation (“ETn”) prior to november 30, 2012. See 
note 2 for additional information about the acquisition of Cooper.

At December 31, 2012, there were 750 million Eaton ordinary shares authorized ($0.01 
par value per share), 470.7 million of which were issued and outstanding. Eaton's 
Memorandum and Articles of Association authorized 40 thousand deferred ordinary 
shares (¤1.00 par value per share) and 10 thousand preferred A shares ($1.00 par 
value per share), all of which were issued and outstanding at the end of 2012, and 10 
million serial preferred shares ($0.01 par value per share), none of which were out-
standing at the end of 2012. At December 31, 2011, there were 500 million Eaton Cor-
poration common shares authorized ($0.50 par value per share), 334.4 million of 
which were issued and outstanding at the end of 2011. At December 31, 2012, there 
were 20,570 holders of record of Eaton ordinary shares. Additionally, 27,852 current 
and former employees were shareholders through participation in the Eaton Savings 
Plan, Eaton Personal Investment Plan, Eaton Puerto Rico Retirement Savings Plan, 
and the Cooper Retirement Savings and Stock Ownership Plan.

Eaton Corporation had a common share repurchase program (2007 Program) that 
authorized the repurchase of 10 million common shares. In 2011, 8.3 million Eaton Cor-
poration common shares were repurchased under the 2007 Program in the open mar-
ket at a total cost of $343. On September 28, 2011, Eaton Corporation's Board of 
Directors approved a common share repurchase program (2011 Program) that 
replaced the 2007 Program and authorized the purchase of up to 20 million shares, 

not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $1.25 billion. In connection with the 
acquisition of Cooper, Eaton assumed Eaton Corporation's share repurchase program. 
The ordinary shares are expected to be repurchased over time, depending on market 
conditions, the market price of ordinary shares, capital levels and other consider-
ations. In 2012 and 2011, no ordinary or common shares were repurchased under the 
2011 Program. no common shares were repurchased in the open market in 2010.

Eaton has deferral plans that permit certain employees and directors to defer a por-
tion of their compensation. A trust contains $12 and $6 of ordinary shares and market-
able securities, as valued at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, to fund a 
portion of these liabilities. The marketable securities were included in Other assets 
and the ordinary shares were included in Shareholders' equity at historical cost.

On February 27, 2013, Eaton's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of 
$0.42 per ordinary share, payable on March 22, 2013, to shareholders of record at the 
close of business on March 11, 2013.

Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive loss consists primarily of net income, currency translation and 
related hedging instruments, changes in unrecognized costs of pension and other 
postretirement benefits, and changes in the effective portion of open derivative con-
tracts designated as cash flow hedges. The following table summarizes the pre-tax 
and after-tax amounts recognized in Comprehensive loss:

 2012 2011 2010

     Pre-tax After-tax  Pre-tax After-tax  Pre-tax After-tax

Currency translation and  
   related hedging instruments $ 118 $ 109 $ (252) $ (241) $ (78) $ (78)

Pensions and other  
   postretirement benefits  
 Prior service cost arising  
  during the year  (1)  (1)  (5)  (4)  (2)  (1)
 net loss arising during  
  the year  (386)  (262)  (648)  (417)  (182)  (123)
 Currency translation  (15)  (12)  5  4  5  5
 Other   (2)  15  -  (15)  (4)  3
 Amortization of prior  
  service cost reclassified  
  to earnings  170  108  122  79  87  54

     (234)  (152)  (526)  (353)  (96)  (62)

Cash flow hedges

 Gain (loss) on derivatives  
  designated as cash  
  flow hedges  10  10  (28)  (21)  8  6
 Changes in cash flow  
  hedges reclassified  
  to  earnings  7  7  -  (1)  (8)  (6)

  Cash flow hedges, net  
   of reclassification  
   adjustments  17  17  (28)  (22)  -  -

Other comprehensive loss  
 attributable to Eaton  
 ordinary shareholders $ (99) $ (26) $ (806) $ (616) $ (174) $ (140)

The changes in Accumulated other comprehensive loss attributable to Eaton ordi-
nary shareholders, net of tax, as reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets follow:

 Currency Pensions and  Accumulated
 translation and other  other
 related hedging postretirement Cash flow comprehensive
 instruments benefits hedges loss

January 1, 2010   $ (183) $ (1,032) $ 7 $ (1,208)
 Comprehensive income (loss)   (78)  (62)  -  (140)

December 31, 2010    (261)  (1,094)  7  (1,348)
 Comprehensive income (loss)   (241)  (353)  (22)  (616)

December 31, 2011    (502)  (1,447)  (15)  (1,964)
 Comprehensive income (loss)   109  (152)  17  (26)

December 31, 2012   $ (393) $ (1,599) $ 2  $ (1,990)
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Net Income per Ordinary Share
A summary of the calculation of net income per ordinary share attributable to  
ordinary shareholders follows:    

  2012 2011 2010
(Shares in millions) 

net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders $ 1,217 $ 1,350  $ 929

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares  
 outstanding-diluted      350.9   342.8  339.5
Less dilutive effect of equity-based compensation   3.1   4.5  4.0

 Weighted-average number of ordinary shares  
  outstanding-basic      347.8   338.3   335.5

net income per ordinary share     
 Diluted     $ 3.46  $ 3.93 $ 2.73
 Basic       3.54   3.98  2.76

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, 2.2 million, 1.5 million and 6.9 million stock options, respectively, 
were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per ordinary share because 
the exercise price of the options exceeded the average market price of the ordinary 
shares during the period and their effect, accordingly, would have been antidilutive.

Note 10. Equity-Based Compensation 
Exchange of Equity-Based Compensation
On november 30, 2012, in conjunction with the acquisition of Cooper, all Eaton Corpo-
ration equity-based compensation plans were assumed by Eaton, subject to the same 
terms and conditions except that reference to Eaton Corporation shares were changed 
to Eaton shares. Outstanding Eaton Corporation restricted share awards, other share-
based awards and stock options were converted into the right to receive an equivalent 
equity award from Eaton. Eaton equity awards are subject to the same number of 
shares, terms and conditions as applicable to the original respective Eaton Corpora-
tion awards. See note 2 for additional information related to the acquisition of Cooper.

Restricted Stock Units
Restricted stock units and awards (RSUs) have been issued to certain employees at 
fair market value at the date of grant. These awards entitle the holder to receive one 
ordinary share for each RSU upon vesting, generally over three or four years. A sum-
mary of the RSU activity for 2012 follows:
  Weighted- 
 number of average 
 restricted fair value 
 stock units per award

(Restricted stock units in millions) 

non-vested at January 1  4.8 $ 33.02
 Granted  1.5  49.41
 Vested  (2.7)  25.91
 Forfeited  (0.2)  40.41

non-vested at December 31  3.4 $ 42.47

Information related to RSUs follows:

     2012 2011 2010

Pretax expense for RSUs   $ 46 $ 50 $ 39
After-tax expense for RSUs    30  32  25

As of December 31, 2012, total compensation expense not yet recognized related to 
non-vested RSUs was $96, and the weighted-average period in which the expense is 
expected to be recognized is 2.2 years. Excess tax benefit for restricted stock units 
and other equity-based compensation totaled $18 for 2012.

Stock Options
Under various plans, stock options have been granted to certain employees and 
directors to purchase ordinary shares at prices equal to fair market value on the date 
of grant. Substantially all of these options vest ratably during the three-year period 
following the date of grant and expire 10 years  from the date of grant. Compensa-
tion expense is recognized for stock options based on the fair value of the options at 
the date of grant and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period the employee 
or director is required to provide service.

The Company uses a Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of 
stock options. The principal assumptions utilized in valuing stock options include the 
expected stock price volatility (based on the most recent historical period equal to 
the expected life of the option); the expected option life (an estimate based on his-
torical experience); the expected dividend yield; and the risk-free interest rate (an 
estimate based on the yield of United States Treasury zero coupon with a maturity 
equal to the expected life of the option). A summary of the assumptions used in 
determining the fair value of stock options follows:

    2012 2011 2010

Expected volatility  35%  33%  31%
Expected option life in years  5.5  5.5   5.5
Expected dividend yield  2.0%  2.0%   2.0%
Risk-free interest rate  1.0% to 0.9%  2.2% to 1.4%  2.4% to 1.3%
Weighted-average fair value of 
 stock options granted $ 14.08 $ 14.56  $ 8.98

A summary of stock option activity follows:
     Weighted-  
   Weighted-  average  
   average  remaining Aggregate 
   price per  contractual intrinsic 
   option Options life in years value

(Options in millions) 

Outstanding at January 1, 2012     $ 36.84  13.1
 Granted      51.77  0.8
 Exercised      31.34  (3.0)     
 Forfeited and canceled      51.21  (0.1)

Outstanding at December 31, 2012    $ 39.45  10.8  4.2 $ 158

Exercisable at December 31, 2012    $ 37.78  9.5  3.6 $ 155
Reserved for future grants at December 31, 2012     21.0    

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total excess of the 
$54.18 closing price of Eaton ordinary shares on the last trading day of 2012 over the 
exercise price of the stock option, multiplied by the related number of options out-
standing and exercisable. The aggregate intrinsic value is not recognized for finan-
cial accounting purposes and the value changes based on the daily changes in the 
fair market value of the Company's ordinary shares.

Information related to stock options follows:

     2012 2011 2010

Pretax expense for stock options   $ 7 $ 5 $ 11
After-tax expense for stock options    5  4  8
Proceeds from stock options exercised    95  71  157
Income tax benefit related to stock options exercised
 Tax benefit classified in operating activities in the 
     Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows    5  13  -
 Excess tax benefit classified in financing activities in 
   the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows   13  33  -
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised    60  62  98
Total fair value of stock options vesting   $ 7 $ 5 $ 11

Stock options exercised, in millions of options    3.099  2.541  6.096

As of December 31, 2012, total compensation expense not yet recognized related to 
non-vested stock options was $12, and the weighted-average period in which the 
expense is expected to be recognized is 1.8 years.
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Note 11. Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is measured based on an exit price, representing the amount that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to satisfy a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants. Fair value is a market-based measurement that should 
be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing 
an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, a fair value hierar-
chy is established, which categorizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as fol-
lows: (Level 1) observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; (Level 2) 
inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either 
directly or indirectly; and (Level 3) unobservable inputs in which there is little or no 
market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

A summary of financial instruments recognized at fair value, and the fair value  
measurements used, follows:
  Quoted prices in Other 
  active markets for observable Unobservable 
  identical assets inputs inputs 
 Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

2012
Cash     $ 577 $ 577 $ - $ -
Short-term investments    527  527  -  -
net derivative contracts    83  -  83  -
Long-term debt converted to floating 
 interest rates by interest rate swaps-net  87  -  87  -

2011
Cash     $ 385 $ 385 $ - $ -
Short-term investments    699  699  -  -
net derivative contracts    46  -  46  -
Long-term debt converted to floating 
 interest rates by interest rate swaps -net  66  -  66  -

Eaton values its financial instruments using an industry standard market approach, 
in which prices and other relevant information is generated by market transactions 
involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. no financial instruments were 
recognized using unobservable inputs.

Other Fair Value Measurements
Long-term debt and the current portion of long-term debt had a carrying value of 
$10,076 and fair value of $10,793 at December 31, 2012 compared to $3,687 and 
$4,273, respectively, at December 31, 2011. The fair value of Eaton's debt instru-
ments was estimated using prevailing market interest rates on debt with similar 
creditworthiness, terms and maturities.

Short-Term Investments
Eaton invests excess cash generated from operations in short-term marketable 
investments. For those investments classified as “available-for-sale”, Eaton marks 
these investments to fair value with the offset recognized in Accumulated other com-
prehensive loss. A summary of the carrying value of short-term investments follows:

       2012 2011

Time deposits, certificate of deposits and demand deposits with banks $ 293 $ 466
Money market investments    228  228
Other      6  5

 Total short-term investments   $ 527 $ 699

Note 12. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities 
In the normal course of business, Eaton is exposed to certain risks related to fluctua-
tions in interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. The Company 
uses various derivative and non-derivative financial instruments, primarily interest 
rate swaps, currency forward exchange contracts, currency swaps and, to a lesser 
extent, commodity contracts, to manage risks from these market fluctuations. The 
instruments used by Eaton are straightforward, non-leveraged instruments. The 
counterparties to these instruments are financial institutions with strong credit rat-
ings. Eaton maintains control over the size of positions entered into with any one 
counterparty and regularly monitors the credit rating of these institutions. Such 
instruments are not purchased and sold for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for at fair value and recognized as 
assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accounting for the gain or 
loss resulting from the change in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument 
depends on whether it has been designated, and is effective, as part of a hedging 
relationship and, if so, as to the nature of the hedging activity. Eaton formally docu-
ments all relationships between derivative financial instruments accounted for as 
designated hedges and the hedged item, as well as its risk-management objective 
and strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. This process includes linking 
derivative financial instruments to a recognized asset or liability, specific firm com-
mitment, forecasted transaction, or net investment in a foreign operation. These 
financial instruments can be designated as:

• Hedges of the change in the fair value of a recognized fixed-rate asset or liability, or 
the firm commitment to acquire such an asset or liability (a fair value hedge); for these 
hedges, the gain or loss from the derivative financial instrument, as well as the off-
setting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, are recog-
nized in income during the period of change in fair value.

• Hedges of the variable cash flows of a recognized variable-rate asset or liability, or the 
forecasted acquisition of such an asset or liability (a cash flow hedge); for these hedges, 
the effective portion of the gain or loss from the derivative financial instrument is rec-
ognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss and reclassified to income in the 
same period when the gain or loss on the hedged item is included in income.  

• Hedges of the currency exposure related to a net investment in a foreign operation  
(a net investment hedge); for these hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss 
from the derivative financial instrument is recognized in Accumulated other compre-
hensive loss and reclassified to income in the same period when the gain or loss 
related to the net investment in the foreign operation is included in income.  

The gain or loss from a derivative financial instrument designated as a hedge that is 
effective is classified in the same line of the Consolidated Statements of Income as the 
offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item. The change in fair value of a derivative finan-
cial instrument that is not effective as a hedge is immediately recognized in income.

For derivatives that are not designated as a hedge, any gain or loss is immediately rec-
ognized in income. The majority of derivatives used in this manner relate to risks result-
ing from assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and certain commodity 
contracts that arise in the normal course of business.

Eaton uses certain of its debt denominated in foreign currency to hedge portions of its 
net investments in foreign operations against foreign currency exposure (net invest-
ment hedges). Debt denominated in foreign currency and designated as non-derivative 
net investment hedging instruments was $116 and $129 at December 31, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. For additional information about debt, see note 5.

Interest Rate Risk 
Eaton has entered into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps and floating-to-fixed 
interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk of certain long-term debt. These 
interest rate swaps are accounted for as fair value hedges and cash flow hedges, 
respectively, of certain long-term debt. The maturity of the swap corresponds with 
the maturity of the debt instrument as noted in the table of long-term debt in note 5.

A summary of interest rate swaps outstanding at December 31, 2012, follows:

Fixed-to-Floating Interest Rate Swaps 

  Fixed Floating 
 notional interest rate interest rate Basis for contracted
 amount received paid floating interest rate paid

  $ 200 4.90% 2.67% 6 month LIBOR+2.15%
   100 5.95% 3.26% 6 month LIBOR+2.60%
   150 5.30% 4.47% 1 month LIBOR+4.26%
   415 5.60% 3.70% 6 month LIBOR+3.18%
   300 6.95% 5.38% 3 month LIBOR+5.07%
   25 8.875% 4.36% 6 month LIBOR+3.84%
   25 7.625% 3.12% 6 month LIBOR+2.48%
   50 7.65% 3.09% 6 month LIBOR+2.57%
   25 5.45% 0.88% 6 month LIBOR+0.28%

Floating-to-Fixed Interest Rate Swaps 

  Floating Fixed  
 notional interest rate interest rate Basis for contracted
 amount received paid floating interest rate received

  $ 300 0.31% 0.76% 3 month LIBOR
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss follow:

    2012  2011 
  Gain (loss) Gain (loss) Gain (loss) Gain (loss)  
  recognized in reclassified from recognized in reclassified from 
  Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated  
  other other other other  
  comprehensive comprehensive comprehensive comprehensive  
  loss  loss loss  loss 

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
 Floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps $ (3) $ (1) $ - $ -
 Currency exchange contracts  12  1  (10)  (6)
 Commodity contracts   1  (7)  (12)  6

Derivatives designated as net  
investment hedges       
 Cross currency swaps   -  -  1  -

  Total  $ 10 $ (7) $ (21) $ -

Gains and losses reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss to the 
Consolidated Statements of Income were recognized in Cost of products sold.

Amounts recognized in net income follow:   

 2012 2011

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges
 Fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps $ 21 $ 24
 Related long-term debt converted to floating interest 
  rates by interest rate swaps  (21)  (24)

    $ - $ -

Gains and losses described above were recognized in Interest expense-net.

Note 13. Accounts Receivable and Inventory
Accounts Receivable
Eaton performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers and maintains sufficient 
allowances for potential credit losses. The Company evaluates the collectability of its 
accounts receivable based on the length of time the receivable is past due and any 
anticipated future write-off based on historic experience. Accounts receivable bal-
ances are written off against an allowance for doubtful accounts after a final determi-
nation of uncollectability has been made. Accounts receivable are net of an allowance 
for doubtful accounts of $53 and $48 at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Inventory
Inventory is carried at lower of cost or market. Inventory in the United States is gener-
ally accounted for using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. Remaining United States 
and non-United States inventory is accounted for using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method. Cost components include raw materials, purchased components, direct labor, 
indirect labor, utilities, depreciation, inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiv-
ing costs, inspection costs, warehousing costs, and costs of the distribution network.

The components of inventory follow:

       2012 2011

Raw materials     $ 922 $ 706
Work-in-process      426   272
Finished goods      1,134   867

 Inventory at FIFO      2,482   1,845
Excess of FIFO over LIFO cost      (133)   (144)

 Total inventory     $ 2,349 $  1,701

Inventory at FIFO accounted for using the LIFO method was 43% and 42% at the end 
of 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Derivative Financial Statement Impacts 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets follows:

   Other Other Other Other   
  notional current long-term current long-term Type of  
  amount assets assets liabilities liabilities hedge Term

December 31, 2012
Derivatives designated as hedges
 Fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps  $ 1,290  $ 2 $ 85 $ - $ -  Fair value 6 months to 21 years
 Floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps   300   -  -  -  2  Cash flow 1 year
 Currency exchange contracts   451   9  -  4  -  Cash flow 12 to 36 months
 Commodity contracts   17   -  -  -  -  Cash flow 12 months

  Total     $ 11 $ 85 $ 4 $ 2  

Derivatives not designated as hedges
 Currency exchange contracts  $ 4,997  $ 23   $ 31     12 months
 Commodity contracts   19   1    -     12 months

  Total     $ 24   $ 31    

December 31, 2011
Derivatives designated as hedges
 Fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps  $ 940  $ - $ 68 $ - $ 2  Fair value 1 to 22 years
 Floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps   300   -  -  -  -  Cash flow 2 years
 Currency exchange contracts   308   4  -  9  -  Cash flow 12 to 36 months
 Commodity contracts   47   -  -  7  -  Cash flow 12 months

  Total     $ 4 $ 68 $ 16 $ 2  

Derivatives not designated as hedges
 Currency exchange contracts  $ 2,954  $ 18   $ 14     12 months
 Commodity contracts   57   -    12     12 months

  Total     $ 18   $ 26    

The currency exchange contracts shown in the table above as derivatives not designated as hedges are primarily contracts entered into to manage currency volatility or 
exposure on intercompany sales and loans. While Eaton does not elect hedge accounting treatment for these derivatives, Eaton targets managing 100% of the intercompany 
balance sheet exposure to minimize the effect of currency volatility related to the movement of goods and services in the normal course of its operations. This activity repre-
sents the great majority of these currency exchange contracts.
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Note 14. Business Segment and Geographic Region Information
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate 
financial information is available that is evaluated on a regular basis by the chief oper-
ating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources to 
an individual segment and in assessing performance. Eaton’s segments are as follows:

Electrical Americas and Electrical Rest of World
The Electrical segments are global leaders in electrical components and systems for 
power quality, distribution and control. Products include circuit breakers, switchgear, 
uninterruptible power systems, power distribution units, panelboards, loadcenters, 
motor controls, meters, sensors, relays and inverters. The principal markets for the 
Electrical Americas and Electrical Rest of World segments are industrial, institutional, 
governmental, utility, commercial, residential and information technology. These prod-
ucts are used wherever there is a demand for electrical power in commercial buildings, 
data centers, residences, apartment and office buildings, hospitals, factories and utili-
ties. The segments share several common global customers, but a large number of 
customers are located regionally. Sales are made directly to original equipment manu-
facturers and through distributors, resellers and manufacturers representatives.

Cooper
The Cooper segment manufactures, markets and sells electrical  products, including cir-
cuit protection, hazardous duty electrical equipment, intrinsically safe explosion-proof 
instrumentation, emergency lighting, fire detection and mass notification systems, 
security products, support systems, enclosures, specialty connectors, wiring devices, 
plugs, receptacles, switches, lighting fixtures and controls. The segment also manufac-
tures, markets and sells products for use by utilities and in industry for electrical power 
transmission and distribution, including distribution switchgear, transformers, trans-
former terminations and accessories, capacitors, voltage regulators, surge arresters, 
energy automation solutions and other related power systems components. The princi-
pal markets for the Cooper segment are industrial, institutional, governmental, utility, 
commercial, residential and information technology. These customers operate globally. 
Cooper's products are sold and serviced through a variety of channels. 

Hydraulics
The Hydraulics segment is a global leader in hydraulics components, systems and ser-
vices for industrial and mobile equipment. Eaton offers a wide range of power prod-
ucts including pumps, motors and hydraulic power units; a broad range of controls and 
sensing products including valves, cylinders and electronic controls; a full range of 
fluid conveyance products including industrial and hydraulic hose, fittings, and assem-
blies, thermoplastic hose and tubing, couplings, connectors, and assembly equipment; 
filtration systems solutions; heavy-duty drum and disc brakes; and golf grips. The prin-
cipal markets for the Hydraulics segment include oil and gas, renewable energy, 
marine, agriculture, construction, mining, forestry, utility, material handling, truck and 
bus, machine tools, molding, primary metals and power generation. Key manufactur-
ing customers in these markets and other customers are located globally. Products are 
sold and serviced through a variety of channels.

Aerospace
The Aerospace segment is a leading global supplier of aerospace fuel, hydraulics and 
pneumatic systems for commercial and military use. Products include hydraulic 
power generation systems for aerospace applications including pumps, motors, 
hydraulic power units, hose and fittings, electro-hydraulic pumps and power and 
load management systems; controls and sensing products including valves, cylin-
ders, electronic controls, electromechanical actuators, sensors, displays and panels, 
aircraft flap and slat systems and nose wheel steering systems; fluid conveyance 
products, including hose, thermoplastic tubing, fittings, adapters, couplings, sealing 
and ducting; and fuel systems including fuel pumps, sensors, valves, adapters and 
regulators. The principal markets for the Aerospace segment are manufacturers of 
commercial and military aircraft and related after-market customers. These manu-
facturers and other customers operate globally. Products are sold and serviced 
through a variety of channels.

Truck
The Truck segment is a leader in the design, manufacture and marketing of a com-
plete line of drivetrain and powertrain systems and components for performance, 
fuel economy and safety for commercial vehicles. Products include transmissions, 
clutches and hybrid power systems. The principal markets for the Truck segment 
are original equipment manufacturers and after-market customers of heavy-, 
medium-, and light-duty trucks and passenger cars. These manufacturers and other 
customers are located globally.

Automotive
The Automotive segment is a leading supplier of automotive drivetrain and pow-
ertrain systems for performance, fuel economy and safety including critical compo-
nents that reduce emissions and fuel consumption and improve stability, 
performance, fuel economy and safety of cars, light trucks and commercial vehicles. 
Products include superchargers, engine valves and valve actuation systems, cylin-
der heads, locking and limited slip differentials, transmission and engine controls, 
fuel vapor components, compressor control clutches for mobile refrigeration, fluid 
connectors and hoses for air conditioning and power steering, underhood plastic 
components, fluid conveyance products including, hose, thermoplastic tubing, fit-
tings, adapters, couplings and sealing products for the global automotive industry. 
The principal markets for the Automotive segment are original equipment manufac-
turers and aftermarket customers of light-duty trucks, SUVs, CUVs, and passenger 
cars. These manufacturers and other customers are located globally.

Other Information
no single customer represented greater than 10% of net sales in 2012, 2011 or 
2010, respectively.

The accounting policies of the business segments are generally the same as the 
policies described in note 1, except that inventory and related cost of products 
sold of the segments are accounted for using the FIFO method and operating profit 
only reflects the service cost component related to pensions and other postretire-
ment benefits. Intersegment sales and transfers are accounted for at the same 
prices as if the sales and transfers were made to third parties. These intersegment 
sales are eliminated in consolidation.

For purposes of business segment performance measurement, the Company does 
not allocate items that are of a non-operating nature or are of a corporate or func-
tional governance nature. Corporate expenses consist of transaction costs associ-
ated with the acquisition of certain businesses and corporate office expenses 
including compensation, benefits, occupancy, depreciation, and other administra-
tive costs. Identifiable assets of the business segments exclude goodwill, other 
intangible assets, and general corporate assets, which principally consist of cash, 
short-term investments, deferred income taxes, certain accounts receivable, cer-
tain property, plant and equipment, and certain other assets. See note 2 for addi-
tional information about business acquisitions.

Geographic Region Information
net sales are measured based on the geographic destination of sales. Long-lived 
assets consist of property, plant and equipment-net.

      2012 2011 2010

Net sales
United States   $ 7,789 $ 7,165 $ 6,166
Canada      918  815  666
Latin America    1,588  1,952  1,629
Europe      3,997  4,092  3,532
Asia Pacific     2,019  2,025  1,722

 Total     $ 16,311 $ 16,049 $ 13,715

Long-lived assets
United States   $ 2,038 $ 1,227 $ 1,102
Canada      32  27  25
Latin America    337  247  275
Europe      834  649  664
Asia Pacific     636  452  411

 Total     $ 3,877 $ 2,602 $ 2,477
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Business Segment Information   2012 2011 2010

Net sales
Electrical Americas   $ 4,517 $ 4,192 $ 3,675
Electrical Rest of World    2,731  2,984  2,748
Cooper     470  -  -
Hydraulics    2,960  2,835  2,212
Aerospace    1,719  1,648  1,536
Truck      2,309  2,644  1,997
Automotive    1,605  1,746  1,547

 Total net sales $ 16,311 $ 16,049 $ 13,715

Segment operating profit
Electrical Americas   $ 749 $ 605 $ 529
Electrical Rest of World    249  278  264
Cooper     66  -  -
Hydraulics    369  438  279
Aerospace    213  244  220
Truck      420  486  245
Automotive    150  209  163

 Total segment operating profit   2,216  2,260  1,700

Corporate
Amortization of intangible assets    (195)  (190)  (181)
Interest expense-net    (208)  (118)  (136)
Pension and other postretirement benefits expense    (162)  (142)  (120)
Inventory step-up adjustment    (42)  (5)  -
Other corporate expense-net    (358)  (252)  (227)

 Income before income taxes    1,251  1,553  1,036
Income tax expense      31  201  99

 net income    1,220  1,352  937 
Less net income for noncontrolling interests    (3)  (2)  (8)

 net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders $ 1,217 $ 1,350 $ 929

Business segment operating profit was reduced by acquisition integration charges as follows:
   2012 2011 2010

Electrical Americas   $ 7 $ 8 $ 2
Electrical Rest of World    8  2  33
Cooper     2  -  -
Hydraulics    16  4  1
Aerospace    -  -  4

 Total  $ 33 $ 14 $ 40

Corporate acquisition integration charges, primarily related to the acquisition of Cooper, totaled $11 in 2012 and are included above in Other corporate expense-net. Acquisi-
tion-related transaction costs, such as investment banking, legal and other professional fees, are included above in Interest expense-net and Other corporate expense-net. In 
2012, these charges totaled $178 and were related primarily to the acquisition of Cooper. There were no significant Corporate acquisition-related transaction costs in 2011 or 
2010. See note 3 for additional information about acquisition integration charges and transaction costs.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Business Segment Information   2012 2011 2010

Identifiable assets
Electrical Americas   $ 1,480 $ 1,364 $ 1,272
Electrical Rest of World    1,531  1,531  1,630
Cooper     2,867  -  -
Hydraulics    1,427  1,265  1,080
Aerospace    806  754  726
Truck      819  920  866
Automotive    879  863  904

 Total identifiable assets    9,809  6,697  6,478
Goodwill    14,396  5,537  5,454
Other intangible assets    6,779  2,192  2,272
Corporate    4,864  3,447  3,048

 Total assets $ 35,848 $ 17,873 $ 17,252

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment
Electrical Americas   $ 87 $ 65 $ 59
Electrical Rest of World    51  52  49
Cooper     17  -  -
Hydraulics    60  70  45
Aerospace    27  21  21
Truck      69  80  59
Automotive    79  92  61

 Total     390  380  294
Corporate    203  188  100

 Total expenditures for property, plant and equipment $ 593 $ 568 $ 394

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Electrical Americas   $ 54 $ 53 $ 55
Electrical Rest of World    55  58  56
Cooper     11  -  -
Hydraulics    61  54  52
Aerospace    26  26  25 
Truck      66  74  76 
Automotive    70  73  77

 Total     343  338  341
Corporate    38  29  28

 Total depreciation of property, plant and equipment $ 381 $ 367 $ 369
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Amounts are in millions of dollars or shares unless indicated otherwise (per share data 
assume dilution).

Company Overview
Eaton Corporation plc (Eaton or Company) was incorporated under the laws of Ireland 
on May 10, 2012, and became the successor registrant to Eaton Corporation on novem-
ber 30, 2012, in connection with the consummation of the acquisition of Cooper Indus-
tries plc (Cooper), which is further described below. Eaton is a diversified power 
management company providing energy-efficient solutions that help its customers 
effectively manage electrical, hydraulic and mechanical power. With 2012 net sales of 
$16.3 billion, the Company is a global technology leader in electrical products, systems 
and services for power quality, distribution and control, power transmission, lighting 
and wiring products; hydraulics components, systems and services for industrial and 
mobile equipment; aerospace fuel, hydraulics and pneumatic systems for commercial 
and military use; and truck and automotive drivetrain and powertrain systems for per-
formance, fuel economy and safety. Eaton has approximately 103,000 employees in 
over 50 countries and sells products to customers in 175 countries.

On november 30, 2012, Eaton Corporation acquired Cooper for a purchase price of 
$13,192. The total purchase price is comprised of cash totaling $6,543 and Eaton 
share consideration valued at $6,649. Cooper is a diversified global manufacturer of 
electrical products and systems, with brands including Bussmann electrical and 
electronic fuses; Crouse-Hinds and CEAG explosion-proof electrical equipment; Halo 
and Metalux lighting fixtures; and Kyle and McGraw-Edison power systems products. 
Cooper had annual sales of $5,409 for 2011. Eaton's Consolidated Financial State-
ments include Cooper's results of operations from november 30, 2012 through 
December 31, 2012. net sales and segment operating profit attributable to Cooper 
during this period and included in Eaton's Consolidated Financial Statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 total $470 and $66, respectively.

In addition to Cooper, Eaton acquired certain other businesses during 2012. The Con-
solidated Statements of Income include the results of these other businesses from 
the dates of the transactions or formation. For additional information related to 
acquisitions, and a complete list of business acquisitions and joint ventures, see 
note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Eaton’s operating segments are Electrical Americas, Electrical Rest of World, Coo-
per, Hydraulics, Aerospace, Truck and Automotive. These segments are components 
of the Company with separate financial information that is evaluated on a regular 
basis by the chief operating decision maker in determining how to allocate resources. 
The Cooper results of operations for the period subsequent to acquisition did not 
have a significant impact on Eaton's consolidated results of operations for 2012. 
Therefore, Cooper segment information is not presented in the Business Segment 
Results of Operations in this Management's Discussion and Analysis. 

During 2013, as a result of the reorganization of Eaton's businesses, Eaton's  
reportable segments will be Electrical Products and Electrical Systems and Ser-
vices (which will include legacy Eaton and Cooper electrical businesses), Hydrau-
lics, Aerospace and Vehicle (which will include truck and automotive drivetrain and 
powertrain systems businesses).

Summary of Results of Operations
During 2012, Eaton's markets grew more slowly than had been expected at the  
start of the year as a result largely of economic and political uncertainties in Europe, 
China and the United States. Due to the continued uncertainty about future growth, 
among other factors, the Company undertook certain restructuring activities in the 
fourth quarter of 2012 which resulted in charges totaling $50. Additional information 
related to restructuring activities is presented in note 3 of the notes to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.

For 2013, the Company expects growth of 2% to 3% in its end markets. See 2013 For-
ward-Looking Perspective for Eaton's forward-looking guidance in Management's 
Discussion and Analysis.

A summary of Eaton’s net sales, net income attributable to Eaton ordinary share-
holders, and net income per ordinary share-diluted follows:

 2012 2011 2010

net sales   $ 16,311 $ 16,049 $ 13,715
net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders   1,217  1,350 929
net income per ordinary share-diluted   $ 3.46 $ 3.93 $ 2.73

Results of Operations
The following discussion of Consolidated Financial Results and Business Segment 
Results of Operations includes certain non-GAAP financial measures. These financial 
measures include operating earnings, operating earnings per ordinary share, and oper-
ating profit before acquisition integration charges and transaction costs, each of which 
excludes amounts that differ from the most directly comparable measure calculated in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). A reconciliation 
of each of these financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP measure is 
included in the table below and in the discussion of the operating results of each busi-
ness segment. Management believes that these financial measures are useful to inves-
tors because they exclude transactions of an unusual nature, allowing investors to more 
easily compare Eaton’s financial performance period to period. Management uses this 
information in monitoring and evaluating the on-going performance of Eaton and each 
business segment. For additional information regarding acquisition integration charges 
and transaction costs, see note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Financial Results
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
      2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 16,311  2% $ 16,049  17% $ 13,715
Gross profit    4,863  2%  4,788  17%  4,082
 Percent of net sales    29.8%    29.8%   29.8%
Income before income taxes    1,251  (19)%  1,553  50%  1,036 
net income    1,220  (10)%  1,352  44%  937

 Less net income for  
  noncontrolling interests    (3)    (2)    (8)

net income attributable to  
 Eaton ordinary shareholders   1,217  (10)%  1,350  45%  929 
Excluding acquisition integration  
 charges and transaction costs  
 (after-tax)    167    10    27

  Operating earnings   $ 1,384  2% $ 1,360  42% $ 956

net income per ordinary  
 share - diluted   $ 3.46  (12)% $ 3.93  44% $ 2.73
Excluding per share impact of 
 acquisition integration  
 charges and transaction costs  
 (after-tax)    0.48    0.03    0.08

  Operating earnings per  
   ordinary share   $ 3.94  (1)% $ 3.96  41% $ 2.81

Net Sales 
net sales in 2012 increased by 2% compared to 2011 due to an increase of 5% from 
acquisitions of businesses, partially offset by a decrease of 3% from the impact of 
currency exchange. Core sales growth was flat in 2012 compared to 2011 due to flat 
market growth. net sales in 2011 increased by 17% compared to 2010 due to an 
increase of 13% in core sales, an increase of 2% from the positive impact of currency 
exchange, and an increase of 2% from acquisitions of businesses. Core sales growth 
was driven by increased demand in end markets in 2011 compared to 2010. 

Gross Profit
Gross profit increased by 2% in 2012 and by 17% in 2011 when compared to 2011 and 
2010, respectively. Gross profit grew in line with the higher sales volumes and cer-
tain changes to the Company's cost structure implemented in 2009 and 2010. Gross 
profit growth during 2012 was constrained by the flat core sales growth, as noted 
above. Eaton has maintained gross profit margins at 29.8% for all periods presented. 

Income Taxes 
The effective income tax rate for 2012 was 2.5% compared to 12.9% for 2011 and 
9.5% for 2010. The lower effective tax rate for 2012, compared to 2011, was primar-
ily attributable to realization of a significant international tax benefit from actions 
taken after the acquisition of Cooper, enhanced foreign tax credit utilization, lower 
tax provisions in several international locations associated with restructuring 
actions, and greater levels of income in lower tax jurisdictions. The higher effective 
tax rate for 2011 and 2010 was primarily attributable to greater levels of income in 
high tax jurisdictions, particularly in the United States and Brazil, due to continued 
improvements in market conditions. For additional information on income taxes, see 
note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
and Results of Operations
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Net Income 
net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders of $1,217 in 2012 decreased 
10% compared to net income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders of $1,350 in 
2011, and net income per ordinary share of $3.46 in 2012 decreased 12% from net 
income per ordinary share of $3.93 in 2011. The decrease was primarily due to transac-
tion costs incurred associated with the acquisition of Cooper and restructuring charges 
recognized in the fourth quarter of 2012 to address soft economic conditions and 
improve the efficiency of the Company's businesses. Partially offsetting these costs 
were certain favorable tax benefits and factors as noted above. net income attribut-
able to Eaton ordinary shareholders of $1,350 in 2011 increased 45% compared to net 
income attributable to Eaton ordinary shareholders of $929 in 2010 and net income per 
ordinary share of $3.93 in 2011 increased 44% over net income per ordinary share of 
$2.73 in 2010. The increases were primarily due to higher sales and the factors noted 
above that affected gross profit. For additional information related to transaction costs 
and restructuring charges, see note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Business Segment Results of Operations
The following is a discussion of net sales, operating profit and operating profit  
margin by business segment which includes a discussion of operating profit and 
operating profit margin before acquisition integration charges. For additional infor-
mation related to integration charges see note 3 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. For additional information related to acquired businesses see note 2  
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Electrical Americas 
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
     2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 4,517  8% $ 4,192  14% $ 3,675

Operating profit    749  24%  605  14%  529
Operating margin    16.6%   14.4%   14.4%

Acquisition integration charges  $ 7   $ 8   $ 2

Before acquisition integration charges
 Operating profit   $ 756  23% $ 613  15% $ 531
 Operating margin    16.7%   14.6%   14.4%

net sales increased 8% in 2012 compared to 2011 due to an increase of 7% in core 
sales and an increase of 2% from the acquisition of businesses, partially offset by a 
decrease of 1% from the impact of currency exchange. The increase in net sales in 2012 
was due to continued growth in markets served by the Electrical Americas segment, 
with particularly strong growth in residential and non-residential construction markets. 
net sales increased 14% in 2011 compared to 2010 due to an increase of 11% in core 
sales, an increase of 2% from the acquisition of businesses, and an increase of 1% from 
the favorable impact of currency exchange. The increase in net sales in 2011 was due to 
strong growth particularly in industrial controls and nonresidential electrical markets.  

Operating profit before acquisition integration charges in 2012 increased 23% com-
pared to 2011. Operating margin before acquisition integration charges increased 2.1 
percentage points from 14.6% in 2011 to 16.7% in 2012. The increase in operating mar-
gin in 2012 was primarily due to benefits from higher sales volumes, lower commodity 
costs, and commodity hedge contract losses in 2011 that did not repeat in 2012. Oper-
ating profit before acquisition integration charges in 2011 increased 15% compared to 
2010. Operating margin before acquisition integration charges increased 0.2 percent-
age points from 14.4% in 2010 to 14.6% in 2011. The increase in operating margin in 
2011 was largely due to higher net sales volumes as noted above, partially offset by 
higher raw materials and commodity costs, including losses associated with commod-
ity hedge contracts due to significant declines in metal prices in 2011. 

Electrical Rest of World
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
     2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 2,731  (8)% $ 2,984  9% $ 2,748

Operating profit    249  (10)%  278  5%  264
Operating margin    9.1%   9.3%   9.6%

Acquisition integration charges  $ 8   $ 2   $ 33

Before acquisition integration charges
 Operating profit   $ 257  (8)% $ 280  (6)% $ 297
 Operating margin    9.4%   9.4%   10.8%

net sales decreased 8% in 2012 compared to 2011 due to a decrease in core sales of  
5% and a decrease of 4% from the impact of currency exchange, partially offset by an 
increase of 1% from the acquisition of businesses. The decrease in net sales in 2012 
reflects lower sales volumes from the continued weakness in Europe and China. net 
sales increased 9% in 2011 compared to 2010 due to an increase of 6% from the favor-
able impact of currency exchange, an increase of 2% from the acquisition of businesses, 
and an increase in core sales of 1%. Sales growth in 2011 was negatively impacted by 
economic volatility in Europe and restrictions on credit availability in China. 

Operating profit before acquisition integration charges in 2012 decreased 8% com-
pared to 2011. Operating margin before acquisition integration charges remained flat 
at 9.4% in 2012 and 2011. The operating margin in 2012 was positively impacted by 
lower commodity costs, offset by lower sales volumes from the continued weakness 
in Europe and China, as described above, and restructuring activities taken during 
the fourth quarter of 2012 in response to this continued weakness. Operating profit 
before acquisition integration charges in 2011 decreased 6% compared to 2010. 
Operating margin before acquisition integration charges decreased 1.4 percentage 
points from 10.8% in 2010 to 9.4% in 2011. The decrease in operating margin in 2011 
was primarily due to a decline in the residential solar market, higher raw material 
and commodity costs, and losses associated with commodity hedge contracts due 
to significant declines in metal prices in 2011.

Hydraulics
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
     2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 2,960  4% $ 2,835  28% $ 2,212

Operating profit    369  (16)%  438  57%  279
Operating margin    12.5%   15.4%   12.6%

Acquisition integration charges  $ 16   $ 4   $ 1

Before acquisition integration charges
 Operating profit   $ 385  (13)% $ 442  58% $ 280
 Operating margin    13.0%   15.6%   12.7%

net sales in 2012 increased 4% compared to 2011 due to an increase of 9% from the 
acquisition of businesses, partially offset by a decrease in core sales of 3% and a 
decrease of 2% from the impact of currency exchange. Global hydraulics markets in 
2012 were negatively impacted by a slowdown in capital expenditures, particularly 
in the U.S. and China construction equipment industries, as economic uncertainties 
in both countries caused postponement of certain customer purchases. net sales in 
2011 increased 28% compared to 2010 due to higher core sales of 20%, an increase 
of 5% from the acquisition of businesses, and an increase of 3% from the favorable 
impact of currency exchange. The increase in core sales in 2011 was driven primarily 
by global hydraulics markets, which grew particularly rapidly in the United States.

Operating profit before acquisition integration charges in 2012 decreased 13% com-
pared to 2011. Operating margin before acquisition integration charges decreased 2.6 
percentage points from 15.6% in 2011 to 13.0% in 2012. The decrease in operating mar-
gin in 2012 was primarily due to lower sales volumes resulting from a decrease in core 
sales of 3%, as noted above, and restructuring actions taken during the fourth quarter of 
2012 in response to continued weakness in hydraulics markets, particularly in Europe. 
Operating profit before acquisition integration charges in 2011 increased 58% compared 
to 2010. Operating margin before acquisition integration charges increased 2.9 percent-
age points from 12.7% in 2010 to 15.6% in 2011. The change in operating margin in 2011 
was primarily due to the same respective factors impacting net sales, as noted above.

Aerospace 
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
     2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 1,719  4% $ 1,648  7% $ 1,536

Operating profit    213  (13)%  244  11%  220
Operating margin    12.4%   14.8%   14.3%

Acquisition integration charges  $ -   $ -   $ 4

Before acquisition integration charges
 Operating profit   $ 213  (13)% $ 244  9% $ 224
 Operating margin    12.4%   14.8%   14.6%
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net sales in 2012 increased 4% compared to 2011 due to an increase in core sales of 
5%, partially offset by a decrease of 1% from the impact of currency exchange. The 
increase in net sales in 2012 reflects continued strength in the commercial OEM mar-
ket, partially offset by decreased demand in the military OEM market. net sales in 
2011 increased 7% compared to 2010 due to higher core sales of 6% and an increase 
of 1% from the favorable impact of currency exchange. Growth in 2011 was primarily 
driven by higher customer demand in the commercial OEM and aftermarket.

Operating profit in 2012 decreased 13% compared to 2011. Operating margin 
decreased 2.4 percentage points from 14.8% in 2011 to 12.4% in 2012. The decrease in 
operating margin in 2012 was primarily due to a shift in product mix to a higher percent 
of lower-margin commercial OEM business and the impact of restructuring actions 
taken during the fourth quarter of 2012 to improve the efficiency of the business. Oper-
ating profit before acquisition integration charges in 2011 increased 9% compared to 
2010. Operating margin before acquisition integration charges increased 0.2 percent-
age points from 14.6% in 2010 to 14.8% in 2011. The increase in operating margin in 
2011 was primarily due to higher sales volumes and growth in the commercial markets 
noted above, partially offset by increased expenses stemming from changes in scope, 
program delays, and execution of new customer programs during the first half of 2011.

 Truck 
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
     2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 2,309  (13)% $ 2,644  32% $1,997

Operating profit    420  (14)%  486  98%  245
Operating margin    18.2%   18.4%   12.3%

net sales decreased 13% in 2012 compared to 2011 due to a decrease in core sales of 
7% and a decrease of 6% from the impact of currency exchange. The decrease in core 
sales in 2012 was primarily due to lower sales volumes in the nAFTA Class 8 market 
related to the uncertain economic outlook in the U.S., as well as lower sales in the Bra-
zil truck and bus markets. net sales increased 32% in 2011 compared to 2010 due to an 
increase in core sales of 29% and an increase of 3% from the favorable impact of cur-
rency exchange. The increase in core sales in 2011 reflects the rebound in global end 
markets from 2010 and, in particular, strong growth in the nAFTA Class 8 truck market.

Operating profit in 2012 decreased 14% compared to 2011. Operating margin was rel-
atively flat, decreasing only 0.2 percentage points from 18.4% in 2011 to 18.2% in 
2012. Operating margin in 2012 was impacted by the factors noted above and certain 
restructuring activities taken during the fourth quarter of 2012 in response to weaker 
markets. Operating profit in 2011 increased 98% compared to 2010. Operating mar-
gin increased 6.1 percentage points from 12.3% in 2010 to 18.4% in 2011. The 
increase in operating margin in 2011 was primarily due to higher sales volumes and 
the resulting manufacturing efficiencies.

Automotive 
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
     2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

net sales   $ 1,605  (8)% $ 1,746  13% $ 1,547

Operating profit    150  (28)%  209  28%  163
Operating margin    9.3%   12.0%   10.5%

net sales decreased 8% in 2012 compared to 2011 due to a decrease of 4% from the 
impact of currency exchange, a 3% decrease related to a business divestiture in 
2011, and a decrease in core sales of 1%. The decrease in core sales in 2012 is pri-
marily due to lower sales volumes from continued weakness in Europe. net sales 
increased 13% in 2011 compared to 2010 due to an increase in core sales of 12% and 
an increase of 2% from the favorable impact of currency exchange, offset by a 1% 
decrease related to a business divestiture. The increase in core sales in 2011 is due 
to the rebound in global automotive markets from 2010.

Operating profit in 2012 decreased 28% compared to 2011. Operating margin 
decreased 2.7 percentage points from 12.0% in 2011 to 9.3% in 2012. The decrease 
in operating margin in 2012 was primarily due to the continued sales weakness in 
Europe and the related restructuring actions taken during the fourth quarter of 2012. 
The Company also incurred additional start-up costs associated with a new facility in 
China in 2012. Operating profit in 2011 increased 28% compared to 2010. Operating 
margin increased 1.5 percentage points from 10.5% in 2010 to 12.0% in 2011. The 
increase in operating margin in 2011 was primarily due to higher sales volumes.

Corporate Expense 
      Change  Change  
      from  from 
      2012 2011 2011 2010 2010

Amortization of intangible assets  $ 195  3% $ 190  5% $ 181
Interest expense-net    208  76%  118  (13)%  136
Pension and other postretirement  
 benefits expense    162  14%  142  18%  120
Inventory step-up adjustment    42  nM  5  nM  -
Other corporate expense-net    358  42%  252  11%  227

 Total corporate expense   $ 965  36% $ 707  6% $ 664

Total Corporate expense increased 36% in 2012 to $965 from $707 in 2011 due to a 42% 
increase in Other corporate expense-net primarily related to transaction and other 
costs associated with the acquisition of Cooper, a 76% increase in Interest expense-net 
primarily related to financing activities associated with the acquisition of Cooper, and a 
14% increase in Pension and other postretirement benefits expense primarily related to 
changes in the discount rate. The inventory step-up adjustment of $42 in 2012 is related 
to purchase price accounting adjustments associated with the acquisition of Cooper. 
Total Corporate expense increased 6% in 2011 to $707 from $664 in 2010 due to an 18% 
increase in Pension and other postretirement benefits expense primarily related to 
changes in the discount rate and asset return assumptions, an 11% increase in Other 
corporate expense-net due to an adjustment to the LIFO reserve and higher general cor-
porate expense as Eaton continued to add resources to support its growth, and a 5% 
increase in Amortization of intangible assets resulting from acquisitions of businesses.

2013 Forward-Looking Perspective
As of early February, Eaton anticipates that its end markets for 2013 will grow 2% to 3%. 
Eaton anticipates that core sales in 2013 will grow by approximately $900 compared to 
2012. The incremental sales in 2013 from recent acquisitions of businesses are expected 
to total $6 billion. Overall, Eaton anticipates its net sales in 2013 will grow by 42% com-
pared to 2012. End market growth by segment in 2013 is expected to be as follows:

• Electrical Products: 3%

•  Electrical Systems and Services: 4% 

• Hydraulics: (4)%

•  Aerospace: 2%

• Vehicle: 2%

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Changes in Financial Condition
Financial Condition and Liquidity
Eaton’s objective is to finance its business through operating cash flow and an appro-
priate mix of equity and long-term and short-term debt. By diversifying its debt matu-
rity structure, Eaton reduces liquidity risk. The Company maintains access to the 
commercial paper markets through revolving credit facilities. During June 2012 the 
Company refinanced a $500, three-year revolving credit facility and a $500, five-year 
revolving credit facility with a $750, three-year revolving credit facility that expires in 
2015 and a $750, five-year revolving credit facility that expires in 2017, respectively. 
The Company also maintains a $500 revolving credit facility that expires in 2016. The 
2012 refinancings increased long-term revolving credit facilities to $2,000 from $1,500. 
These facilities support Eaton’s commercial paper borrowings. There were no borrow-
ings outstanding under these revolving credit facilities at December 31, 2012. Eaton's 
non-United States operations also had available short-term lines of credit of approxi-
mately $2,099 at December 31, 2012. Over the course of a year, cash, short-term invest-
ments and short-term debt may fluctuate in order to manage global liquidity. Eaton 
believes it has the operating flexibility, cash flow, cash and short-term investment bal-
ances, and access to capital markets in excess of the liquidity necessary to meet future 
operating needs of the business as well as scheduled payments of long-term debt.

During June 2012 the Company received proceeds totaling $600 from the private 
issuance of notes and during november 2012 Eaton received proceeds totaling 
$6,522 to finance the cash portion of the acquisition of Cooper. Financing activities 
related to acquiring Cooper were comprised of the issuance of senior notes totaling 
$4,900 and borrowing $1,669 on a $6.75 billion capacity bridge facility. At Decem-
ber 31, 2012, $669 remained outstanding on the bridge facility borrowing and on Feb-
ruary 1, 2013, Eaton repaid the outstanding balance. On november 30, 2012 and 
January 8, 2013, Eaton Corporation and Cooper, respectively, each issued guaran-
tees on all material outstanding debt of the other.

For additional information on financing transactions and debt, see note 5 to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements.
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Financing Cash Flow
net cash provided by financing activities was $5,480 in 2012, an increase of $5,861 
compared to a use of cash of $381 in 2011. Substantially all of the increase in 2012 was 
due to proceeds totaling $7,156 from the issuance of $4,900 senior notes, a $1,669 bor-
rowing on the $6.75 billion capacity bridge facility, and the private issuance of $600 
notes, which are more fully described above. Offsetting these increases were repay-
ments on the bridge facility totaling $1,000 and cash dividends paid totaling $512. 

net cash used in financing activities was $381 in 2011, an increase of $120 compared 
to a use of cash of $261 in 2010. The increase was primarily due to share repurchases 
of $343 in 2011 and an increase of $99 in cash dividends paid in 2011 to Eaton ordi-
nary shareholders, partially offset by proceeds received from a $300 debt issuance 
completed by Eaton during 2011. Higher cash dividends paid was due to an increase 
in the quarterly cash dividend paid per ordinary share from $1.08 to $1.36 per share, 
which was announced during the first quarter of 2011.

Net-Debt-to-Capital Ratio
The net-debt-to-capital ratio was 39.2% at December 31, 2012 compared to 26.5% at 
December 31, 2011. The increase reflected the combined effect during 2012 of the 
$7,060 increase in total debt and the $7,617 increase in Eaton shareholders' equity, 
all of which are primarily related to the acquisition of Cooper. 

Credit Ratings
Eaton's debt has been assigned the following credit ratings:

Credit Rating Agency (long- /short-term rating) Rating Outlook

Standard & Poor's  A-/A-2 negative outlook
Moody's    Baa1/P-2  negative outlook
Fitch     BBB+/F2  negative outlook

Defined Benefits Plans
Pension Plans
During 2012, the fair value of plan assets in the Company’s employee pension plans 
increased $1,202 to $3,855 at December 31, 2012. The increase in plan assets was pri-
marily due to better than expected return on assets, contributions in excess of benefit 
payments and the acquisition of Cooper. At December 31, 2012, the net unfunded posi-
tion of $1,968 in pension liabilities consisted of $1,016 in the U.S. qualified pension 
plans, $883 in plans that have no minimum funding requirements and $140 in all other 
plans that require minimum funding, partially offset by $71 in plans that are overfunded. 

Funding requirements are a major consideration in making contributions to Eaton’s 
pension plans. With respect to the Company’s pension plans worldwide, the Com-
pany intends to contribute annually not less than the minimum required by applicable 
law and regulations. In 2012, $413 was contributed to the pension plans. The Com-
pany contributed $176 to the U.S. Qualified Pension Plan in early 2013 and anticipates 
making an additional $127 of contributions to certain other pension plans during 2013. 
The funded status of the Company’s pension plans at the end of 2013, and future con-
tributions, will depend primarily on the actual return on assets during the year and the 
discount rate used to calculate certain benefits at the end of the year. Depending on 
these factors, and the resulting funded status of the pension plans, the level of future 
contributions could be materially higher or lower than in 2012. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
Eaton does not have off-balance sheet arrangements or financings with unconsoli-
dated entities or other persons. In the ordinary course of business, the Company 
leases certain real properties and equipment, as described in note 7 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted account-
ing principles (GAAP) in the United States requires management to make certain esti-
mates and assumptions that may involve the exercise of significant judgment. For any 
estimate or assumption used, there may be other reasonable estimates or assumptions 
that may have been used. However, based on facts and circumstances inherent in 
developing estimates and assumptions, management believes it is unlikely that apply-
ing other such estimates and assumptions would have caused materially different 
amounts to have been reported. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Sales of products are recognized when a sales agreement is in place, products have 
been shipped to unaffiliated customers and title has transferred in accordance with 
shipping terms, the selling price is fixed and determinable and collectability is reason-
ably assured, all significant related acts of performance have been completed, and no 

Eaton’s credit facilities and indentures governing certain long-term debt contain var-
ious covenants, the violation of which would limit or preclude the use of the credit 
facilities for future borrowings, or might accelerate the maturity of the related out-
standing borrowings covered by the indentures. At Eaton’s present credit rating 
level, the most restrictive financial covenant provides that the ratio of secured debt 
(or lease payments due under a sale and leaseback transaction) to adjusted consoli-
dated net worth (or consolidated net tangible assets, in each case as defined in the 
relevant credit agreement or indenture) may not exceed 10%. In each case, the ratio 
was substantially below the required threshold. In addition, Eaton is in compliance 
with each of its debt covenants for all periods presented. 

Undistributed Assets of Non-U.S. Subsidiaries
At December 31, 2012, approximately 84% of the Company's consolidated cash and 
short-term investments resided in non-U.S. locations. These funds are considered 
permanently reinvested to be used to expand operations either organically or 
through acquisitions outside the U.S. The largest growth areas that are expected to 
require capital are in developing markets. The Company's U.S. operations generate 
cash flow sufficient to satisfy U.S. operating requirements and service its debt. The 
Company does not intend to repatriate any significant amounts of cash to the U.S. in 
the foreseeable future.

Changes in Financial Position
During 2012, Eaton's net assets increased $7,617 to $15,086 at December 31, 2012 
from $7,469 at December 31, 2011 primarily due to the acquisition of Cooper which 
had a substantial impact on Eaton's Consolidated Balance Sheet. Increases in Good-
will, Other intangible assets and net property, plant and equipment totaling $8,859, 
$4,587 and $1,275, respectively, were the primary factors driving higher net assets 
in 2012. These increases were partially offset by higher obligations primarily associ-
ated with higher debt levels and deferred tax liabilities, both of which were also due 
to the acquisition of Cooper. Long-term debt levels increased $6,396 to $9,762 at 
December 31, 2012 from $3,366 at December 31, 2011 due to the financing activities 
noted above and long-term debt totaling $1,100 assumed by Eaton in the acquisition 
of Cooper. Additionally, deferred tax liabilities increased $1,582 to $2,024 at Decem-
ber 31, 2012 from $442 at December 31, 2011 primarily associated with the deferred 
tax impacts of purchase price accounting adjustments made to Cooper's opening 
balance sheet. For additional information related to the acquisition of Cooper, see 
note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Sources and Uses of Cash Flow
Operating Cash Flow
net cash provided by operating activities was $1,664 in 2012, an increase of $416 
compared to $1,248 in 2011. Operating cash flows in 2012 were primarily impacted 
by lower working capital requirements compared to 2011 and the absence of contri-
butions to other postretirement benefits plans totaling $154 that were made in 2011, 
partially offset by lower net income in 2012.

net cash provided by operating activities was $1,248 in 2011, a decrease of $34 com-
pared to $1,282 in 2010. Operating cash flows in 2011 were primarily impacted by 
higher net income in 2011, which was more than offset by increased contributions to 
defined benefits plans, particularly contributions of $154 to other postretirement 
benefits plans that were not contributed in 2010, and higher working capital require-
ments compared to 2010.

Investing Cash Flow
net cash used in investing activities was $6,972 in 2012, an increase of $6,172 com-
pared to $800 in 2011. The increase in 2012 was principally due to usage of $6,936 
related to the acquisitions of businesses, the largest of which was Cooper, partially 
offset by cash proceeds of $603 from the sale of short-term investments compared 
to sales of $103 in 2011. Capital expenditures were $593 in 2012 compared to $568 
in 2011. Eaton expects approximately $700 in capital expenditures in 2013. 

net cash used in investing activities decreased $212 to $800 in 2011 as compared to 
$1,012 in 2010. The decrease was principally due to cash proceeds of $103 from the 
sale of short-term investments compared to purchases of $392 in 2010, partially off-
set by higher capital expenditures in 2011, both of which were related to higher 
liquidity requirements as the Company returned to growth from the depressed levels 
of 2009. Investing cash flow usage included $325 related to the acquisitions of busi-
nesses, the largest of which were Internormen Technology Group, E. Begerow GmbH 
& Co. KG, and ACTOM Low Voltage. 

For additional information on business acquisitions see to note 2 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.
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other significant uncertainties exist. Shipping and handling costs billed to customers 
are included in net sales and the related costs in Cost of products sold. Although the 
majority of the sales agreements contain standard terms and conditions, there are 
also agreements that contain multiple elements or non-standard terms and conditions. 
As a result, judgment is required to determine the appropriate accounting, including 
whether the deliverables specified in these agreements should be treated as separate 
units of accounting for sales recognition purposes, and, if so, how the sales price 
should be allocated among the elements and when to recognize sales for each ele-
ment. For delivered elements, sales are recognized only when the delivered elements 
have standalone value, fair values of undelivered elements are known, there are no 
uncertainties regarding customer acceptance and there are no customer-negotiated 
refund or return rights affecting the sales recognized for delivered elements. Sales for 
service contracts are generally recognized as the services are provided. 

Eaton records reductions to revenue for customer and distributor incentives, primarily 
comprised of rebates, at the time of the initial sale. Rebates are estimated based on 
sales terms, historical experience, trend analysis and projected market conditions in the 
various markets served. The rebate programs offered vary across businesses due to the 
numerous markets Eaton serves, but the most common incentives relate to amounts 
paid or credited to customers for achieving defined volume levels or other objectives.

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets 
Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are evaluated annually for impairment 
as of July 1 using either a quantitative or qualitative analysis. The Company per-
forms a quantitative analysis using a discounted cash flow model and other valuation 
techniques, but may elect to perform a qualitative analysis. A qualitative analysis is 
performed by assessing certain trends and factors, including projected market out-
look and growth rates, forecasted and actual sales and operating profit margins, dis-
count rates, industry data and other relevant qualitative factors. These trends and 
factors are compared to, and based on, the assumptions used in the most recent 
quantitative assessment. Additionally, goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets 
are evaluated for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate there may 
be a possible permanent loss of value. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is equivalent to 
Eaton's operating segments, and based on the net assets for each segment, includ-
ing goodwill and intangible assets. Goodwill is assigned to each operating segment, 
as this represents the lowest level that constitutes a business and for which dis-
crete financial information is available and is the level which management regularly 
reviews the operating results. 

Goodwill impairment testing for 2012 and 2011 was performed by assessing certain 
qualitative trends and factors, as described above. These trends and factors were 
compared to, and based on, the assumptions used in the quantitative assessment 
performed in 2010. For 2012 and 2011, it is more likely than not that the fair value of 
Eaton's reporting units substantially exceeded the respective carrying amount.

Indefinite life intangible assets primarily consist of trademarks. The fair value of 
these assets are determined using a royalty relief methodology similar to that 
employed when the associated assets were acquired, but using updated estimates 
of future sales, cash flows and profitability. For 2012 and 2011, the fair value of indefi-
nite lived intangible assets substantially exceeded the respective carrying value.

For additional information about goodwill and other intangible assets, see note 4 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Long-lived assets, goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that may result in an 
impairment review include operations reporting losses, a significant adverse change 
in the use of an asset, the planned disposal or sale of the asset, a significant adverse 
change in the business climate or legal factors related to the asset, or a significant 
decrease in the estimated fair value of an asset. Upon indications of impairment, 
assets and liabilities are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash 
flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. The 
asset group would be considered impaired when the estimated future net undis-
counted cash flows generated by the asset group are less than its carrying value. In 
instances where the carrying amount of the asset group exceeded the undiscounted 
cash flows, the fair value of the asset group would be determined and an impairment 
loss would be recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value of the 
asset group exceeds its fair value. Determining asset groups and underlying cash 
flows requires the use of significant judgment. 

Recoverability of Deferred Income Tax Assets
Eaton is subject to the income tax laws in the jurisdictions in which it operates. In 
order to determine the income tax provision for financial statement purposes, Eaton 
must make significant estimates and judgments about its business operations in 
these jurisdictions. These estimates and judgments are also used in determining the 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities that have been recognized for differences 
between the financial statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities, and 
income tax loss carryforwards and income tax credit carryforwards. 

Management evaluates the realizability of deferred income tax assets for each juris-
diction in which it operates. If the Company experiences cumulative pretax income in a 
particular jurisdiction in a three-year period including the current and prior two years, 
management normally concludes that the deferred income tax assets will more likely 
than not be realizable and no valuation allowance is recognized, unless known or 
planned operating developments would lead management to conclude otherwise. 
However, if the Company experiences cumulative pretax losses in a particular jurisdic-
tion in a three-year period including the current and prior two years, management then 
considers a series of factors in the determination of whether the deferred income tax 
assets can be realized. These factors include historical operating results, known or 
planned operating developments, the period of time over which certain temporary dif-
ferences will reverse, consideration of the utilization of certain deferred income tax 
liabilities, tax law carryback capability in a particular country, prudent and feasible tax 
planning strategies, and estimates of future earnings and taxable income using the 
same assumptions as the Company’s goodwill and other impairment testing. After 
evaluation of these factors, if the deferred income tax assets are expected to be real-
ized within the tax carryforward period allowed for that specific country, management 
would conclude that no valuation allowance would be required. To the extent that the 
deferred income tax assets exceed the amount that is expected to be realized within 
the tax carryforward period for a particular jurisdiction, management would establish 
a valuation allowance. For additional information about income taxes, see note 8 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits Plans 
The measurement of liabilities related to pension plans and other postretirement 
benefits plans is based on several assumptions including interest rates, expected 
return on plan assets, rate of compensation increases, and health care cost trend 
rates. Actual plan asset performance will either reduce or increase losses included 
in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which ultimately affects net income. 

The discount rate for United States plans was determined by discounting the 
expected future benefit payments using a theoretical zero-coupon spot yield curve 
derived from a universe of high-quality bonds as of the measurement date and solv-
ing for the single rate that generated the same benefit obligation. Only corporate 
bonds with a rating of Aa or higher by either Moody’s Investor Services or Standard 
& Poors were included. Callable bonds and certain other non-comparable bonds 
were eliminated. Finally, a subset of bonds was selected by grouping the universe of 
bonds by duration and retaining 50% of the bonds that had the highest yields. 

The discount rates for non-United States plans were determined by region and are 
based on high quality long-term corporate and government bonds. Consideration has 
been given to the duration of the liabilities in each plan when selecting the bonds to 
be used in determining the discount rate. 

Key assumptions used to calculate pension and other postretirement benefits expense 
are adjusted at each year-end. A 1-percentage point change in the assumed rate of 
return on pension plan assets is estimated to have approximately a $38 effect on pen-
sion expense. Likewise, a 1-percentage point change in the discount rate is estimated 
to have approximately a $63 effect on pension expense. A 1-percentage point change 
in the assumed rate of return on other postretirement benefits assets is estimated to 
have approximately a $1 effect on other postretirement benefits expense. A 1-per-
centage point change in the discount rate is estimated to have approximately a $4 
effect on expense for other postretirement benefits plans. Additional information 
related to changes in key assumptions used to recognize expense for other postretire-
ment benefits plans is found in note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Environmental Contingencies
As a result of past operations, Eaton is involved in remedial response and voluntary 
environmental remediation at a number of sites, including certain of its currently-owned 
or formerly-owned plants. The Company has also been named a potentially responsible 
party under the United States federal Superfund law at a number of disposal sites. 

A number of factors affect the cost of environmental remediation, including the num-
ber of parties involved at a particular site, the determination of the extent of contam-
ination, the length of time the remediation may require, the complexity of 
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environmental regulations, and the continuing advancement of remediation technol-
ogy. Taking these factors into account, Eaton has estimated the costs of remediation, 
which will be incurred over a period of years. The Company accrues an amount on an 
undiscounted basis, consistent with the estimates of these costs, when it is proba-
ble that a liability has been incurred. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, $125 and $62 
was accrued for these costs. 

Based upon Eaton's analysis and subject to the difficulty in estimating these future 
costs, the Company expects that any sum it may be required to pay in connection 
with environmental matters is not reasonably possible to exceed the recorded liabil-
ity by an amount that would have a material effect on its financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows.

Market Risk Disclosure
On a regular basis, Eaton monitors third-party depository institutions that hold its 
cash and short-term investments, primarily for safety of principal and secondarily 
for maximizing yield on those funds. The Company diversifies its cash and short-
term investments among counterparties to minimize exposure to any one of these 
entities. Eaton also monitors the creditworthiness of its customers and suppliers to 
mitigate any adverse impact. 

Eaton uses derivative instruments to manage exposure to volatility in raw material 
costs, currency and interest rates on certain debt instruments. Derivative financial 
instruments used by the Company are straightforward and non-leveraged. The coun-
terparties to these instruments are financial institutions with strong credit ratings. 
Eaton maintains control over the size of positions entered into with any one counter-
party and regularly monitors the credit rating of these institutions. See note 12 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about hedges and 
derivative financial instruments. 

Eaton’s ability to access the commercial paper market, and the related cost of these 
borrowings, is based on the strength of its credit rating and overall market condi-
tions. The Company has not experienced any material limitations in its ability to 
access these sources of liquidity. At December 31, 2012, Eaton had $2,000 of long-
term revolving credit facilities with banks in support of its commercial paper pro-
gram. It has no direct borrowings outstanding under these credit facilities. Eaton’s 
non-United States operations also had available short-term lines of credit of approxi-
mately $2,099 at December 31, 2012. 

Interest rate risk can be measured by calculating the short-term earnings impact that 
would result from adverse changes in interest rates. This exposure results from 
short-term debt, which includes commercial paper at a floating interest rate, long-
term debt that has been swapped to floating rates, and money market investments 
that have not been swapped to fixed rates. Based upon the balances of investments 
and floating rate debt at year end 2012, a 100 basis-point increase in short-term inter-
est rates would have increased the Company’s net, pretax interest expense by $15. 

Eaton also measures interest rate risk by estimating the net amount by which the fair 
value of the Company’s financial liabilities would change as a result of movements in 
interest rates. Based on Eaton’s best estimate for a hypothetical, 100 basis point 
decrease in interest rates at December 31, 2012, the market value of the Company’s 
debt and interest rate swap portfolio, in aggregate, would increase by $779.

Currency risk is the risk of economic losses due to adverse changes in exchange rates. 
The Company mitigates currency risk by funding some investments in certain markets 
through local currency financings. non-United States dollar debt was $148 at Decem-
ber 31, 2012. To augment Eaton’s non-United States dollar debt portfolio, the Company 
also enters into forward exchange contracts and currency swaps from time to time to 
mitigate the risk of economic loss in its investments. At December 31, 2012, the aggre-
gate balance of such contracts was $599. Eaton also monitors exposure to transac-
tions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of each country in 
which the Company operates, and regularly enters into forward contracts to mitigate 
that exposure. In the aggregate, Eaton’s portfolio of forward contracts related to such 
transactions was not material to its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Contractual Obligations
A summary of contractual obligations as of December 31, 2012 follows: 

      2014 2016 
      to to After 
     2013 2015 2017 2017 Total

Long-term debt (1)   $ 314 $ 1,576 $ 1,812 $ 6,084 $ 9,786
Interest expense related to  
 long-term debt    371  683  607  2,653  4,314
Reduction of interest expense from  
 interest rate swap agreements  
 related to long-term debt    (34)  (54)  (35)  (69)  (192)
Operating leases    174  238  132  85  629
Purchase obligations    849  95  78  86  1,108
Other long-term obligations    309  12  13  74  408

 Total     $ 1,983 $ 2,550 $ 2,607 $ 8,913 $ 16,053

(1) Long-term debt excludes deferred gains and losses on derivatives related to debt, adjustments to 
fair market value, and premiums and discounts on long-term debentures. 

Interest expense related to long-term debt is based on the fixed interest rate, or 
other applicable interest rate, related to the debt instrument. The reduction of inter-
est expense due to interest rate swap agreements related to long-term debt is based 
on the difference in the fixed interest rate the Company receives from the swap, 
compared to the floating interest rate the Company pays on the swap. Purchase obli-
gations are entered into with various vendors in the normal course of business. 
These amounts include commitments for purchases of raw materials, outstanding 
non-cancelable purchase orders, releases under blanket purchase orders and com-
mitments under ongoing service arrangements. Other long-term obligations princi-
pally include anticipated contributions of $303 to pension plans in 2013 and $101 of 
deferred compensation earned under various plans for which the participants have 
elected to receive disbursement at a later date. 

The table above does not include future expected pension benefit payments or 
expected other postretirement benefits payments. Information related to the amounts 
of these future payments is described in note 6 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. The table above also excludes the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits, 
since the Company cannot predict with reasonable certainty the timing of cash settle-
ments with the respective taxing authorities. At December 31, 2012, the gross liability 
for unrecognized income tax benefits totaled $280 and interest and penalties were $34.

Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report to Shareholders contains forward-looking statements concerning 
Eaton's full year 2013 sales, the performance in 2013 of its worldwide end markets, and 
Eaton's 2013 growth in relation to end markets, among other matters. These state-
ments may discuss goals, intentions and expectations as to future trends, plans, events, 
results of operations or financial condition, or state other information relating to Eaton, 
based on current beliefs of management as well as assumptions made by, and informa-
tion currently available to, management. Forward-looking statements generally will be 
accompanied by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” 

“forecast,” “guidance,” “intend,” “may,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project” or 
other similar words, phrases or expressions. These statements should be used with 
caution and are subject to various risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside 
Eaton’s control. The following factors could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those in the forward-looking statements: unanticipated changes in the markets 
for the Company’s business segments; unanticipated downturns in business relation-
ships with customers or their purchases from us; the availability of credit to customers 
and suppliers; competitive pressures on sales and pricing; increases in the cost of 
material and other production costs, or unexpected costs that cannot be recouped in 
product pricing; the introduction of competing technologies; unexpected technical or 
marketing difficulties; unexpected claims, charges, litigation or dispute resolutions; 
strikes or other labor unrest; the impact of acquisitions and divestitures; unanticipated 
difficulties integrating acquisitions; new laws and governmental regulations; interest 
rate changes; tax rate changes or exposure to additional income tax liability; stock 
market and currency fluctuations; and unanticipated deterioration of economic and 
financial conditions in the United States and around the world. Eaton does not assume 
any obligation to update these forward-looking statements.
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Quarterly Data (unaudited)

  Quarter ended in 2012  Quarter ended in 2011

 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

(In millions except for per share data)

net sales $ 4,333 $ 3,950 $ 4,068 $ 3,960 $ 4,033 $ 4,123 $ 4,090 $ 3,803
Gross profit  1,201  1,203  1,253  1,206  1,216  1,223  1,228  1,121
 Percent of net sales  27.7%  30.5%  30.8%  30.5%  30.2%  29.7%  30.0%  29.5%
Income before income taxes  88  376  419  368  390  432  396  335
 net income $ 180 $ 347 $ 382 $ 311 $ 361 $ 367 $ 338 $ 286

Adjustment for net (income) loss for 
 noncontrolling interests  (1)  (2)  -   -  1   (2)  (2)  1 

net income attributable to Eaton 
 ordinary shareholders $ 179 $ 345 $ 382 $ 311 $ 362 $ 365 $ 336 $ 287

net income per ordinary share
 Diluted $ 0.46 $ 1.02 $ 1.12 $ 0.91 $ 1.07 $ 1.07 $ 0.97 $ 0.83
 Basic   0.47  1.02  1.13  0.93  1.08  1.07  0.99  0.84

Cash dividends declared per ordinary share $ - $ 0.76 $ 0.38 $ 0.38 $ 0.34 $ 0.34 $ 0.34 $ 0.34

Market price per ordinary share
 High  $ 54.75 $ 49.18 $ 50.29 $ 53.06 $ 47.44 $ 53.23 $ 56.42 $ 56.49
 Low   44.36  36.38  36.94  44.73  33.09  33.97  45.79  48.57

Earnings per share for the four quarters in a year may not equal full year earnings per share.

Significant non-recurring adjustments included in Income before income taxes are as follows:

 Quarter ended in 2012  Quarter ended in 2011

 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31 Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31

(In millions)

Acquisition integration charges $ 24 $ 8 $ 9 $ 3 $ 5 $ 4 $ 2 $ 3
Transaction costs  152  19  7  -  -  -  -  -
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Ten-Year Consolidated Financial Summary (unaudited)

  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

(In millions except for per share data)

Continuing operations
 net sales  $ 16,311 $ 16,049 $  13,715 $ 11,873 $ 15,376 $ 13,033 $ 12,232 $ 10,874 $ 9,547 $ 7,796
 Income before income taxes   1,251   1,553  1,036  303  1,140  1,055  979  969  756  475
 Income after income taxes $ 1,220 $ 1,352 $ 937 $ 385 $ 1,067 $ 973 $ 907 $ 788 $ 633 $ 368
Income from discontinued operations   -   -  -  -  3  35  53  22  22  30

 net income   1,220   1,352  937  385  1,070  1,008  960  810  655  398
Less net income for noncontrolling interests   (3)   (2)  (8)  (2)  (12)  (14)  (10)  (5)  (7)  (12)

 net income attributable to  
  Eaton ordinary shareholders  $ 1,217 $ 1,350 $ 929 $ 383 $ 1,058 $ 994 $ 950 $ 805 $ 648 $ 386

net income per ordinary share – diluted                    
  Continuing operations  $ 3.46 $ 3.93 $ 2.73 $ 1.14 $ 3.25 $ 3.19 $ 2.94 $ 2.54 $ 2.00 $ 1.18
 Discontinued operations   -   -  -  -  0.01  0.12  0.17  0.08  0.07  0.10

  Total   $ 3.46 $ 3.93 $ 2.73 $ 1.14 $ 3.26 $ 3.31 $ 3.11 $ 2.62 $ 2.07 $ 1.28

net income per ordinary share – basic 
  Continuing operations $ 3.54 $ 3.98 $ 2.76 $ 1.16 $ 3.29 $ 3.26 $ 2.99 $ 2.61 $ 2.05 $ 1.20 

Discontinued operations   -   -  -  -  0.01  0.12  0.17  0.07  0.07  0.11

  Total   $ 3.54 $ 3.98 $ 2.76 $ 1.16 $ 3.30 $ 3.38 $ 3.16 $ 2.68 $ 2.12 $ 1.31

Weighted-average number of ordinary  
shares outstanding 
 Diluted    350.9   342.8  339.5  335.8  324.6  300.6  305.8  308.0  314.2  301.0 
 Basic     347.8   338.3  335.5  332.7  320.4  294.6  300.4  300.4  306.2  295.8

Cash dividends declared per ordinary share $ 1.52  $ 1.36 $ 1.08 $ 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 0.86 $ 0.74 $ 0.62 $ 0.54 $ 0.46

Total assets   $ 35,848  $ 17,873 $ 17,252 $  16,282 $ 16,655 $ 13,430 $ 11,417 $ 10,218 $ 9,075 $ 8,223
Long-term debt   9,762   3,366  3,382  3,349  3,190  2,432  1,774  1,830  1,734  1,651
Total debt    10,833   3,773  3,458  3,467  4,271  3,417  2,586  2,464  1,773  1,953
Eaton shareholders’ equity    15,086   7,469  7,362  6,777  6,317  5,172  4,106  3,778  3,606  3,117
Eaton shareholders’ equity per ordinary share  $ 32.05 $ 22.34 $ 21.66 $ 20.39 $ 19.14 $ 17.71 $ 14.04 $ 12.72 $ 11.76 $ 10.19
Ordinary shares outstanding   470.7   334.4  339.9  332.3  330.0  292.0  292.6  297.0  306.6  306.0
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Directors and Leadership Team
As of March 1, 2013

Each of the non-employee directors serves a four-month term on the Executive Committee. Alexander M. Cutler serves a 12-month term as Committee Chair. 1 Audit Committee 
2 Compensation and Organization Committee 
3 Finance Committee 
4 Governance Committee 
5 Executive Committee 
* Denotes Committee Chair

January 1, 2012 through  
April 25, 2012
C. E. Golden
D. L. McCoy
G. L. Tooker

April 26, 2012 through  
August 31, 2012
G. S. Barrett
T. M. Bluedorn
M. J. Critelli

September 1, 2012 through 
December 31, 2012
C. M. Connor
A. E. Johnson
n. C. Lautenbach

January 1, 2013 through  
April 24, 2013
C. E. Golden
D. L. McCoy
G. R. Page

George S. Barrett 1, 3

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
Cardinal Health, Columbus, Ohio,  
a health care services company 

Todd M. Bluedorn 2, 4

Chief Executive Officer, Lennox 
International Inc., Richardson, Texas,  
a global provider of climate control  
solutions for heating, air conditioning  
and refrigeration markets

Christopher M. Connor 2*, 4

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,  
The Sherwin-Williams Company, 
Cleveland, Ohio, a global manufacturer  
of paint, architectural coatings, industrial 
finishes and associated supplies

Michael J. Critelli 1, 3

Chief Executive Officer and President, 
Dossia Services Corporation, San 
Francisco, California, a personal health 
management systems company

Alexander M. Cutler 5*

Chairman, Eaton Corporation plc, Dublin, 
Ireland, a diversified power management 
company

Charles E. Golden 1, 3*

Retired. Former Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer and Director,  
Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, Indiana, 
a pharmaceutical company

Linda A. Hill  2, 4

Professor of Business Administration, 
Harvard Business School, Cambridge, 
Massachusetts

Arthur E. Johnson 1, 4

Retired. Former Senior Vice President, 
Corporate Strategic Development, 
Lockheed Martin Corporation, Bethesda, 
Maryland, a manufacturer of advanced 
technology systems, products and services

Ned C. Lautenbach 2, 4*

Retired. Former Partner, Clayton, Dubilier  
& Rice Inc., new York, n.Y., a private  
equity investment firm specializing in  
management buyouts

Deborah L. McCoy 2, 3

Independent consultant. Former Senior 
Vice President, Flight Operations, 
Continental Airlines Inc., Houston, Texas,  
a commercial airline

Gregory R. Page 1*, 4

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,  
Cargill Incorporated, Minneapolis, 
Minnesota, an international marketer,  
processor and distributor of agricultural, 
food, financial and industrial products  
and services

Gerald B. Smith  1, 3

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,  
Smith Graham & Company, Houston, Texas, 
an investment advisory firm

Directors, Eaton Corporation plc 

Board Committees

Alexander M. Cutler
Chief Executive Officer and President

Craig Arnold
Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer, 
Industrial Sector    

Richard H. Fearon
Vice Chairman and Chief Financial and 
Planning Officer

Thomas S. Gross
Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer, 
Electrical Sector  

Revathi Advaithi
President – Americas Region, Electrical  

Frank Campbell
President – Europe, Middle East and Africa 
Region, Electrical  

Kenneth F. Davis
President – Vehicle Group 

Ivo Jurek
President – Asia Pacific Region, Electrical

William R. VanArsdale
President – Hydraulics Group

Uday Yadav
President – Aerospace Group

William W. Blausey Jr.
Senior Vice President and Chief Information 
Officer  

Steven M. Boccadoro
Senior Vice President – Sales and 
Marketing

Cynthia K. Brabander
Executive Vice President and Chief Human 
Resources Officer  

Donald H. Bullock
Senior Vice President – Investor Relations 

William B. Doggett
Senior Vice President – Public and 
Community Affairs

Curtis J. Hutchins
President – Asia Pacific Region, Eaton

Harold V. Jones
Senior Vice President – Environment, 
Health and Safety

Nanda Kumar
Executive Vice President – Eaton Business 
System

John J. Matejka
Senior Vice President – Internal Audit

Donald J. McGrath Jr.
Senior Vice President – Communications

Mark M. McGuire
Executive Vice President and General 
Counsel

Trent Meyerhoefer
Senior Vice President – Treasury

John S. Mitchell
Senior Vice President – Taxes

Eaton Global Leadership Team

Thomas E. Moran*

Senior Vice President and Secretary  

Barbara F. O’Dell
Senior Vice President – Corporate Quality

Pavan Pattada
Senior Vice President – Supply Chain 
Management

Ramanath Ramakrishnan
Executive Vice President and Chief 
Technology Officer

Billie K. Rawot
Senior Vice President and Controller

Deborah R. Severs
Senior Vice President – Global Ethics and 
Compliance

Yannis P. Tsavalas
President – Europe, Middle East and Africa 
Region, Eaton

*Officer of Eaton Corporation plc. Other leaders are officers of various Eaton affiliates.
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The company’s 2013 annual general meeting of shareholders will be held at 8 a.m. Greenwich Mean 
Time (8 a.m. in Ireland), on Wednesday, April 24, 2013, at the Westin Dublin, Westmoreland Street,  
Dublin 2, Ireland. Formal notice of the meeting, a proxy statement and proxy form will be mailed on or about 
March 15, 2013 to each shareholder of record as of February 25, 2013.

Eaton shareholders can register for electronic delivery of the Proxy Statement and Annual Report to 
Shareholders, as well as online proxy voting, at http://enroll.icsdelivery.com/etn.  

Any shareholder may obtain at no charge a copy of Eaton’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2012, as  
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon written request to the address shown above. 
The Annual Report on Form 10-K and other public financial reports also are available on Eaton’s website 
at www.eaton.com.

The most recent certifications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 were filed 
as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to Eaton’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2012. Additionally, Eaton submitted 
to the New York Stock Exchange its 2012 Chief Executive Officer Certification regarding Eaton’s  
compliance with the corporate governance listing standards of the Exchange.

Eaton’s financial results are available approximately three weeks after the end of each quarter.  
Releases are available on Eaton’s website at www.eaton.com. Copies may also be obtained by calling 
+1 440.523.4254.

Listed for trading: New York Stock Exchange (Ticker Symbol: ETN)

Eaton’s 2012 Annual Report to Shareholders is available online at www.eaton.com/annualreport.

Computershare Shareowner Services
First Class/Registered Mail: P.O. Box 43006, Providence, RI 02940-3006

Courier Packages: 250 Royall Street, Canton, MA  02021

Toll-free: +1 888.597.8625    +1 312.588.4141 (outside the U.S.)   
TDD: +1 800.952.9245 (hearing impaired inside the U.S.)  TDD: +1 781.575.4592 (hearing impaired outside 
the U.S.) Computershare may also be contacted via its website at www.computershare.com/investor.

A dividend reinvestment plan is available at no charge to shareholders of record of Eaton Ordinary 
Shares. Through the plan, shareholders of record may buy additional shares by reinvesting their 
cash dividends or investing additional cash up to $60,000 per year. Also, new investors may buy 
Eaton shares under this plan. Interested shareholders of record or new investors should contact 
Computershare, as shown above.

Shareholders of record may have their dividends directly deposited to their bank accounts. Interested 
shareholders of record should contact Computershare, as shown above.

A report of Eaton’s charitable contributions is available on Eaton’s website at www.eaton.com.

EATON, , COOPER,                     , EATON BUSINESS SYSTEM, HOLEC, POWERWARE, MOELLER, PHOENIXTEC, MCGRAW-EDISON, KYLE, HALO, POWER XPERT UX, ELEK, MEM, 
CUTLER-HAMMER, HAYFLOW, LIFESENSE, "GREENLEAF", MESH, ZERO INCIDENT SAFETY CULTURE, M POWER LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT, ULTRASHIFT PLUS, ELOCKER, B-LINE, 
BUSSMANN AND CROUSE-HINDS are trademarks and/or service marks of Eaton Corporation or one of its affiliates.

Trademarks and/or trade names used in this report other than those identified above as belonging to Eaton Corporation or one of its affiliates belong to their respective companies.
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